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About Calliditas

Calliditas Therapeutics is a bio-pharmaceutical company based in Stockholm,
Sweden focused on identifying, developing and commercializing novel treatments
in orphan indications, with an initial focus on renal and hepatic diseases with
significant unmet medical needs. Calliditas’ lead product candidate, Nefecon, is a
proprietary, nowvel oral formulation of budesonide, an established, highly potent
local immunosuppressant, for the treatment of the autoimmune renal disease IgA
nephropathy, or IgAN, for which there is a high unmet medical need and there are
no approved treatments. Calliditas has read out topline data from a global Phase 3
study within IgAMN and has filed an NDA with the FDA. If approved, Calliditas aims
to commercialize Nefecon in the United States on its own, whilst partnering ex-
US. Calliditas is also exploring several pipeline indications including PBC, AlH and
head and neck cancer.

Calliditas is listed on MNasdag Stockholm (ticker: CALTX) and the Nasdaq Global
Select Market (ticker: CALT).

Visit www.calliditas.com for further information.
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2020 IN BRIEF

Business
highlights

Significant events
after the reporting
period, in summary

Financial summary
for the Group

»

In April, Calliditas appointed Dr.
Richard Philipson as Chief Medical
Officer.

On June 5th, Calliditas completed an
initial public offering on The Nasdag
Glabal Select Market in the United
States for gross proceeds of approx-
imately USD 90 million, or approxi-
mately SEK B28 million [before deduc-
tion of issuance costs and exercise of
the green shoe.)

The Annual General Meeting was held
in June and the AGM, among other
things, resolved on the election of Molly
Henderson to the Board of Directors.

In January, Genkyotex read out positive
Phase 1 data, demonstrating a favor-
able safety and pharmacokinetic profile
of high-dose setanaxib.

On January 21st, Calliditas announced
full recruitment of all 340 patients

for the post-approval confirmatory
part of the global Phase 3 clinical trial
MeflgArd.

»

In August, Calliditas announced that it
had reached an agreement to acquire
a controlling interest in Genkyotex SA,
a leader in NOX inhibition therapies.
On Movember 3rd, Calliditas closed
this transaction, acquiring 62.7% of
Genkyotex.

On Movember Bth, Calliditas read out
positive topline results from the pivotal
Phase 3 MeflgArd trial.

In Movember, Calliditas submitted

a simplified public mandatory offer

to the shareholders of Genkyotex.

In December, by the end of the accep-
tance period, Calliditas controlled 86.2
percent of the shares in Genkyotex,

On March 15th, Calliditas announced
the submission of its regulatory file to
the FDA for accelerated approval of
Nefecon.

On April 23rd, Calliditas announced
that Nefecon has been granted
accelerated assessment procedure
by the European Medicine Agency's
(EMA) for the treatment of primary
lzg& Mephropathy (IgAaMN).

Met sales__[SEK in thousands]_

j Loss before income tax
(SEK in thousands)

874
(436,151)

184,829
(32,501)

(132,049)

(56,912)

(86,794)

Cash (SEK in thousands)
Total assets (SEK in thousands)

Equity ratio at the end of the year (36)

996,304 753,540
1,506,450 845,200

80% 93%

646,175
648,417
5%

57,352 24,241
62,288 27.298

53% Neg.

Average number of employees

23 14

10 10 9
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OUR VISION AND STRATEGY I

High competence in product development

Calliditas' vision

Calliditas' strategy

To leverage its interdisciplinary
expertise in pharmaceutical product
development to identify, develop
and market high value new medi-
cines in niche indications, in which
there is a significant unmet medical
need and where the company can
partially or completely drive and
participate in the commercialization
of the product.

To progress Mefecon through
Phase 3 clinical development and
towards regulatory approval and
subsequent commercialization.
Upon market approwval, Calliditas
intends to commercialize MNefecan
for lgA nephropathy {lzfaM) on a
standalone basis in the US market
and through partnerships in other
regions. Calliditas will also selec-
tively explore line extensions faor
Mefecan in other discases where
there is a strong scientific and
clinical rabionale and attractive

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annual Report 2020

As it has done with Nefecon,
Calliditas focuses on projects that
fulfil the criteria of addressing niche
indications while also having a time
and cost-effective path to market,
including through reformulaticon and
repurposing of existing compounds,
and/or those that address orphan
population needs.

cammercial opportunity, such
as in certain liver diseases.

Calliditas may also selectively
cansider leveraging the compa

ny's capabilifes through acquiring
additional product candidates with
a strong strategic and commercial
fit and with existing competences
and assets, such as our acquisition
of setanaxib, which we plan to
investigate further in Primary Biliary
Cholangitis (PBC) and oncalogy.




CEO STATEMENT

» 2020 has been a hugely exciting and
significant year, in which we have
as a company achieved some of our
most important milestones to date.«

The 200 patient trial met both the primary and key
secondary endpoint and demonstrated that Mefecon
was well-tolerated. The readout confirmed the results
seen in the Phase 2b trial, including GFR stabilizaton
in the treatment arm, reflecting a kidney protective
effect during treatment.

These types of large and complex programs are usually
conducted by pharma companies who are signifi
cantly larger and have access to vast resources, We
are therefore exceedingly proud that a small Swedish
company successfully managed to not only deliver this
data readout but also to do so on time and on budget.
The results were statistically significant and clinically
relevant: proteinuria showed a 31% reduction wersus
baseline, a stronger effect than what was seen in the
Phase 2b {27%), which is generally not the case when
moving from Phase 2 to Phase 3. In addition, eGFR
was stabilised in the treated patient population, which
in the end is the true treatment goal, to protect the
kidney from further deterioration.

‘Wie achieved this data readout despite the raging storm
af the COVID-1% pandemic all around us in 2020, The
well-established relationships with national co-ordi-
natars and our CRO, in combination with the skill and
dedication of our clinical team, were critical pieces

NeflgArd topline
readout crowns
a successful year.

On November 8, 2020, we announced positive
topline readout of our Phase 3 pivotal trial,
MNeflghrd. This global trial evaluated patients
across 19 countries from over 145 centres and
was fully recruited in a year, in line with our
original projections.

of this endeavour, but we are most grateful for the
commitment of all the patients and investigators who
ulbimately made this possible.

The Phase Z2b and Phase 3 trials with Nefecon are the
only randamized, double-blind placebo-cantralled trials
in lgA Mephropathy (IgAMN) which have met both the
primary and key secondary endpoint, as well as having
a potential disease modifying effect. This is extremely
exciting, and we are now well positioned to be the

first approved treatment for lgAh, providing hope for
patients that there will indeed be a medication awvail
able which haolds the promise of delaying the decline

of their kidney function and thereby hopefully helping
to keep them out of dialysis and transplantation. | am
immensely proud of every member of the Calliditas
team, who all rose te the occasion under challenging
circumstances and made possible the positive readout
of this robust trial. The post-approval confirmatory part
of the trial continues on a blinded basis and is fully
recruited with a total of 340 patients included. The trial
will report out the full data set in early 2023,

As of March 2021, we have filed our New Dirug Applica-
Hon for accelerated approval of Mefecon with the FDA,
We are looking forward to our further interactions with
regulators and expect to also file with the EMA on time
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in Q2. The submission to the FDA was a result af the
expertise, dedication, and tearmwork of everybody at
the comparny. The effort involved in compiling all of the
data and materials collected over yvears of clinical trials
and CMC development was an enarmous undertaking,
with tens of thousands of pages and thousands of docu-
ments needing to be diligently reviewed and perfected,
and we are excited to have reached this significant
milestone, Ve have requested priority review and
accelerated assessment from the respective agencies
and, should we be granted pricrity review by the FDA, it
would enable us to, subject to approval, start commer-
cialization in the US in Q4. 2021. A standard review
timeframe would result in a potenbal approval and LS
commercialization in Q1, 2022,

In June 2020, we successfully closed a $90m LS.

IPC on NASDAD. The roadshow was launched on
Monday June 1st and over a couple of days resulted in
a significantly over subscribed offering and an upsizing
of the transaction from $75m to $%0m, which, including
the greenshoe that was exercised, resulted in gross
proceeds of $97m, This successful and pioneering trans-
action, which was the first time a Swedish life science
company raised capital on NASDAD Global Select in an
IPQ, secured the funding we believe will be necessary
to fully complete our Phase 3 study and, if approved,
commercially launch Mefecon in the United States. The
LS. PO also gave us the added flexibility to pursue
additional development initiatives related either to our
existing pipeline or potential external additions,

In the fourth quarter of 2020, we concluded the
purchase of a cantrolling block in Genkyotex, This

is a company we had followed for quite a long time,
and where we found the clinical data intriguing and
their approach clearly differentiated. Even though
their Phase 2 trial in primary biliary cholangitis (PEC)
did not meet its prirmary endpoint, there was a clear
impact an fibrosis across various metrics and some
wvery interesting guality of life data. including a statis-
tically significant effect on fatigue, the most comman
symptam of patients suffering from PBC. As we know,
there are several reasons why earlier clinical trials fail
to meet their endpaoint; it is not ahways a question of
whether the drug is active or efficacious ar nat, but
may depend on the trial design, choice of endpoint

ar dosing levels. Genkyotex had positive interactions
with the FDA in 2020, which resulted in plans for an
adaptive pivatal Phase 2/3 design in PEC. In parallel,
there was a Phase 1 PK study carried out looking into
higher dosing, which read out positively in early 2021,
In additicn to the data in PBC, comprehensive and
compelling preclinical data indicate that setanaxib, the
lead compound, may have an impartant role to play
in oncalogy, more precisely in solid tumours where
today's immunotherapy has limited reach. Finally, we
can also see applications for setanaxib in the kidney
area, which we are continuing to explore.

We helieve that the MOX inhibitar platfarm offers
intrieuing cpportunities for further development in

the orphan space. On Novermnber 3, 2020, we hence
closed a transaction that resulted in Calliditas taking a
controlling stake in Genkyotex of 52.7% of the shares.
We subsequently launched a simplified mandatory
tender offer which closed on December 14, resulting
in a holding of 86.2%. Calliditas will continue to pursue
a strategy to expand ownership of Genkyolex during
2021. We are excited about taking on a pioneering role
in the NOX inhibitor space and are looking forward to
sharing future clinical results with you. The second half
of 2021 will see us start two late stage programs with
setanaxib, a Phase 2/3 pivotal trial with an adaptive
design in PBC and a Phase 2 proof of concept study

in head and neck cancer. We will also conduct at least
one earlier study in the kidhney area,

There is a fairly recent publication by the Biotechnalogy
innovation organization Amplion and Biomedtracker,
claiming to be the largest study of clinical drug develop
ment success rates to date. Covering 2004-2015, a total
of 9,985 clinical and regulatory phase transitions, from
7455 development programs across 1,103 companies,
were recorded and analyzed. By calculabing the number
of programs progressing to the next phase versus the
total number of progressing and suspended programs,
there was an assessment of the success rate at each of
the four phases of development: Phase |, 11, Il, and regu-
latory filing. It revealed that only 9.6% of drug develop
ment programs from start to finish successfully make it
to market. At Calliditas we are now at the very last stage
of this chain as we seek drug approval, which is clearky 2
wvery significant achievement and hugely exciting, more
so because this journey has truly been one of persever-
ance and a picneering spirit. We are looking forward to
2021 and the excitement of completing our regulatory
filings, as well as a potential approval in the S, which
would make it possible for us to start commercialisation
of Mefecan in the USin Q4 2021 and enable us to offer
the promise of the first ever approved medication for
leAM for patients with this disease.

In summary, 2020 has been a hugely exciting and
significant year, in which we hawve as a company
achieved some of our most impartant milestones ta
date. | look forward to continuing to grow and build

on the platform that we have created and expanded
on this year, and | hope that you will all join us an the
continued journey in 2021, which will see us explore
trials with setanaxib, interact with the FDA and EMA
and even potentially see Nefecon become an approwved
product by the end of the year.

Renée Aguiar-Lucander, CEO
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1GA NEPHROPATHY

Overview of the disease

IgA nephropathy (IgAN) - also known as Berger's disease - is the most common form of

glomerulonephritis, a chronic inflammatory condition of the kidney, in the Western world.

lgAM Disease Background

lgAM is a serious progressive autoimmune disease

af the kidney, in which up to 50% of patients end up
at risk of developing end-stage renal disease (ESRD)
within ten to twenty years, The standard of care for
ESRD is dialysis or kidney transplant, which represents
a significant health economic burden as well as a material
impact on patients’ guality of life.

lgAM is an orphan disease that we estimate affects
approximately 130,000 - 150,000 people in the US
and approximately 200,000 pecple in Eurcpe. A signifi
cantly higher prevalence of IgAM has been observed
in Asia, including in Greater China, where it has
historically been a leading cause of ESRD and where
we estimate that lgAM affects approximately two
million people,

J chain

TN

BONE MARROW

Hinge region of IgAl is
monomeric, heavily glycosylated

lgAN Pathophysiology

Although |gAMN manifests in the kidney, the evidence
indicates that it is a disease that starts in the distal
part of the intestine, specifically in the ileumn. Peyer's
patches, which are concentrated within the gut-
associated lymphoid tissue in the ileumn, have been
identified as a major source of mucosal-type lgAl
antibodies, lgAl antibodies play a key role in the
immune system, protecting the body from foreign
substances such as food-derived factors, bacteria and
wiruses, Patients with lgd nephropathy have elevated
lewels of mucosal-type lgA. and studies have shown
that the type of lgA that deposits in the glomeruli in
patients with lgAM is identical to the mucosal-type [gA
produced in the gut.

The majority of the lgh in the blood circulation is
manomeric, heavily O-galactosylated and is derived
fram bone-marrow-residing plasma cells. In contrast,
the mucosal-type lgh antibodies produced by the
Peyer's patches are predominately dimeric or polyreric
and are galactose deficient.

The structure of IgA antibodies varies depending on where they are produced
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Peyer's patches located

in the lleum (l.e. GALT) Secretion of high-levels of mucosal-type r‘ucrcs,a“‘w
dimeric/polymeric IgaAl into the circulation BA-
Formation of

pathogenic |z

TLR;!CUEM‘EUI‘I immune complexes

naive B cells 7

e l ZF
m'ls_tra['}"lrT into lzg-lc’
circulation BAFF*
Mucesal infection APRIL*
primes naive B cells Glycan-specific 1gG anti-
bodies®

Mucosal-type |ga1=57

Generation of

reactive IgG and
Mucesal-type IgA autoantibodies
lgA-1Ct
Mesangial accumulation of pathogenic |g& immune complexes deposited Aamplification of pathogenic
from the circulation and/or formed in situ in the glomerular mesangiom IgA immune comiplexes

In lg&M patients, a combination of 2 genetic predisposi- Treatment landscape for IgAN patients
tion and of enwvironmental, bacterial and dietary factars There are currently no approved treatment options

is presumed to lead to an increased production of for lgaM. Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes
these galactose-dehcient lgA antibodies. This increased 2012 (KDIGO) recommended the use of blood pressure
production, patentially in conjunction with increased loweering agents that inhibit or block the renin angio-
intestinal permeability, leads to these antbodies tensin system (RAS] using either angiotensin converting
appearing in the blood. enzyme inhibitors (ACEls) or angictensin receptor
blockers (ARBs). RAS blockade reduces the pressure
The galactose-deficient spot at the hinge region of in the kidney glomeruli, thereby reducing leakage and
the IgA antibodies is immunogenic when found in the protein excretion in urine. Treatment via RAS inhibition
circulation. It therefore generates an autoimmune is supportve only, and does not address the underlving
response, attracting autoantibodies in the form of 1gG cause of lgAl,
ar lg& and forming pathogenic immune complexes
that deposit in the glomeruli, the kidney's filtration Crver time, some physicians atternpt to control the
apparatus. The trapped immune complexes initiate an disease progression with a variety of off-label treat-
inflarnmatory response which damages the kidney and ments that include systemic immunosuppressive
ultimatehy destroys its fAltration mechanism. This leads agents, usually high doses of systemic corticosteroids.
to slow, progressive deterioration of renal function, Howeewer, ressarch has shown that the use of systemic
which in many patients ultimately results in the need steroids in this indication does not change the rate of
for diahysis or kidney transplant. decrease in estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR,

a measure of kidney function,) and in addition comes

at the cost of serious adwverse effects. There is there
fore a high unmet medical need for a treatment that
targets the disease origin and can also be well-tolerated
by lgAMN patients.
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e NEFECON

Overview of Calliditas’
lead product candidate

Mefecon is a proprietary, nowvel treatment for Igd
nephropathy that focuses on disease modiiication by
targeting the presumed corigin of the disease. Nefecon

is the most adwvanced product candidate globally and is
pasitioned to become the first approved drug for IgAN.
Calliditas submitted a2 New Drug Application (MDA to
LL5. Food and Drug Administration (FOA) for Mefecon on
March 15th 2021, and will file a Marketing Authaorisation
Application (MAA) with the European Medicines Agency
(EMA) In Q2 of 2021.

Mefecon is a patented, nowvel oral formulaton of
budesenide, an established and highly potent locally
acting immunosuppressant, designed to deliver a
targeted release directly to the Peyer's patches.
Mefecon's optimized dose and release profile is intended
to hawe a local effect and minimize systemic side effects.
The active ingredient has a very low biocavailability, with
around 0% of the budesonide being inactivated in

the liver before it reaches the systemic circulation. This
means that a high concentration of the active ingredient
can be applied locally with limited systermic exposure and
side effects. (An example of this type of mechanism in
clinical practice is Pulmicort, which successfully treats the
mucesa of the lungs.)

Enteric coat for
delayed release

Capsule

MNefecon utilizes a unigue two-step enteric technology,
which allows the drug to pass through the stomach and
intestine without being broken down or absorbed and
therefore to specifically target the location of the disease
origin. The enteric-coated capsules are designed not to
dissolwe until they reach the ileum, where chemical and
physical changes such as decreased acidity trigger the
disintegration of the capsules and the release of their
contents: beads triple coated with a variety of polymers
that contain the active ingredient,

These triple coated beads are designed to provide a
targeted, sustained dose of budesonide focused on

the Peyer's patches, locally suppressing mucosal-type
leA1 antibody production and thereby decreasing the
appearance of pathogenic immune complexes in the
blood. This disrupts and interrupts the very initiation of
the discase process related to IgAM. and hence holds
the promise of disease madification. Due to the high
first pass metabalism of budesonide in the liver, there is
minimum subsequent systemic exposure of the drug. In
this way, Mefecon combines maximum local efficiency
with minimized systemic side effects.

Triple coated beads
for sustained release

- NEFECOM active particle
Active coating
Seal coating

Polymer coating
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budesonide exposure

Time-targeted local

Peyer's patches
lacated within

the gut-associated
Iymphoid tissue

SEM image of the GALT

Mote: not actua! data

« Targeted local delivery of
budesonide

MNEFECON

« Q0% first-pass elimination

«  Advanced biopharmaceu-
tical technology to optimize
release

« Designed to halt disease
progression at the source

Where the highest concentration of
Peyer’s patches in the Gl tract are located

Biomarker analysis further validates Nefecon's ahility

to target the origin of this disease, demonstrating that
Mefecon reduces the level of 1Al galactose-dehcient
antibodies as well as circulating lgA immune complexes
in the systemic circulation. At the 15th International
Symposium on g Mephropathy (llgANM 2018) in
Buenos Aires, Professor Barratt from the Mayer lgh
Mephropathy Laboratories at the University of Leicester
published a poster demonstrating that Mefecon “Modi-
fies Circulating IgA-1gG Immune Complex Levels and
Levels of Poorly O-Galactosylated Ig&in lgAN" His
colleague at the Mayer Laboratory, Dr Karen Molymeus,
presented at the American Society of Mephrology (ASMN)
Digital Kidney Week 2020 and showed that Mefecon
had a demonstrated impact on circulabng pathogenic
biomarkers (BAFF, soluble BCMA, and TAC! in [zAN.
These biomarker data suppoart the pathophysiology of
the disease and substantiate Nefecon's targeted effect
an lgAa antibody formation and on the presence of lzd
immune complexes in the bloodstream. By targeting
the origin of the disease and preventing the formation
of immune complexes that would otherwise becorme
trapped in the glomeruli, Mefecon aims to have a
disease-maodifying effect and thereby preserve kidney
function and improve longer term outcomes.,

Mefecon has been granted orphan drug designation in
the United States and the European Union, which will
provide marketing exclusivity for seven and ten vears
subject to approval, respectively. In addition, Callid-

itas has an approved formulation patent in the major
geographic regions, We also believe that our precise
delivery of the drug to the target area constitutes a

soft barrier to entry that would require significant Hime,
focus and investment for a competitor to achieve, In
December 2019, Calliditas received a positive apinion
from EMA's Paediatric Committes on the Paediatric
Investigation Plan (PIP) for Nefecon for the treatment of
lgAM. If the PIP is successfully completed then Nefecon,
if approved, may be eligible for an additional two years of
marketing exclusivity in the EL, on top of the ten yvears
of market exclusivity provided by orphan drug designa
Hon in the EU at approval.
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s NEFECON IN CLINICAL TRIALS

Successful Readout

in Pivotal Phase 3 Trial NeflgArd

Phase 3 Study NeflgArd

In Movember 2020, Calliditas read out topline data
from the global pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial Meflgird.,
The trial met the primary objective of demonstrating

a statistically significant and clinically meaningful
reduction in proteinuria. It also met the key secondary
endpoint of showing a stabilisation of eGFR versus
placebo, reflecting a stabilization of kidney funchion in
the treatrment arm during the treatment period, versus
a continued decline in kidney function in the placebo
arm. It was also demonstrated that Nefecon was well-
tolerated. Caollectively. the efficacy data indicated a
significant and benefcial effect on key factors correlated
to the delay of progression to ESRD for IgAM patients.

MNeflghrd is a randomized, double-blind, placebo-con-
trolled study evaluating reduction of the surrogate
marker proteinuria as a primary endpoint. It is a global
trial with recruitment across 19 countries at approx-
imately 144 sites, including in North America, South
Arnerica, Europe, Australia, and Asia. Patients enrolled
in the trial have biopsy-confirmed |gAN and are on
aptimized and stable RAS blockade throughout.

The MeflgArd study consists of two parts, Part A

and Part B, Part A with 200 patients compares nine
months of 1amg Mefecon dasing data versus placebo,
followed by a 3 month follow up period. For Part B an
additional 1460 patients are enrolled, resulting in a total
of 380 patients. Part B is designed as a post approval
confirmatory study looking at long term renal benefit
and includes an observational 12 month period post
completion of Part A, Neflgard is the onby successful
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3
clinical trial carried out in [gAM to date.

Part A

The first part of the Meflgfrd study is a pivotal efficacy
and safety trial, which forms the basis for the submis-
sion of an MDA for accelerated approval to the FDA

and an MAA for conditicnal approval to the EMA. The
primary endpaint of Part A is the reduction of proteinuria
(measured by urine protein creatinine ratio, UPCR) in the
first 200 randomized and dosed patients, after ¥ months
of treatment with either 14mg Mefecon or placebo. A key
secondary endpoint is the difference in kidney function
between treated and placebo patients as measured by
estimated glomerular Altration rate [eGFR.)

Screening 15-35 days |
prior to randomization

F-manths of double-blind treatment

Mefecon®
14 me/day
[ [ 1
[ [ 1
! Placeha’ :
L L 1
UPCR UPCR UPCR

TREATMENT P

£ 2-week tapering } 10-week 12-months eGFR

i treatment follow-up over 2 years endpaint
E Metfecon®

E & mezdday H
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Phase 3 Trial Design
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Primary endpoint: Reduction in proteinuria

0%
s -
-10%

-15%
-20%
-25%
-30%
-35%

Mean % change UPCR

-31%

Mefecon 16mg Placeba

The Phase 3 trial read out in Nowvember 2020 and
demonstrated a statistically significant and clinically
meaningful UPCR reduction of 27% compared to
placebo, with the Mefecon arm reporting a 31% reduc-
tion in proteinuria versus baseline compared to a 5%
reduction in the placebo arm. There was alsa a signif-
icant continued decline in proteinuria observed for
those patients who had reached the 12 month mark,
i.e. after 3 months off-drug. There was also stabilization
af the kidney function in the treatment arm wersus
placebo. Statistically significant eGFR stabilization saw
patients treated with Nefecan having a decrease in
eGFR of only 0.1 7ml/min/1.73m? compared to the
4,04 ml/mind1.73m decrease experienced by patients
in the placebo arm.

Furthermeores, Nefecon was shown to be generally
well-tolerated. There were no severe infections, a
commaon and troublesome side effect of many cortico-
steraids, and there was a significantly lovwer withdrawal
rate compared to the Phase 2b NMEFIGAM trial: only
19 patients {9.5% of those randomized) discontinued
study treatment, with 10 of those being due to adverse
effects (AEs.) The most commaon AEs were sirmilar to
those observed in the Phase 2b trial, and there was

a lower frequency in reporting of some AEs in the
Phase 3, likely due to the NEFIGAM trial's solicitation
of GCS-related and Gl-related AEs which the Meflgdrd
study did not replicate. There were no adverse clinical
effects on body weight, systalic ar diastolic blood pres-
sure, or HbAlc,

Unlike the Phase 2b study, the Meflghrd trial permitted
paticnts with Type 1 and Type 2 diabotes mellitus to
take part, provided it was adeguately controlled {defined

Secondary endpoint: Stabilization of eGFR

0,00%
-1.00%
-2.00%
-3.00%
-4.00%,
-5.00%
-6.00%
-7.00%
-8.00%

0.00%

% change eGFR

=7.00%

Placeba
-4.04 mlfmin,/1.73m?*

Mefecon 1émg
=017 ml/min/1.73m?*

as HbAle =8% [&4 mmol/mol].) Patients without a diag-
nosis of diabetes mellitus showed a pattern of HbA1c
results similar to that seen in Phase 2b study, while
same patients with diabetes mellitus showed clinically
manageable increases in HbAlc during treatment,
resolving an treatment discontinuation,

The findings from Part A of the trial support Nefecan's
ability to reduce protein leakage in urine and to coun-
teract a decline in kidney function. The clinical effects
of Mefecon suppaort the thesis that the drug has a
disease-madifying effect, which waould result in a delay
of the onset of dialysis.

Part B

The secand part of the MeflgArd study is a post-
approval confirmatory trial, designed to show long term
renal benefit. Following the completion of enrollment
in Part A, which took place in Decernber of 2019,
Calliditas continued to recruit an addibonal 1460
patients during 2020 and January of 2021 in order to
meet the enrollment target for Part B. Enroliment was
completed on January 217 2021, Everest Medicines,
Calliditas' partner in China, contributed to the enroll-
ment far Part B, randomizing the first patient in China
on September 80 2020,

The aim of Part B is to assess the difference in kidney
function between treated and placebo patients, as
measured by eGFR over a two-year period from the
start of dosing of each patient, Calliditas expects to
report out data from Part B in earhy 2023,
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e NEFECON IN CLINICAL TRIALS

» To date, the NEFIGAN study remains
the only successful randomized
placebo-controlled Phase 2b study
ever conducted in IgAN .«

MeflgArd Open Label Extension Study

In Mavember 2020, Calliditas initiated an open-label
extension trial for patients who have completed bath
Part & and Part B of Meflgfrd. This study will dase

all eligible patients with Mefecon, both those who
previouslhy received Mefecon in the Meflghrd trial and
those who previously received placebo and thus will
be treatrment naive to Nefecon. All of the patients will
continue on a stable dose of RAS inhibitor therapy, and
both patients and investigators will remain blinded to
the treatment given in the MeflgArd trial. Patients will
receive Mefecon for a @-month period, after which the
two primary endpoints - change in UPCR and change
in eGFR - will be evaluated. After a further three
months off-drug, all patients will come for a follow-up
wisit, This trial aims to read out data in 2024,

Earlier Studies

Phase 2a

Efficacy in lgAM patients was initially assessed in

a multi-center 14-patient, open-label, Phase 2a
(NCTODDY67221) study, in which patients received

8 mg Mefecon for six months before a three-manth
followe-up. Patients in this study had a mean reduc-
tion in proteinuria of 23% at end of treatment, with
a further reduction to 0% below the base lewvel bwao
muonths after the end of treatment; an increase in eGFR
of 8% as a result of the treatment was also observed.

Phase 2b

The effect of Mefecan was subseguently investigated
in a 150 patient. multi-center Phase 2b (NEFIGARM,
MNCTO1738035) study that involved leading clinicians
at &2 sites across ten countries in Europe. Prior to the
MeflgArd trial, this study was the largest double-blind
trial ever conducted with an investigational candidate
in lgAMN patients, and it still remains the only successful
randomized, placebo-controlled Phase 2b study

to date, The study had three treatment arms; 8mg
Mefecan, 1aémg Mefecon and placebo.

Ar the end of nine months' treatment of either Nefecon
or placeba, patients treated with Bmg and lomg
Mefecon showed an improvement in UPCE, while the
placeba treated patients had an increase in UPCR.
Statistically significant differences in eGFR betwesn
the Mefecon and placebo treated groups were also
observed, with the Nefecon-treated patients in bath
dosing arms experiencing a stabilization of @GFR while
the placebo arm experienced deterioration. In addition,
Mefecon was well-tolerated, with no severe infections
or clinically relevant impact on the metabalic system
(blood pressure, weight gain, diabetes, ete.).
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Important milestones in the development of Nefecon

v

The Phase 2a study is completed with
positive results

Calliditas obtains orphan designation
for Mefecon in the US

MNefecon becomes the lead product candidate

Calliditas gains exclusive rights to the TARGIT
formulation technology to develop and
manufacture Nefecon

Investinor joins the existing investors
to finance the completion of the Phase 2b
study

MNefecon core patents are granted in
the US, Europe, China and Hong Kong

Calliditas collaborates with KHI
(American Society of Nephrology) on
proteinuria as a surrogate endpaoint in IgAN

Calliditas announces initial results from the
Phase 2b study and achieves the primary
endpoint in a2 planned interim analysis, the
only placebo-controlled, randomized study in
IgAN to achieve this milestone

Calliditas obtains orphan drug designation
for Mefecon in Europe

Tufts Medical Center publishes the meta-
analysis study related to changes of
proteinuria as a surrogate endpoint in IgAN
in American Journal of Kidney Disease

Publication of results from the Phase 2b
study in The Lancet

Calliditas completes a number of End of Phase
2 meetings with the EMA and FDA, achieving
acceptance by the FDA in January for the use
of reduction in proteinuria as an approvable
endpoint for a pivotal Phase 3 study

Calliditas Therapeutics

First patient is randomized in the pivotal
clinical Phase 3 study NeflgArd

Poster from Professor Barratt at lligAMNMN
2018 demonstrates that Nefecon modifies
Circulating IgA-1gG Immune Complex Levels
and Levels of Poorly O-Galactosylated lgA

First patient is enrolled in the pivotal Phase 3
MNeflgArd study

All 200 patients are enrolled in Part A
(required for market approval) of the
MNeflghrd study

After positive interaction with the FDA, the
design of Part B of the Meflgfrd study is
modified, significantly reducing the number
of patients required in Part B, as well as
reducing the owverall study duration

Nefecon is outlicensed to Everest Medicines,
covering Greater China and Singapore

Readout of positive topline data from

the Phase 3 pivotal NeflgArd Trial, which
confirmed the results of the Phase 2b
study, providing a basis for regulatory filing
for accelerated approval and conditional
approval by the FDA and EMA, respectively.
MNeflgArd is the only successful randomized,
double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3
clinical trial carried out in IgAN to date

Poster is presented by Dr Molyneux at ASN
Kidney Week demonstrating that Nefecon
has a demonstrated impact on circulating
pathogenic biomarkers (BAFF, soluble BCMA
and TACIH) in lgAN

First patient is dosed in open label extension
trial of NeflgArd

Full recruitment of 360 patients for the
post-approval confirmatory part of the
NeflgArd study

NDA filing with FDA for accelerated approval
inlgAN
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" COMMERCIALIZATION PLAN

An Exciting Market Opportunity

» Calliditas estimates the US target
market opportunity for Nefecon
to be approximately USD 4.5 bil-
lion to USD 5.0 billion annually.«

8

Calliditas retains global rights to Mefecon, other than
in Greater China and Singapore, In 2019, Calliditas
entered into an agreement with Everest Medicines Ltd
(Ticker: HKEX 1952 HK) pursuant to which Callid-
itas granted Everest Medicines an exclusive license
to develop and commercialize Mefecon for IgAN in
Greater China and Singapore. Everest Medicines may
exercise its option to develop Nefecon in additional
indications subject to additional payment by Everest.
If approved, Calliditas intends to commercialize
Nefecon in the US independently, and through a
commercial partnership in Europe.

The US Market

Calliditas estimates the US target market opportunity
for Nefecon to be approximately USD 4.5 billion to
USD 5.0 billion annually, based on our estimate of the
prevalence of the disease in the US and on market
landscape research conducted by IQVIA.

Calliditas intends to commercialize Mefecon in the LS.
with a targeted commercial infrastructure and with a
primary focus on the specialist physicians treating |gAN
patients at risk of progressing to ESRD.

Calliditas is currently focused on disease education,
patient advocacy and market access, with the goal of
facilitating access to Nefecon, if approved and commer-
cialized, to the patients for which Mefecon can fulfil

an unmet medical need. Calliditas believes this market
can be addressed by a small and dedicated number of
marketing and medical sales specialists, initially approx-
imately 40, to efficiently cover the estimated 3,700
nephrologists focused on our target patient population
in the U.S.

We estimate the prevalence of IgAN in the USA to be
between 130,000 - 150,000 and that, importantly, up
to 50% of IgAN patients progress and end up at risk of
developing end stage renal disease (ESRD.) The primary
market research conducted by IQVIA prior to our posi-
tive Phase 3 data readout provided an estimated price
range of an inibial course of treatment of Nefecon of
U5SD 55,000 to USD 85.000 per patient.
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=IQVIA

In 20192, Calliditas conducted a LS. market landscape
research project with |OVIA, a leading global provider
of advanced analytics, technology solutions and
contract research services to the life sciences industry.
The research included qualitative interviews with
payors and 12 Key Opinion Leader (KOL) nephrologists,
as well as a guantitative survey of 102 nephrologists
that treat on average 14 lgAM patients per month.

The abjectives of the study were to explore the current
lgAMN landscape, evaluate the rare disease pricing and
reimbursermnent dynamics, and ascertain nephrologist
and payor perceptions of a Nefecon product profile
based on our Phase 2b trial results. The study findings
provided helpful insights into how both nephrologists
and payars see this indication and MNefecon's potential
role in the |gAM space.

Patients are first officially diagnosed following a kidney
biopsy, which is the onby way to confirm an lgan
diagnosis. By that point, most are in varying stages of
chronic kidney disease [CKD), with the vast majority
being in the first three stages and the largest portion
being in CKD stage 3.

When asked. nephrologists felt that Mefecon would
be appropriate for patients at all stages of CKD, and
specifically that it would be appropriate for almaost
50% of their CKD 3 patients. 48% of the nephrolo-
gists interviewed also said that they would prescribe
Mefecon during its first year on the market. Further
more, ?0% of the nephrologists already familiar with
budesonide had a neutral or more favourable opinion
of Mefecon after they were informed of its active
ingredient,

Accumulation and d

CKD stage ﬂ_nn_nal_
eGFR 290

They envisicned prescribing Mefecon to their patients
as the first agent after, or in conjunction with, blood
pressure lowering medications [ACEIs/ARBs.) This is
consistent with the design of our Phase 2b and Phase 3
trials, in which participants remained on optimised and
stable RAS blockage throughout.

On the payvor side, we discovered that there is a lack
of experience and knowledge base surrounding lgan,
and that as a result there is a desire and request for
education on the disease from KOLs and specialists.
We were the first company to speak to payors about
lgh nephropathy, given that we are the closest to
hawing a drug on the market in this indication. The
biggest takeaway was that pavors see any treatments
that could delay or help avaid dialysis and kidney trans-
plant as providing high value, given the high cost and
impact on guality of life for patients of these longer-
term cutcomes. Payors universally pointed to a delay
of ESRD as a critical unmet need, as well as indicating
that a targeted therapy and a disease modifying agent
are also important unaddressed needs.,

Pre-Commercial Activities: 2020

MARKET MEDICAL
ACCESS AFFAIRS

MARKETING

We hawve fully developed our launch plans and are
implementing our pre-commercialisation activities,
focusing on Medical Affairs, Market Access, and
Marketing.
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. COMMERCIALIZATION PLAN

Medical Affairs

In 2020, we executed on our fully integrated publica
tion plan, contributing abstracts, posters, and presenta-
tions at key nephrology meetings. Throughout the vear,
we also had a strong presence at all of the relevant
conferences and congresses, including events such as
the American Society of Mephralogy's (ASN) Virtual
Kidney Week, Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, like all
companies, we had to navigate through the uncharted
territory of creating virtual exhibits booths and having
an anline presence.

calliditas

Our wvirtual booth at ASN Kidney Week 2020

Furthermore, in 2020 we established and held meet-
ings with a US-based Academic Steering Committee
cansisting of KOLs from many centres of excellence
spread across the United States, as reflected in the map
bBelow.

Calliditas grew its team of Medical Science Liaisons
(MSLs) and initiated educational efforts to key nephrol-
agists, as well as supporting lgaMN specific advocacy
programs, Despite the many restrichons on travel and
face-to-face gatherings during the pandemic, the |gAN
patient and advocacy cormnmunity has grown signifi-
cantly in 2020, and we are proud to have contributed
to this groweth.

MAYO
CLINIC

Y

BUNC

SCHOOL OF
MEDICINE

v Stanford

MEDICINE

0

THE OHIO STATE
UNIVERSITY

COLLEGE DF MEN0NS

We were the lead sponsor in the first annual patient
forum, SPARK 2020, organised by the lg& Mephropathy
Foundation of America.

IGA NEPHROPATHY
il

Calliditas was also the sole sponsar of a nationally
televised segment on lgA nephropathy, with a feature
on the 'Behind the Mystery' segment on The Balancing
Act, LifeTime television's morning program.

Market Access

I 2020, we completed extensive benchmarking and
primary research with stakeholders to finalize our
channel and distribution strategy to support the launch
of NMefecon, We also engaged a leading market access
agency, Entrée Health, to develop pre-launch payor
engagement collateral to support the managed markets
actvities which will commence in Q2 2021, Finally, we
initiated final .5, pricing research with Z5 Assaciates
to further assess launch price options as well as corre-
spanding reimbursement with a large sample of LS,
pavors and prescribers.

Marketing
Calliditas partnered with COM, the Omnicom
award-winning creative agency based in Mew Yaork City,

cdm.

lifechanging

We also conducted several market research projects
with our target audience in order to finalise product
positioning. We know that in the minds of cur audi-
ence, the consistency and strong topline results of the
Phase 3 Meflghrd trial further support and enhance our
unigue position for MNefecan.

% )

COLUMBIA
UNIVERSITY

% Penn
¥ Medicine
L

THE UNIVERSITY OF
ALABAMA AT BIRMINGHAM
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» We strive to protect the proprietary
technologies that we believe are
important to our business. «

Patents

Mefecon

Calliditas co-owns one patent Family with Kyowa Kirin
Services Ltd., f/k/a Archimedes Development Ltd., to
which we have a sole and exclusive global license, even
in relation ta the other co-owner. in any field of use.
This patent family protects a formulation for the oral
delivery of budesonide and the medicinal use thereof,
The patents in this patent farmiky expire in 2022, and
include a United States patent, a patent in each of
China, Hong Kong and Japan, and a European patent
that has been validated in 15 countries. The patents in
this family are not eligible for extension in the United
States because the active ingredient is used in existing
approved drugs. In Europe, extension of the patents is
nat likely subject to the recent judgement of litigation
in the Eurcpean Union, CIEU C-443/17, related to the
degree to which it is possible to obtain a Supplemen-
tary Protection Certificate for a previoushy authorized
active ingredient.

Genkyotex's Patents

With regards to the NOX estate, there are three patent
farnilies covering various aspects of the setanaxib asset
derived from three PCT applications. The compasition
of matter and certain methods of therapy are covered
in two of these patent families, and the third covers

the use of setanaxib in certain oncology indications.
There are seven further patent families that cover other
MO inhibitors and their use, As these patents and
applications cover new chemical entities, the territorial
coverage is generally quite wide, and as the compounds
da not yvet form part of an approved drug product,
patent life may potentially be extended in countries
where legislation provides for patent term extension.
The two families covering setanaxib's composition of
matter have projected expiry dates in 2028 and 2029,
excluding potential extensions.

The vaccine patent estate is a combination of licensed,
wholly cwned and jointhy owned patent families. This
estate stems from the French company Genticel 5.4,
or Genticel, into which Genkyotex merged in order

to become listed on the Paris stock exchange. The
wvaccine technology is based on technologies from
Institut Pasteur and Genticel, Later, Genticel entered
into a partnership, also covering licenses to technology
controlled by Genticel, with the Serum Institute of
India, Pvt. Ltd. ar SIIL. The partnership with the SIHL
was continued and re-negotiated after the Genticel/
Genkyotex merger. The vaccine technology covers
certain immune-cell targeting and immune system
strmulating methods and delivery of certain antigens to
antigen presenting cells. The most recent patent family,
co-owned by Genkyotex and SIIL, has a projected
expiry date in 2035.

Intellectual Property

‘We strive to protect the proprietary technologies that
wie belicve are important to our business, including
pursuing and maintaining patent protection intended

to cover the technologies incorporated into, or used to
produce, our product candidates, including compositions
of matter of our product candidates and their methods of
use, as well as other inventions that are important to our
business. In addition to patent protection, we also rely
on trade secrets to protect aspects of our business that
we do nol consider appropriate for patent protection,
including certain aspects of our technology and drug
product manufacturing.

Cur commercial success depends in part upon our abiliby
to obtain and maintain patent and other proprietary
protection for commercially important technologices,
inventions and know-how related to our business, defend
and enforce our intellectual property rights, particularly
our patent rights, preserve the confidentiality of our trade
secrets and operate without infringing walid and enforce
able intellectual property rights of others,
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IgAN Patient Interview

John lives in Westbury, New York, with his wife of 20 years. He loves sports, and in

particular has a passion for golf. He also has lgA nephropathy, and has been living with
his diagnosis since 2005. A patient advocate who sits on the Board of Directors of the

lgA Nephropathy Foundation of America, he chats with us about life with IgAN and the
importance of finding an effective treatment for this disease.

How did you first find out you had IgAN?

Back in 2005 | went for a routine physical, and after

| got home | received a call from my doctor sayving that
something was off in my urine and that | needed tao be
re-tested, She mentioned that she thought there was
something wrong with my kidneys, so | had my follow
up with a nephrologist. The nephrologist was the one
who told me that | had Ig4 Nephropathy, but he didn't
really say anything else at that appointment - there
was no discussion about IgAN being a rare disease,

ar about me having to monitor anything or take any
next steps. He just said, "'l see you in & months," and
that was that. | walked away from that appointment
thinking that this diagnosis wasn't really arything to
worry about, but also not understanding much abaout
the disease. It was only later that year, when | tried

to update my life insurance policy, that | realised how
serious this diagnosis was - | was denied the coverage
due to lgA nephropathy. Since my doctor had told

me that lgAN was nothing to really worry about,

this response from the life insurance company really
shocked and alarmed me.

What were your symptoms like in the first few years?
How did the disease progress?

Because IgA nephropathy is a rare disease, | really
didn't know what to look for in terms of symptoms

at the time. Looking back now, | can see what the signs
really were: | was probably more tired than | should
have been, and | did see some foam in my urine, | was
stable Tor a few years, but after a while the pratein in
my urine started to increase. The physician who

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annual Report 2020




| was seeing at the time explained that there was no
treatment or cure, and that my only opton was just to
manage the symptoms, My doctor suggested a high
dasage of prednisone as a way to try and manage the
disease progression, so | started steroid treatment.

How did vou fare with this course of treatment, and with
dealing with the IgAN diagnosis?

| had many of the side effects of prednisone, including
the irritability and the insomnia. The maost significant
side effect | experienced was the dramatic weight gain
| became almost unrecognizable to my friends and
family.
These side-effects had a major impact on my life. | was
no longer able to go out on weekends or evenings with
my wife or friends; plaving golf came to a screeching
halt. Attermpting to manage this disease had many
add-on effects that were worse than anything | could
have imagined.
The hardest part of all, however, is waiting for the lab
results during each doctor visit, and trying to deal with
the anxiety that comes with opening them, Each time,
wou have to face the truth of how badly you're doing
and how much vour kidney function has declined, all
the while knowing that - with ne cure ar treatment
available - even if the bloodwork 1S bad there's nothing
that vou can really do. The uncertainty and powerless-
ness regarding my future is a major source of stress,
This anxiety is even further amplified by the fact that
evervbody with this disease advances at a different
rate, so even looking to how others with the same
diagnosis hawve fared doesn’t help you get a sense of
what your life is going to be like in the next vear or two,
What will happen if | get to a point where | need dial-
ysis? What if that means | can no longer work? These
are the kinds of thoughts that keep me up at night,
wondering what my future is going to hold. At a certain
point, despite doing everything | could, my bloodwork

showed that the prednisane was no langer working.

| was referred to a different nephrologist, an lgAMN
specialist, who started me on a different management
plan. This worked in the short term, but didn't last.

What next steps did you take after your management
plans stopped working?

The lgh specialist | was seging gave me bwo options:
g0 back on prednisone or join a clinical trial for patients
with |g4 nephropathy. After my tough experience with
steroid treatment, and after considering the different
clinical trials that were available, | made the decision
that | felt was best for me and enrolled in a clinical
trial. My results from my most recent bloodwork have
shawen that my eGFR is stable and that the amount of
protein in my urine has decreased dramatically - both
really encouraging signs of progress that helped to
relieve a lot of stress in my life.

What is your outlook like now?

A little while ago, after | was asked to sit on the board
of directors for the IgA Foundation of America, and |
was invited to take part in a panel where the speakers
sought to address the FDA regarding the current
research and clinical trials, and the need to bring a
treatment to market as soon as possible. | left that
panel that day very emotional, having listened to
people who have terrible lives as a result of how their
lgA nephropathy has progressed. It's difficult to express
how lucky you feel to leave that gathering of people
knowing that you're not at that stage vet. But, at the
same fime, you can't help but wonder what tomorrow
brings if there is no true treatment or way to manage
this disease.

A

» The most significant side effect | experienced
was the dramatic weight gain - | became

almost unreco

lizable ta my friends and family.
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s ORPHAN LIVER INDICATIONS PIPELINE

Potential in selected

autoimmune diseases

Calliditas believes that budesonide, Nefecon's active ingredient, also has potential in

treating other select autoimmune diseases, like autocimmune hepatitis.

Autoimmune Hepatitis (AlIH)

Budenofalk for AIH

Calliditas has exclusively in-licensed Budenofalk 3 mg
aral capsules for the US market from Dr. Falk Pharma.
Budenofalk is a formulation of budesonide originally
develaped to treat Crobn's disease, The licence covers
all indications for the US market, excluding orphan
indications outside of liver targets. Budenofalk has
been tested in a large, randomized, contralled clinical
trial in AlH patients and is approved for the treatment
af AlH in several European countries, but there has
been no clinical development or regulatory approval

in the US. In addition, Budenofalk has been approved
for the treatment of Crohn's disease and microscopic
colitis in Europe. Calliditas believes Budenofalk has the
potential to address AlH for patients in the US and has
received orphan drug designation for the treatrment

af AlH by the FDA, We anticipate discussing our final
developrment plans for AlH with the FDWA in 2021.

» Calliditas believes Budenofalk has the
potential to address AlH for patients in the US
and have received orphan drug designation for

the treatment of AlH by the FDA .«

w2 m

A0

AlH Disease Background

AlH is a rare disease associated with chronic inflam
mation of the liver. Based on current knowledge of
AlH's pathophysiology, the origin of the autoimmune
response is believed to be the production of cytotoxic
T-cells and B-cell derived autoantibodies, which are
directed towards liver cells or their components. This
results in inflammation of the liver cells, which even-
tually destroys them and leads to fibrosis, AlH often
presents as a slow progressing disease of the liver
that leads at wvariable rates to cirrhosis, with compli-
cations such as liver failure and liver cancer, Typical
symptoms are fatigue, abdominal discormfort, jaundice,
enlarged liver, skin rashes, joint pains and, in women,
loss of menstruation. Some patients hawve no obvious
syrmptoms and are diagnosed based on liver problems
identified during routine blood tests.

AlH Prevalence

AlH is an orphan disease and, based on its known
prevalence rates, we estimate that there are approxi-
mately 50,000 to 80,000 patients in the US, where the
annual incidence of AlH ranges from 0.1 to 1.9 cases per
100,000, The disease is at least three times as cammon
in women as in men and can occur at ary time during life.
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Orphan drugs

To encourage the development of
therapies for patients affected by
orphan diseases with unmet medical
needs, regulatory authorities world-
wide introduced the 'orphan drug'
designation.

The American Orphan Drug Act of
1983 introduced several incentives
for drug companies to develop drugs
for the purpose of preventing, diag-
nosing or treating orphan diseases
that affect fewer than 200,000
individuals in the US.

[

In the US, these incentives consist

of seven years of market exclusivity
from the grant date of marketing
approval, assistance in clinical
research study designs, tax credits for
the costs of clinical research, FDA fee
waivers and eligibility for FDA grants,

The European Parliament adopted
the Crphan Regulation on December
16, 1999, to establish the EU
procedure for designation of orphan
medicines and to stimulate the dewvel-
opment of orphan medicinal

products. In Europe, an orphan
disease is defined as a disease or
condition affecting no more than
five in 10,000 individuals, with no
satisfactory method of diagnosis.
prevention or treatment.

The incentives consist of ten years
of market exclusivity from the grant
date of marketing approval in the
EU, protocol assistance and scien-
tific advice, fee reductions on EMA
procedural activities and eligibility
for EU grants.

Current Treatments for AIH

There are currently no approved therapies for the treat-
ment of AlH in the US. The standard of care includes
immunosuppressive systemic corticosteroids, typically
prednisane, alone or in combination with azathioprine.
A common modality is to use a high-dose corticostercid
induction period followed by a lower-dose mainte-
nance therapy. The clinical outcome target is to prevent
dewvelopment of cirrhosis or prevent progression if
cirrhosis has already occurred, Many patients respond
well to standard of care and achieve disease remission,
in which case the prognosis is favorable,

Howewver, up to 80% of treated patients report steroid
related side effects after two years and 15% discon-
Hnue treatment due to drug-related adwverse events.
Between 50% and 0% of patients relapse if treat-
ment is stopped. Furthermore, the high risk of adverse
events in some patient groups (where systemic steroid
treatment may be contraindicated) such as patients
with osteoporosis, hypertension, diabetes or underlying
mental illness, results in non-treatment, which leads to
an increased risk of cirrhosis. Given the high rates of
adverse events and the high rate of relapse amang AlH
patients, there is a significant unmet need.
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s GENKYOTEX ACQUISITION

A Nox Inhibitor Platform

On August 13, 2020, Calliditas announced that it had entered into an agreement to
acquire 7,236,515 ordinary shares from Genkyotex’s largest shareholders and manage-
ment team, representing 62.7% of the share capital and voting rights.

After receiving clearance from the French Minister of
Economy and Finance regarding foreign investments
into France, on November 3 2020 Calliditas closed

the off-market block trade for a total consideration

of €19.8M in cash (€2.73 per ordinary share) plus
contingent rights pavable upon regulatory approvals of
setanaxib, Genkyotex's lead asset. Calliditas then filed a
simplified mandatory cash tender offer with the French
Financial Market Authority (Autorité des Marchés Finan-
ciers - the "AMF"} for the remaining Genkyotex shares
at €2.80 per ordinary share plus contingent rights.

The ocutcome of the tender offer resulted in Calliditas
controlling a total of 10,121,676 shares in Genkyotex at
the end of the year, which corresponds to 86.2 percent
of the share capital and the total number of votes.

NOX Inhibitors

Genkyotex is a pioneer in NQX inhibitor therapies, and
its lead candidate setanaxib is the first NOX inhibitor to
reach the clinical trial stage. MOX enzyme inhibitors are
a class of promising novel experimental drugs in redox
pharmacoclogy. In July 2012, the WHO approved a new
stem, "naxib,” which recognizes MOX inhibitors as a
new therapeutic class.

Several other molecules are currently in use as exper-
imental NOX inhibitors, most frequently diphenylene
indonium (DP) and apocynin, but these molecules
are not specific to NOX enzymes and have several
off-target effects. Setanaxib is currently the only NOX
inhibitor that specifically and exclusively acts on NOX
enzymes, with no off-target effects.

Reactive Oxygen Species and NOX

Several human enzymes are capable of producing reac-
tive axygen species (ROS.) The only known enzymes
that are solely dedicated to producing ROS as their
primary function are nicotinamide adenine dinucleo-
tide phosphate (NADPH) oxidases, otherwise known
as NOX enzymes. At appropriate concentrations, ROS
have essential functions in cellular signalling processes,

helping to regulate cell proliferation, differentiation and
migration, as well as modulating the innate immune
respanse, iibrosis and inflammation. Howewver, the
disruption of the redox homeostasis has been implicated
in multiple disease pathways, Oxidative stress, which
causes an excess of ROS, is a likely common underlying
mechanism for cardiovascular diseases, neurodegenera-
tive disorders, and cancer disease pathways.

MADPH oxidases are transmembrane enzymes that
transfer electrons from NADPH in the cytoplasm across
the cell membrane, which results in the formation of
ROS. There are seven NOX members, each differing in
composition and modes of activation. NOX1, NOX2,
MNOX3, and NOXS5 transfer electrons from NADPH

to molecular oxygen, producing superoxide anion

fOE ) NOX4, DUCXK1 and DUOX2, meanwhile, mainky
produce hydrogen peroxide (H,0,.)
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Setanaxib inhibits NOX1 and NOX4, enzymes which are
implicated in inflammation and fibrosis pathways. While
both types of enzymes are found all owver the body,
MNOX1 is most highly expressed in the intestinal epithe-
lium, while MOX4 is highly expressed in kidney cells.

Clinical Development of Setanaxib

Setanaxib in Primary Biliary Cholangitis (PBC)
PBC Disease Background

PBC is a progressive and chronic autcimmune disease
of the liver that causes a cycle of immune injury to
biliary epithelial cells, resulting in cholestasis and
fibrosis. The arigin of this autcimmune response is
believed to be the production of cytotoxic T-cells
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and B-cell derived autoantibodies directed towards
the epithelial cells of the small bile ducts in the liver,
resulting in inflammation and damage to the duct cells
and eventually in the destruction of the bile ducts. This
destruction results in the accumulation of increased
bile acid in the liver, a condition known as cholestasis,
to levels that are toxic to the liver cells, which in turn
results in the destruction of liver cells and fibrosis.
PBEC can eventually lead to liver failure, necessitating
the need for a liver transplant. It is an orphan disease
and, based on its known prevalence rates, we estimate
that there are approximately 140,000 patients in the
S, where the annual incidence ranges from 0.2 to 5.8
cases per 100,000,
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Early symptoms of PBC include fatigue, itchy skin, dry
eves and mouth dryness, As the disease progresses,
symptoms range from pain in the upper right abdomen
and musculoskeletal pain to edema. jaundice, osteo-
porasis, elevated cholestercl and hypothyraidism. If
untreated, active liver tissue is destroyed and replaced
by fibrous tissue, leading to liver failure and the need
for a liver transplant. Individuals with PBC are also at a
greater risk than the general population of developing
hepatocellular carcinoma.




e GENKYOTEX ACQUISITION

Current Treatments for PBC

Ursodeoxychalic acid, a generic drug also known as
ursodiol or UDCA, and cbheticholic acid, marketed as
Ocaliva by Intercept Pharmaceuticals, are the only
FDA-approved treatments for PBC. Both of these
agents are bile acid analogues whose mechanisms of
action aim to protect the liver from damage caused
by accumulation of endogenous bile acids and inhibi-
tion of bile acid synthesis. These drugs are primarily
antichaolestatic, Neither of these drugs specifically
addresses the autoimmune response that is believed
to drive PBC, the inflammatory consequences of the
autoimmune response or the increased bile acid levels
associated with PBC. Despite adequate dosing of
UDCA, approximately one-third of PBC patients do
not I‘E‘SDOI“Id sufficienthy and are at risk of requiring

a liver transplant. Similarly, although Cctaliva shows
improvements in blood markers of liver function, it
has not been proven in clinical testing to delay or
avoid the need for liver transplant. Furthermore, while
systemic carticosteraids have been shown to alleviate
PBC symptoms, their adverse event profile limits their
treatment potential.

Setanaxib in PBC

The effect of setanaxib in PBC was investigated in a
Phase-1l randomised double-blind placebo-controlled clin-
ical trial. Reduction in serum gamma glutamyl transpept-
dase {GGT) was the primary endpoint, and key secondary
endpoints included reduction in the cholestatic marker
alkaline phosphatase (ALP) The patients were monitored
with regular blood tests and transient elastography.

Phase 2b/3 Clinical Trial in PBC

Calliditas plans to initiate a pivotal Phase 2b/3 trial in
early PBC, which we anticipate being a double-blind,
randomized, placebo controlled study with an adaptive
design. There will be a dose response component in the
Phase 2b part of the trial, with patients being enrclled
and randamised to one of bwo doses of setanaxib vs
placebo. This will be followed by a futility analysis. and
then one of the active doses will be taken into the
Phase 3 component of the trial.

We anticipate that approximately 300 patients will be
enrolled into the study, which will aim to begin recruit-
ment in H2 2021, with the futility analysis likely taking
place in H1 2023 and the full read-out expected in HZ
2024 or H1 2025.
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Setanaxib in Head and Neck Cancer
Immuno-oncology [10) therapies are not as effective in
highly iibrotic tumours, which introduces the potential
for anti-fibrotic agents to be used to iImprove treatment.

MK is highly over-expressed in cancer associated
fibroblasts (CAFs) and drives myofibroblastic activation,
whiere CAFs are enslaved by tumaours and shield them
from CDE+ [oytotoxic) T-cells. Targeting CAFs with seta-
naxib could improve patients’ responses to immunother-
apies, and function as an adjunct therapy to 1O therapy.

A study investigating setanaxib in oncology is currently
in the design phase, with the design and clinical trial
protocol subject to finalization after interactions with
regulatory authorities. The trial will be a proof-of-prin-
ciple (POP) study in head and neck cancer, where the
efficacy and safety of setanaxib will be explored when
given with an immuno-oncology agent. The study will
likely involve 30-40 patients and will start recruiting in
H2 2021, with data readout expected in 2023.

Setanaxib in Other Fibrotic Kidney Diseases

MK 1 and 4 enzymes have been demonstrated to
be drivers of pathology in inflammatory and fibrotic
diseases, and setanaxib demonstrated in the Phase |l
PEC trial that it has a clinically significant anti-Aibrotic
effect. It thus has the potential to be one of the first
antifibrotic agents for a variety of kidney diseases.
Callliditas will carry out preclinical in vivo animal mode|
work in 2021 to assist in exploring some selected
kidney indications.

Investigator Led Studies

Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis (IPF)

Setanaxib is currently being evaluated in IPF in an
investigator-led study. Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis is
a lung disease in which lung tissue becomes damaged
and scarrad. This thickened, stiff tissue impairs lung
function and, because the damage cannot be repaired,
in some cases a lung transplant may become necessary.
The scarring associated with pulmonary fibrosis can be
caused by a multitude of factors, but in most cases, the
cause is unknown.

The symptoms of IPF tend to develop gradually and
get slowly worse over time, and can include shortness
of breath, a persistent dry cough, tiredness, loss of
appetite and weight loss. There is currently no cure

for IPE. and the main aim of treatment is to relieve

the symptoms as much as possible and slow down its
progression, The medications commonly used include
pirfenidone and nintedanib, both of which work to slow
fibrosis by reducing the activity of the immune system.

Aogrant from the United States MNational Institutes of
Health {NIH) was awarded to Professar Victor Than-
nickal at the University of Alabama at Birmingham to
fund a multi-year research program evaluating the
role of HOX enzymes in IPF. A Phase 2 double-blind,
randomized placebo study started enrolment of 60
patients in September 2020. The primary outcome
measure of this trial is a change in concentration of
circulating o,0'-dityrasine, a surrogate biomarker of
oxidative stress, following a 24 week treatment period.
Secondary endpaoints include changes in collagen
degradation, measures of pulmonary function, and
improved ambulatory ability.

Diabetic Kidney Disease

Setanaxib iz also being evaluated in Type 1 diabetes

in an investigator-led study funded by the Juvenile
Diabetes Research Foundation. This investigator led
study, conducted in Australia and Mew Zealand, is a
double blind placebo controlled trial that will enroll
approximately 100 patients; the primary endpaint is
urine albumin to creatinine ratio (LUACR) measured after
48 weeks of treatment.

Diabetic Kidney Disease develops in 20% to 40% of all
patients with diabetes and is the leading cause of CKD
worldwide. High blood glucose levels and high blood
pressure. both common clinical features of diabetes,
damage the blood vessels in the kidneys which causes
a decline in kidney function and ultimately leads to
ESRED, of which DKD is the leading cause. Symptoms
of DKD include swollen extremities, hematuria, nausea,
fatigue and shortness of breath. Current standard of
care is to put patients on blood-pressure lowering
agents such as ACE inhibitors or ARBs.
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e SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

Environmental, Social, and Corporate

Governance

The foundation of our business is our drive to provide access to treatment for people with

rare diseases with a high unmet medical need. We operate in a highly regulated industry,

which requires the creation of and adherence to standard operating procedures related

to many aspects of our daily work. Our sustainability strategy consists of three key com-

mitments to help us strive towards increasing patient access to treatment:

Ensuring that in every area of our business, we act ethically and responsibly, with a commitment to the
highest standards in clinical development and business ethics. We aim to create a sustainable organi-
sation that serves the patient community and the broader global community.

Striving to conduct our business in a way that is conscious of safety issues and our environmental
impact. We work towards this goal by strictly adhering to high quality and safety standards, and by
undertaking initiatives to promote environmental respansibility.

Supporting the rare disease community through our cormmitment to improving the lives of patients
with orphan diseases, including working actively on clinical research and regulatory approval pathways
to bring medication to patients where today there is a significant unmet medical need.

Ethical and Responsible Behaviour

The success of Calliditas Therapeutics is determined by
aur ability to operate as a unified team as we work to
earn the trust and respect of our co-warkers, investors,
and ulbimately our patients. Our company is built on

a foundation of creative, productive employvees who
are encaouraged to share their expertise and provide
solutions while thinking "outside the box" Calliditas

is committed to ensuring equal opportunities for all
employess to flourish, The dedicated hard work and
cammitment of every employee is critical for achieving
our goals, and Calliditas strives ta have every person

in the company succeed in their job and actively
contribute to our overall mission.

We always aim to act with integrity, and we hald

our employees and ourselves to the highest ethical
standards. 2020 was a vear of tremendous growth,
as the Calliditas team expanded maore than two-fold.
Wie continuously review and adapt cur palicies and
quality control systems to ensure that we conbinue to
maintain our high standards as we add more new hires,
and cur ernployees receive regular training on appro-
priate conduct, We look to promote ethical behaviour
amongst our team through our company values and
our employee code of conduct. Every employee is
expected to act proactively by asking questions,

seeking guidance and reporting suspected violations of
this cade and all ather paolicies and procedures of the
Campany. We expressly forbid any retaliation against
any employee who reports suspected misconduct,

as we view our employees as essential to helping us
maintain a work environment that meets a high ethical
standard.

Creating and maintaining a good working ervironment
is essential to Calliditas, It is our strong belief that both
individual performance and the overall performance

of the company is bolstered by a healthy work envi-
ronment, which will also aid in recruitment and talent
retention as we lock to grow our team even more in
2021. As an employer, we continuoushy aim to better
the Calliditas work erwironment and ensure that every
employee feels valued, supported, and challenged to
growy in their role, We strive to make sure that our work
enviranment is as safe as possible, and that stress,
interruptions of praduction and reduction in quality are
avaided wherever possible, Being able to encourage an
appropriate work-life balance is also of great impor-
tance to us, as we aim to maintain healthy employees
and a healthy work environment, We are proud to
offer a safe, healthy and inclusive workplace with egual
development cpportunities for all.
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Commitment to Safety and Environmental
Responsibility

Calliditas understands the importance of acting in an
environmentally conscious way, and we always strive
to be mindful of how our business operations could be
impacting the planet. Our greenhouse gas emissions
arise largely from energy consumption and business
travel. With offices in Stockholm and New York City,
and with employees based across Europe and the
United States, business travel is important to our
company. Howewver, we are also conscious of reducing
our greenhouse gas emissions in this area. In part

due to necessity during the COVID-1% pandemic, we
expanded on our use of videoconferencing and will aim
to carry this forward when possible and appropriate
into 2021 and beyond, even when travel resumes as
normal. We believe that less travel will benefit not
anly the planet but also our employees, and we will
ensure that travel is purposeful and occurs only when
in-person interaction cannot be adequately replaced by
remote working.

Calliditas is also committed to rigorous safety stan-
dards, both for ourselves and our partners. Calliditas
does not own or manage any manufacturing or labora-
tory facilities, but in 2020, we began to establish our
commercial supply chain via partnerships in prepara-
tion for having a product in the market by the end of
the year or beginning of 2022 (subject to regulatory
approval.) We adhere to the same high standards and
processes when we select all our service providers and
partners, be it in the clinical development area or in
manufacturing. All of our current appainted commercial
suppliers are reputable companies, located in western
Europe and USA. They were chosen through a selec-
tion process strictly evaluating, among other things,
quality standards, compliance with laws and regulations
and all relevant permits. We hold ourselves to higher
quality standards than those required by law, and so
our supplier’s overall management system has also

Gender Distribution:
Employees

Gender Distribution:
Board of Directors

B Women
W rMen

B Women
W Men

been audited and the general site's standard has been
reviewed through visual inspections, as far as was
possible under restrictions due to the global pandemic.
We have clearly outlined our expectations regarding
these areas in our agreements with the suppliers, and
will hold them to the same rigorous standards as we
hold curselhves.

Commitment to Our Patients

Since our inception as a company, our mission and
visian is to focus on unmet needs for orphan disease
and bring to market treatments for those suffering from
rare diseases. We have worked with the rare disease
community as we strive to provide access to nowvel and
innowvative treatments, and see this cooperation as vital
for our future development as a company, particularly
as we file with regulators and prepare to potentially
have a product on the market.

For lgA nephropathy, our lead indication, we have
supported patient advocacy and disease state educa-
tional efforts. We are the only company to have carried
out a successful randomized, placebo-controlled Phase
2b study to date in this disease, and the only company
to have had a successful top-line data read-out of a
Phase 3 study in IgAMN. We have also pioneered the
regulatory pathway in the nephrology space, having
worked with therapeutic experts and regulators

to create a path for medications to get marketing
approval using proteinuria as a surrogate endpoint.
Calliditas received the groundbreaking acceptance

of this endpoint in an end of Phase 2b meeting in
January 2017, and the design for the MNeflgArd study
was the first time: the FDA granted approval for the
use of proteinuria as surrogate endpoint for a Phase 3
nephrology study. We hope that our efforts will ease
the path for patients to hawve access to safe and effec-
tive medications for IgAN, and look forward to bringing
novel treatments to market for patients with other rare
diseases as we expand on our pipeline in the future.
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The Share

Share Performance

MNasdag Stockholm

Calliditas was listed on Masdag Stockholm Mid-Cap, on
June 29, 2018. As of Decermber 30, 2020, the closing
rate was SEK 13%.4, yvielding an increase of 84% in
2020, During the same period, the OMXSPI increased
by 13%. The highest closing rate during the yvear was
SEK 165.80 and the lowest SEK 55.20.

MNasdag USA

Callichitas was listed on Masdag Global Select Market
inthe US_, on June 5, 2020. An ADS listed in the ULS.
corresponds to two ordinary shares. On December

31, 2020, the closing price was LSD 33.6, which gave
an increase of 71 percent during the period June-De-
cember 2020, Masdag Compasite increased by 31
percent during the same period. The highest closing
price during the year was USD 36.7 and the lowest was
usD 19.2.

Turnover

MNasdag Stockholm

A total of 29,416,340 shares were traded during
the wear, with a total value of SEK 3,539 million. On
average, 114,732 shares were traded each day.
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Dwring the pericd June-December 2020, a total of
046,217 ADS was traded for a total value of USD 156
million. On average, 42 577 ADS were traded per day.

Shareholders

As of December 31, 2020, Calliditas had .51 share-
holders. The 15 largest shareholders controlled &6.0%
of the capital and voting rights at vear-end. The three
largest shareholders were BVE Partners, Stiftelsen Indus-
trifonden and Linc AB (Bengt Julander). Foreign share-
holders accounted for 41.4% of vobing rights and capital.

Share Capital

As of December 31, 2020, share capital in Calliditas
amounted to SEK 1,998 thousand. The number of
shares was 42,941,584 corresponding to a quotient
wvalue per share of SEK 0.04. In accordance with the
Articles of Association, share capital must be not less
than SEK 710 thousand and not more than SEK 2,840
thausand. distributed between at least 17,750,000
shares and not exceed 71,000,000 shares.

The praportion of shares available for trade (free float)
amounted approximately to 7a% at wear-end.

Investor Relations Work

Ivestor Relations work in 2020 has focused on the
continued establishment of Calliditas in the capital
market in the Nordic region, Europe and the USA.

The management has participated in a number of
sector-specific conferences that during the yvear were
primarily virtual. Calliditas has also conducted a large
number of virtual meetings on both the sales and buying
side to educate the market and ensure that there is a
broad knowledge of the compary in the market.

Analysts
Calliditas is monitored by Carnegie, Stifel, Kempen, Cit,
lefferies, Life Sci Capital, HC Wainwright and Redeye.

Ownership per category, % Trading platforms, % Ownership per country, %

B Sweedish inshitubanal owners 31.7% W Masclag G5 29 W Sweden 59.2%
B Forsign institutional awners 29.0% B Choe Glabal Markets 4,71% W L5SA, 21.7%
W Other 14.8% B France 265
W Sweedish private persons 14.3% W Canada 1.65%
B APONITICLS Crsershin 10.1% | UK 13%
Dther 2.2%

B Ananymows ownership 1015

Sounce: MMonitor by Moauiar Fioanoe AB and Fidessa,
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The 15 largest shareholders as of December 31, 2020 CALTX share data 2020
Draily average turnaver, SEK 14,043,342

Sharehalders Low, SEK 5520
BEWF Partners LP &,331.562 12.7% 12.7% High, SEK 16580
Stiftelsen Industrifonden 5772995 11.6% 11.6% WP, SEK 120.30
Linc AB (Bengt Julander) 4,836,108 P.7% 5. 7% MNumber of shares traded 29,416,340
Handelsbanken Fonder 2,634,684 53% 5.3% Average number of shares traded per day 116,732
Fidrde AP-fonden 2230773 4.5% 4.5% Average number of trades per day 6131
Hilthouse Capital Advisars 2095374 4.2% 4.2% Mumber of trades 154,496
Swedbank Robur Fonder 1,398,334 2.8% 28% Average value per trade, SEK 22,906
Gladiator 1,358,537 27% 2.7% Daily turnereer rel. Meap, % 0.29%
Sofinmova Partners 1318078 2.6% 2.6% Part Masdaq (ordinary trade], % 89.3%
Unignen 1,199.899 2.4% 2.4% Part block transactions, % 7.3%
Mdikael Bender 1477317 2.4% 2.4% Part dark pocls (Masdaq), % 3.3%
AFA Forsikring FT2T62 1.5% 1.5%
Wivo Capital S22.060 1.2% 1.2%
Aoanza Pension &05.761 12% 1.2%
Logos Global Management LP &00.000 1.2% 1.2%
Total share of the 15 largest
sharehaolders 32,954,244 66.0% H6.0%
Other shareholders 16,987,340 34.0% 34.0%
Total 49,941,584 100.0% 100.0%

Size classes as of December 31, 2020

1-100 2977 116414 0.2% 0.2% 45.7%
104 - 200 783 129315 0.3% 0.3% 12.0%
201 - 500 1.234 435620 0.9% 0.9% 18.9%
501 - 1000 4653 531.731 1.1% 1.1% 10.0%
1001 - 2000 364 576492 1.2% 1.2% 5.6%
2001 - 5000 285 914,293 1.8% 1.8% 4.4%
SO01 - 10000 95 712,304 1.4% 1.4% 1.5%
10001 - 20000 48 703,761 1.4% 1.49% 0.7%
20001 - 50000 26 04,856 1.8% 1.8% 0.4%
50001 - 100000 10 A& 016 1.3% 1.3% 0.2%
100001 - 200000 10 1,454,588 3.0% 3.0% 0.2%
200001 - 500000 12 3.831.8466 7% 7.T% 0.2%
500001 - 1000000 5 3.500.585 7.105% 0% 0.1%
1000001 - 4000000 & 13412994 26.9% 26.9% 0.1%
A000001 - 3 16,940,665 33.9% 33.9% 0.0%
Anonymaus awnership 5112079 1001% 10.1%

TOTAL 4513 49,941,584 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
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ww=== Board of Directors’ Report

The Beoard of Directors and the CEQ of Calliditas Therapeutics AB (publ), with its registered affice, in Stockhalm,
Sweden and Corporate Registrabion Mumber 55465%-97 64, hereby submit the Annual Report and consolidated
financial statements for the fiscal year 2020. All amounts are expressed in SEK millions unless otherwise stated.

Multi-Year Summary, Group

2019 2018 2017 2008
Met sales (SEK in thousands) 874 184,829 - -
Loss before income tax (SEK in thousands) 436,151) [32,501) (132,049} (86,794) [56,912)
Total assets (SEK in thousands) 1,508,450 845,200 &AB.A1T 62,288 27298
Equity ratio at the end of the vear (%) BO% F3% 5% 53% Meg
Aecerage number of employess 23 14 10 10 o
Multi-Year Summary, Parent Company

2019 2018 2017 2016
Met sales (SEK in thousands) 874 184 829 - -
Loss bkefore income tax {(SEK in thousands) (407 3&3) [346,188) {131.923) (B6,848) (58.313)
lotal assets (SEK in thousands) 1,318,525 838,249 651,633 65,366 30,325
Equity ratio at the end of the vear (%) D45, 4% 959 55% Meg
Average number of employees 15 13 10 g a2

For definiticns of key higures. see Note 32 Key Figure Definiticns ard Recanciliations of Alternative Performance Measures an page 67,

Operations Results from Part & of the Phase 3 clinical study have
Calliditas Therapeutics is a bio-pharmaceutical shown that Nefecon has the potential to preserve renal
campany based in Stockholm, Sweden focused on function in patients with lgA nephropathy by targeting
identifying, developing and commercializing nowvel the arigin of the disease. The study showed a statis-
treatments in arphan indications, with an inital focus Heally significant and clinically relevant reduction in

an renal and hepatic diseases with significant unmet protein urine levels, ie the level of protein in the urine,
medical needs. Calliditas’ lead product candidate, and a stabilization of the glormerular filtration rate
Mefecon, is a proprietary, novel oral formulation of {("eGFR™), a measure of renal functon. Proteinuria is an
budesanide, an established, highly potent local immu accepted marker for identifying and monitoring kidney
nosuppressant, for the treatment of adults with the disease. This marker indicates damage to the kidney's
autaimmune renal disease primary 1gA nephropathy filtration function which results in protein leaking into
(lgAmM), for which there is a high unmet medical need the urine. Calliditas intends to commercialize Nefecon in
and there are no approved treatments. Calliditas the Linited States by itself and through partnerships in
has recently read out topline data from Part A of its the rest of the world. In 2020, Calliditas focused mainly
global Phase 3 study in IgAN and, if approved, aims ta on the development of Mefecon and the ongoing pivotal
commercialize Mefecon in the United States. Callid- Phase 3 study MNeflgArd, and in November 2020, a posi-
itas is also planning to start clinical trials with NOX tive reading of top line data from Part A of the Neflgard
inhibitors in primary biliary cholangitis and head and study was anncunced. The results were statistically
neck cancer in 2H 2021, Calliditas is listed on Nasdag significant and clinically relevant: proteinuria showed a
Stockholm {ticker: CALTX) and the Masdaq Global 31% reduction compared to baseling, a stranger effect
Select Market (Hcker: CALT). Visit www.calliditas.com than seen in the phase 2b study (27%). In addition,

for further information, eGFR was stabilized in the treated patient population,

which is ultimately the real treatment goal.
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During the fourth quarter of 2020, Calliditas also
completed the acquisition of a majority stake in the
French listed company Genkyotex 54, which operates
in NOX inhibitors.

The Group had limited revenues in 2020 of SEK 0.9
million and the Group is until Nefecon starts generating
revenues depending on external financing to ensure
continued operations. During the year, a listing was
carried out with an associated new issue on Nasdag
Global Select Market in the LS., which raised a total of
SEK 891.4 million before issue costs.

The Group consists of the Parent Company Calliditas
Therapeutics AB, the U.5. subsidiary Calliditas Thera-
peutics Inc, the French subsidiary Genkyotex SA and
the Swedish subsidiary Mefecon, where there is no
ongoing operations.

Significant Events During the Year

Paositive opinion on the Paediatric Investigation Plan

In January 2020, EMA Paediatric Committee (PDCO)
adopted a positive opinion on the Paediatric Investiga-
tion Plan (PIP) for Nefecon for the treatment of primary
lgA nephropathy.

Extra General Meeting

In March 2020, Calliditas held an Extra General
Meeting where authorization for the Board of Directors
to issue up to 11 million new shares for a potential
equity offering and listing in the United States was
approved. At the meeting the adoption of new articles
of association and the adoption of a new incentive
program were also approved.

COVID-19 pandemic update

In April 2020, Calliditas anticipated that the COVID-19
pandemic would not significantly impact the ongoing
clinical activities related to NeflgArd study. This was
due to the facts that Part A of the study was fully
recruited in December 2019, that Nefecon is an oral
formulation which patients are able to take at home,
and that the trial is global and requires limited interac-
tion among participants and the healthcare system. The
overall impact of the COVID-1% pandemic on the study
has been limited.

Initial public offering on The Nasdaq Global Select Market
in the U.5.

In June 2020, Calliditas completed an initial public
offering on The Masdag Global Select Market in the
United States, which was completed by the issuance
of 9,230,770 new common shares for gross proceeds
of approximately LUSD 20 million (approximately SEK

828 million) before deduction of issuance costs.
Trading of the ADSs on The Nasdag Global Select
Market commenced on June 5, 2020, under the symbol
“CALT™ In July, 2020, the exercise of the partial over-
allotment option from the IPO on The Nasdaqg Global
Select Market was completed. Calliditas was thereby
provided with additional gross proceeds of approxi-
mately USD 6.9 million [approximately SEK &3 million),
which means that Calliditas has been provided with in
total approximately USD 946.9 million (approximately
SEK 891 million) in gross proceeds from the U.S. IPO
before deduchion of issuance costs.

Positive topline results from Part A of the global Phase 3
clinical trial NeflgArd

In Movermber 2020, Calliditas announced positive
topline results from Part A of the global Phase 3 clinical
trial MeflgArd, which investigated the effect of Nefecon
wversus placebo in patients with primary lgA nephropathy
(lgAMN).

The trial met its primary objective of demonstrating

a statistically significant reduction in urine protein
creatinine ratio, UPCR or proteinuria, after nine months
of treatment with 16 mg of Nefecon compared to
placebo, and also saw significant continued improve-
ment at 12 months. The trial also met the key secondary
endpoint showing a statistically significant difference

in estimated glomerular filtration rate eGFR after

nine months of treatment with Nefecon compared

to placebo. Collectively the efficacy data from nine
months of treatment with 1& mg of Nefecon indi-
cated a significant and beneficial effect on key factors
correlated to the progression to end stage renal disease
(ESRD) for IgAN patients.

On the basis of these results, Calliditas submitted

for accelerated approval with the US Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) in March 2021 and plan for a
submission for conditional approval with the European
Medicines Agency in Q2 2021.

Acquisition of Genkyotex SA

In Movemnber 2020, Calliditas acquired a controlling
interest in Genkyotex SA, a biopharmaceutical
company specializing in NOX therapies with offices in
France and Switzerland. Its unique platform enables
the identification of orally available small-molecules
which selectively inhibit specific NOX enzymes that
amplify multiple disease processes such as fibrosis

and inflamma-tion. The purpose of the acquisition is it
adds a late-stage orphan pipeline asset and platform in
inflammation and fibrosis to Calliditas praduct portfolio
in orphan diseases.
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After the acquisition of the controlling interest, a
mandatory simplified cash tender offer was launched
and after the end of the acceptance period Callid-

itas contralled 86.2% of the shares in Genkyotex,

The acguisition costs, excluding transaction costs,

for the 86.2% amounted to EUR 27.8 million {(SEK
2870 million). In addition to this there are a potential
future milestone payment relating to contingent rights
amounting ta a maximum of ELR 55 million, subject to
future regulatory approvals of setanaxib.

Sales and Earnings

Sales amounted to SEK 0.9 million and SEK 1848
millian for the years ended December 321, 2020 and
2017, respectively, The sales derive in its entirety from
the delivery of Mefecon to China as part of the license
agreement with Everest Medicines from 20179,

Research and development expenses

Expenses for research and development amounted to
S5EK 241 .4 million and 5EK 142.8 million for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 20179, respectively. The
increase is mainly explained by the increased activity in
the Meflgdrd studies and increased costs for Nefecon's
product development compared with the previous year.

Administrative and selling expenses

Adrinistrative and selling expenses amounted ta SEK
141.7 millian and SEK 2.2 million for the years ended
DCecember 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The
increase compared with the previous year is mainly due
to the commercial preparations for a potential future
launch of Mefecon in the USA. and related persannel
costs, as well as costs related to the parallel listing and
the acguisition of Genkyotex 52

Other operating income / expenses

Other operating income amounted to SEK 2.5 million and
LEK 4.4 million for the vears ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively and mainly pertains to currency gains on
aperating receivables. MNo other operating expenses were
recognized during the vear (SEK 4.5) million.

Financial income / expenses

Financial income amounted to SEK 0.5 million and SEK
0.9 for the vears ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively and mainly pertains to interest income

an financial assets. Financial expenses amounted to
SEK 57.0 million and SEK 5.4 for the yvears ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively and
primarily derived by unrealized foreign currency
transaction losses on cash accounts held in LISD,

due to a weakened USD against SEK.

Earnings

For the years ended Decermber 31, 2020 and
December 31, 20192, the Group had a net loss of SEK
4364.5 million and SEK 32,6 million, respectively and
the corresponding loss per share before and after
dilution amounted to SEK 9.64 and SEK (.88 for

the years, respectively. The increase in the loss were
primarily derived from revenues from the out-licensing
of Mefecon for China as part of the license agreement
with Everest Medicines, which aoccurred in 2019,
Furthermore, the increase in the loss were derived from
the increased activity in R&D, increased expenses fram
administration and pre-commercial activities and to the
negabive effect of the net financial income/{expenses).

Liquidity and Financial Position

Cash amounted to SEK %96.3 million and SEK. 753.5
as of December 31, 2020 and 20192, respectively, In
mid-2020, a new issue of 9.9 million shares was carried
out in connection with the US listing. The total issue
amount was SEE 7955 million net after issue costs.

Eguity attributable to equity holders of the Parent
Comparny amounted to SEK 1,210.5 million and SEK
788.1 million as of Decermber 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

Cash Flow

Met cash used for operating activibies was SEK 309.2
million and SEK. 71.0 million far the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Cash flow
used in investing activities was SEK 172.6 million and
18.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively and derives from the acguisition
of Genkyotex 54,

Met cash provided by financing activities was SEK
768.4 million and SEK 198.8 million for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and
arises mainly fram the rights issue in connection with
listing on Masdaq in the USA and exercise of warrant
program 20172020 reduced by the purchase of
shares in Genkyotex 54,

Met increase in cash amounted to SER 2868 million
and SEK 10%.8 million for the years ended December
31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Personnel

The number of employees in the Group were 34 and
14 employees as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, The total number of full-time equivalent
(FTE), including consultants, were 46 and 22 people as
of December 31, 2020 and 201%, respectively.
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The average number of employees were 23 and 14 for
the vear ended Decermber 31, 2020 and 2019, respec
tivehy of which 43% are wormen and 57% are men.

Environment

Calliditas waorks proactively to reduce its adwverse environ-
mental impact and to evolve as a sustainable compary.
Since Calliditas has no sales, Callicitas’ products hawve

no impact on the ervironment. Instead, envircnmental
impact is in the areas of purchasing of products and
services, energy consurmption and travel. Calliditas aims
to cantribute ta sustainable development and is therefore
endeavoring to actively improve environmental perfor-
mance as far as it is economiczlly viable.

Long-Term Incentive Programs

The Group has two warrant programs outstanding,
issued in 2018 and 201%. The warrant program issued
in 2018 was addressed to employees and consultants
and expires in March 2022 and the program issued
2019 was addressed to employees and cansultants and
expires in December 2022, At the time of issuance, the
warrants were priced at market walue in accordance
with the Black & Scholes pricing model. In the program
from 2018 and 2019 the participants cannot exercise
the warrants until the first quarter of 2022 and fourth
quarter 2022 respectively. As of Decermber 31, 2020,
the total number of warrants outstanding, if fully
subscribed, corresponded to 1.279 084 shares,

The Group also has an outstanding option program,
ESOP 2020, The aptions have been granted to the
participants free of charge. The options have a three-
year vesting period from the grant date, provided,

with the usual exceptions, that the participant is still
employed byw/stll provides services to Calliditas. Once
the opticns are eligible for exercise, they can be exer-
cised over a one-year period, Each vested aption enti-
tles the holder to acguire one share in the company at
a predetermined price. The price per share shall corre-
spond to 115% of a weighted average price at which
the comparny's shares are traded on MNasdag Stockholm
during the ten trading days preceding the allotment
date. Exercise of options from ESOP 2020 can take
place at the earliest during the third quarter of 2023, At
the end of the year, 1,089,000 options were allocated,

Calliditas also has two long-term incentive programs far
board members of Calliditas, LTIP 2019 and LTIP 2020,
Participants in the programs will be allocated perfar-
mance-based share awards free of charge. The share
awards in LTIP 2019 are subject to performance-based
earnings based on the development of Callidita's share
price during the period from the date of the 201%
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Annual General Meeting to June 1, 2022, The share
awards in LTIP 2020 are subject to performance-based
eamings based on the development of Callidita's share
price during the period from Annual General Meeting
2020 through June 1, 2023,

In total, there were share awards outstanding
corresponding to 82,770 shares at full earnings at
the end of the vear.

For further information about the warrants program,
refer to MNote 10 Share-Based Payments.

Share Capital and Shareholders

The share capital at the end of the year amounted to
SEK 2.0 million, divided into 49 941 584 shares with

a quotent value of SEK 0.04. All shares are ordinary
shares and have an equal right to the company's proft
and =ach share has one vote at the Annual General
Meeting, Since June 29, 2018, Callidita's share has
been admitted to trading an MNasdag Stockholm in

the Mid Cap segment and since June 5, 2020, US
depository receipts have been admitted to trading on
Masdaq Global Select Market in the LS. At the end of
2020, Calliditas had 6,513 (2,835) shareholders and
the ten largest shareholders owned 58.4 (73.0)% of

all outstanding shares. On December 31, 2020, BVF
Partmers LP, Stftelsen Industrifonden, and Linc AB
{Bengt Julander) were the single largest shareholders in
the company, with a total of 6,331,562, 5,772,995 and
4 834,108 shares, respectively, cormesponding to 12.7%,
11.6% and 2.7%, respectively, of the votes and capital,

For further infomation regarding the share, please see
pages 30-31.

Holdings of Treasury Shares and Warrants

Mo shares were held in treasury by Calliditas in 2020,
The subsidiary Mefecon AB holds 1,610,000 warrants
pending any distribution to future participants in the
Board LTIP 2019 and 2020 programs and the ESCOP
2020 program.

Work of the Board of Directors

Calliditas' Board of Directors consists of five Board
members including the Chairman, who is elected far
the period until the 2021 AGM. The Board of Directors
follows a written procedure that is revised on an annual
basis and determined at the first regular Board mecting
avery year. Amoeng ather things, the rules of procedure
govern the function of the Board of Directors as well
as the functions and division of work between the
members of the Board of Directors and the CEOQ.
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In cannection with the Board meeting, the Board of
Directors also establishes the instructions for the CEO,
including financial reporting.

The Board meets in accardance with an annual
schedule. In addition to these board meetings, addi-
tional board mestings may be convened to address
issues that may not be referred to the regular board
meeting. In 2020, the board met 15 times. In addition
to the board meetings, the chairman of the board and
the CEC have a continuous dialogue about the compa-
ny's management,

Guidelines for Executive Remuneration

The executive management for the Group falls within
the provisions of these guidelines. Executive manage
ment refers to the CEO and other members of the
executive management, as well as board members, The
guidelines are forward-looking. i.e. they are applicable
to remuneration agreed, and amendments to remuner-
atian already agreed, after adoption of the guidelines
by the annual general meeting 2020. These guidelines
do not apply to army remuneration decided or approved
by the general meeting. For the most recently adopted
guidelines far remuneration to executive management.
see Mote ¥ Employees and Personnel Costs.

The guidelines’ prometion of Calliditas’ business strategy.
long-term interests and sustainability

Calliditas' business strategy is to progress its lead
candidate Mefecon through Phase 3 clinical devel-
apment and towards regulatory approval and subse-
quent commercialization and licensing. Upon potential
accelerated approval, Calliditas intends to commer-
cialize MNefecon for g8 nephropathy on a standalone
basis in the United States market and through part
nerships in other regions. Calliditas will also selectively
explare line extensions far Nefecon, and other drug
candidates in the pipeline, in other diseases where
there is a strong scientific and clinical rationale and
attractive commercial opportunities, such as in certain
liver diseases. Calliditas may also selectively consider
leveraging the Group's capabilities through accessing
additional product candidates with a strong strategic
and commercial fit with Nefecon for development and
commercialization.

Calliditas’ business strategy and safeguarding of

its long-term interests, including its sustainability,
presumes that Calliditas is able to recruit and retain
qualified personnel. To this end, it is necessary that
Callichitas offers competitive remuneration, These
guidelines enable Calliditas to offer the executive
management a competitive total remuneration.

Types of remuneration, etc.

Calliditas shall offer remuneration in accordance with
market practice which enables the recruitment and
retention of gualifed executives. Remunerations within
the Group shall be based on principles of performance.
competitiveness and fairmess.

The remuneration to the executive management may
consist of fixed remuneration, variable rermuneration,
share and share-price related incentive programs.
pension and other benefits. If local conditions justify
wvariations in the remuneration principles, such varia-
Hons may accur,

The fixed remuneration shall reflect the individual's
responsibility and experience level, The fixed remunera-
tion shall be reviewsd annually.

The variable cash remuneration covered by these
guidelines shall aim at promoting Calliditas” business
strategy and long-term interests, including its sustain-
ability, by for example being clearly linked to the
business strategy or promote the executive's long-term
development. The satisfaction of criteria for awarding
wvariable cash remuneration shall be measured over a
period of aone year. Variable remuneration paid in cash
may not exceed 60 percent of the annual fixed cash
salary. Wariable remunerations shall be connected to
predetermined and measurable criteria, designed with
the aim of promating the Group's long-term value
creation. To which extent the criteria for awarding vari-
able cash remuneration has been satisfied shall be ewval-
uated/determined when the measurement period has
ended. The Remuneration Committee is responsible far
the evaluation so far as it concerns variable remunera-
fian to the CEOQ and to other executives, For inancial
objectives, the evaluation shall be based on the latest
financial information made public by the Group.

Pension shall be prermium based. VWariable cash remu-
neration shall not gualify for pension benefits. For

the CEO and other executives, the premium may, in
situations where premium-based pension is applicable,
amount to a maximum of 30 percent of the annual
fixed cash salary. Motwithstanding the above, the Board
of Directors is entitled to offer other solutions which, in
terms of cost, are equivalent to the above.

Executives may be awarded customary other benefits,
such as company car, occupational health service, ete,
Such other benefits may amount to not more than 1%
percent of the fixed annual cash salary.
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Long-term share-related incentive plans for employees,
consultants and board members have been imple-
mented in Calliditas. Such plans have been resolved

by the general meeting and are therefore excluded
from these guidelines. For maore information regarding
these incentive plans, including the criteria on which
the outcome depends an, please see https:faswen.
calliditas.se/en/remuneration-2323/.

Between Calliditas and the CEQ, the notice period shall
be twelve months upon notice by the company. Upon
natice by the CEQ, the nobice period is six months, For
other members of the executive management, notice
periods of three to twebve months apply. During the
natice period, narmal cash salaries shall be paid. In
addition, remuneration may be paid for non-compete
undertakings. Such remuneration shall compensate for
Ioss of incame and shall anly be paid in sa far as the
previously employed executive is not entitled to sever-
ance pay. The remuneration shall amount to not more
thar &0 percent of the fixed cash salary at the time

of termination of employment and be paid during the
time the non-compete undertaking applies, howewer
nat for more than twelve months following termination
aof employment.

Far employments governad by rules other than
Swedish, pension benefits and other benefits may be
duly adjusted for compliance with mandatory rules or
established local practice, taking into account, to the

extent possible, the overall purpose of these guidelines.

Salary and employment conditions for employees

In the preparation of the Board of Directors’ proposal
for these remuneration guidelines, salary and employ-
ment conditions for employees of Calliditas have been
taken into account by including information on the
employees’ total income, the components of the remu-
neration and increase and growth rate over time. in the
Remuneration Committee's and the Board of Directors’
basis of decision when avaluating whether the guide-
lines and the limitations set out herein are reasonable.

The decision-making process to determine, review and
implement the guidelines

The Board of Directors has established a Remuneration
Committee. The committee’s tasks include preparing
the Board of Directors' decision to propose guidelines
for excoutive remuneration, The Board of Directors
shall prepare a proposal for new guidelines at least
every fourth vear and submit it to the general meeting.
The guidelines shall be in force until new guidelines
are adopted by the general meeting. The Remuneration
Committee shall also monitor and evaluate programs for
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variable remuneration far the executive management,
the application of the guidelines for executive remu-
neration as well as the current remuneration structures
and compensation levels in the Group. The members
of the Remuneration Committee are independent to
Calliditas and its executive management. The CEOQ and
other members of the executive management do not
participate in the Board of Directors' processing of and
resolutions regarding remuneration-related matters in
50 far as they are affected by such matters.

Derogation from the guidelines

T'he Board of Directors may temporarily resclve to
derogate from the guidelines, in whole orin part, ifin a
speciiic case there is special cause for the derogation

and a derogation is necessary to serve Calliditas' long

term interests, including its sustainakbility, or to ensure the
Group's financial viability, As set out above, the Remuner-
ation Committee's tasks include preparing the Board of
Directors’ resolutions in remuneration-related matters. This
includes any resalutions to derogate from the guidelines.

Risk Management

Calliditas' Board of Directors and management work
continuously to identify and assess risks for the company's
operations and take measures to reduce the effect

of these. Arisk management strategy is drawn up for
every material risk. This wark involves support from
expertise in areas such as regulatory strategies and the
design and implementation of clinical trials.

Risks and Uncertainties

Calliditas' aperations are impacted by a number of factors
that affect the Group's earnings and financial position and
that in certain respects cannot be controlled, in part or in
full, by Calliditas. \When assessing Calliditas' future devel
opment, it is important alongside opportunities for profit
growth to also consider these risks. The most important
material risks and uncertainties in terms of the Group's
future development are listed below, without ary arder
of precedence.

Operational risks

Calliditas main activities are research and develop-
ment of pharmaceuticals, which is an area that isto a
large extent both risky and capital-intensive, Calliditas
has two product candidates in clinical development,
Mefecon and setanaxib, for the treatment of 1g4
nephroapathy and primary biliary cholangifis,
respectively, and there is a risk that the projects will
never reach market registrabion due to the risk that the
drugs do not have sufficient effect or show unwanted
side effects. Bven after a drug has been launched, market
registration can be withdrawn if side effects occur.
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Callichtas conducts clinical studies regarding its product
candidates. Clinical studies are ime-consuming and
caostly and involve risks such as difficulties in finding
clinics, difficulties in recruiting suitable patients, that
the cast per patient exceeds budget and shortcomings
in the performance of the studies by the clinics partic-
ipating in the study. Both Nefecon and setanaxib are
drug candidates with arphan drug classification in lga
nephropathy and primary biliary cholangitis, respec-
tively. The number of suitable patients for clinical trials
is thus lower than for commoen diseases and it may be a
challenge for Calliditas to recruit pabients for the imple-
mentation of the Phase 2/3 study for the treatment of
primary hiliary cholangitis.

If competing drugs take market shares or competing
research projects achieve a better effect and reach the
market faster, the future value of the product portfolio
may be lower than expected. Patent applications filed
by Calliditas may never be approved and approved
patents may be annulled, which may result in Calliditas
losing patent protection. The business is also affected
by government decisions such as approvals and price
changes. There is an ongoing political debate on
perceived overpricing of orphan drugs, especially in the
United States. Thers is a risk that new rules will have a
negative impact on orphan drug prices in the future.

There are also risks regarding the manufacture of the
product where the selected manufacturer may have
problemns delivering sufficient quality and/or quantity
ar lose the necessary permits to manufacture, Part of
Calliditas strategy is to investigate the possibility of
developing products in other indications. Calliditas,
howewver, has not yet conducted any clinical trials in
ather indications. Conducting clinical trials is always
associated with risks related to the implermentation of
the study, the results and the approval of regulatory
authorities, and as a result it is currently uncertain
whether Calliditas ambition to develop products for
treatment for other indications will be realized.

The future spread and mutation of the COVID-19 virus
may impact Calliditas operations. The extent to which
the caronavirus impacts Calliditas operations and the
Meflghrd trial, or ather trials, will depend on the type,
degree and duration of the various restrictions put

in place to contain the virus or treat those affected.
The pandemic may negatively impact our trials as a
result of disruptions, such as travel bans, quarantines,
and inability of patients to access the trial sites and
provide samples as well as interruptions in the supply
chain, which could result in delays and impact on the
data integrity of the trial. The continued spread of the

coranavirus globally, may also negabively affect the
operations of key governmental agencies, such as the
FD&A and EMA, which may delay the development and
approvals of our product candidates, or could result

in the inabkility of our suppliers to deliver components
or raw materials on a timely basis, each of which in
turn could have a negative impact on our business and
results of operations.

Financial risks

A financial palicy for managing financial risks has been
formulated by the Board and forms a framework of
guidelines and rules in the form of risk mandates

and limits for financial operations. Calliditas is mainly
affected by the exchange rate risk, Calliditas has most
of its expected future costs in the U.S. dallars and
Euros. During 2020, Calliditas has hedged currency
risk with currency options in accordance with current
financial policy and holds parts of the cash and cash
equivalents in US dollars to reduce future currency
exposure to US dollars. The finance policy is updated at
least once a year.

Parent Company

The Group's Parent Company is Calliditas Therapeutics
AB. Qperations and accounting in the Parent Company
is aligned in all material respects with the operations
and accounting of the Group. Met profit for the yvear
and the financial position of the Parent Company are
aligned in all material respects with the Group's which
is why the cornments for the Group are in all material
respects also valid for the Parent Company. For the
years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31,
201%, the Parent Company had a net loss of SEK 407 4
million and SEK 36,2 million, respectively,

The Parent Campany had cash of SEK 9782 million
and SEK 752.5 million as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively.

Outlook

Callidita's drug candidate Nefecon has great market
potential. Mefecon is currenthy in a Phase 3 clinical trial
far lzA nephropathy which may be the basis for market
approval. Pasitive top-line data were read out during
the fourth quarter of 2020 fram Part & of the regis-
tration-based Phase 3 study and after the end of the
periad in March 2021, an application was submitted for
approval to the FDA in the USA, The business is capital
intensive and until MNefecon will kring in steady income,
external financing will be required. In 2020, a new
share issue of a total of SEK 8714 million was carried
out before issue costs and the conditions are therefore
good for Calliditas that Calliditas can carry out
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a commercialization of Mefecon in the USA, subject to
approval. The project thus requires a significant market
wvalue at present.

Proposed appropriation of the company's earnings
Proposed appropriation of earnings

The following earnings [TSEK) are at the disposal of the
Annual General Meeting,

Share premium reserve 2116721
Retained earmings (473 377
Met loss for the year (407,363)

1,229.979

The Board of Directors proposes that SEK 1,229.979
thousand is carried forward.

Dividend policy

Any future dividend and the size thereof, will be deter-
mined based on long-term growth, earnings trends
and capital requirements of Calliditas. It is the view of
the Board of Directors that Calliditas should prioritize
progression of the development program, and until

the future commercial launch of Nefecon, financial
resources should mainly be used to finance Calliditas’
development programs. In view of company's financial
position and negative earmings, the Board of Directaors
daoes not intend to prapose any dividend before the
company generates long-term sustainable profits and
positive cash flow. Dividends shall, as far as a dividend is
proposed, be balanced with regard to the business risk.

The Board of Directors proposes, in view of dividend
palicy, that no dividend will be paid for the 2020
financial yvear.

For more information on the Group and Parent Compa-
my's earnings and financial pasition, refer the following
staterments of income and financial position, changes in
shareholders' equity and cash flows with accompanying
supplementary disclosures.
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I GROUP

Consolidated Statements of Income

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

- 2ot

MNet sales 3 874 184 829
Research and development expenses 9,10 (241,371) (149 824)
Administrative and selling expenses 6.8.9.10 (141,724) (62, 882)
Other operating income 4 2,501 4385
Other operating expenses 5 - (4,525)
Operating loss 7 [379.720) (28,019)
Financial income 11 S47 PR
Financial expenses 12 [56,278) {5.408)
Loss before income tax (436,151) (32,501)
Income tax expense 13 [360) [77)
Loss for the year (436,511) (32,578)
Attributable to:

Equity halders of the Parent Company (433.494) (32,578)

MNon-controlling interests (3,017) -

[4356,511) (32,578)

Loss per share

Before and after dilution to ordinary equity holders of the Parent

Company 14 [9.668) {0.88)
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GROUP

Consolidated Statements
of Comprehensive Income

Year Ended December 31,

S— ot -

Loss for the year {434,511) (32,578)

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive incomeflass) that may be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 21,25 {2.352) (11}

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods (9.352) (11)

Other comprehensive income/{loss) that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
in subseguent periods:

Rerneasurerment gain on defined benefit plans 7 1,215

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not be reclassified to profit

or loss in subsequent periods 1,216 -
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (8,137) (11)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (444 648) (32.589)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent Company [438,343) (32.589)
Man-cantralling interests {6.305)
(444.648) (32,589)
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I GROUP

Consolidated Statements
of Financial Position

December 31,

[SEH in thousands) Mate 2015
ASSETS
Mon-current assets
Intangible assets 15,16 461 3567 16,0646
Eguipment 17 143 104
Right-of-use assets & 5244 5959
Mon-current financial assets 18,20, 30 2.225 1,939
Deferred tax assets 19 | SO0 =
Total non-current assets 469,599 24,068
Current assets
Accounts receivables 44,586
Other current assets 20 22801 271%
Prepaid expenses 2z 17 744 18287
Cash 23 Q04,304 753,540
Total current assets 1,034,851 821,132
TOTAL ASSETS 1,506,450 845,200
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 25
Share capital 1,998 1,548
Additional paid-in capital 2133179 1.274 A6
Reserves {¢,0%0) [45)
Retained earnings including net loss for the year [918,574] (488 096)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 1.210491 788,071
Mon-centrolling interests 45,809 =
Total equity 1,256,300 788,071
Mon-current liabilities
Provisians 15,26 55,351 175
Pension liabilities 27 82746
Deferred tax labilities 15,1% 73974 -
Other non-current liabilities 820 878 3,584
Total non-current liabilities 144 531 3,759
Current liabilities
Accounts payable M0.21 53,827 24,384
Current tax liabilities 518 77
Other current liabilities g.20 G HER 3,394
Accrued expenses and deferred revenue 28 | 41 384 25,515
Total current liabilities 105,619 53,370
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,506,450 845,200
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GROUP

Consolidated Statements

of Changes in Equity

Attributable to the Equity Holders of the Parent Company

Share

Total Eguity

(SEK In thousands) ULLCE  Capital | Paid-in Capital
Opening equity January 1, 2019 1408 1,072,319 {34) (455,518) 618,175 - 618,175
Loss For the year i = [32,578) (32,578) (32,578}
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year - = 11} B (111 (11p
Total comprehensive loss for the
year - # (11) (32,578) (32,589 - 132,589)
Transactions with owners:
Mew share issue 140 210177 210,317 210317
Costs attributable to new share
issue - {10,915} (10.915) {10.915)
Premiums from warrants issuance 10 - 2,834 2834 2834
Share-based pavments 10 - 249 = 249 249
Total transactions with owners 140 202,245 - - 202,485 - 202,485
Closing equity December 31, 2019 1,548 1,274,664 (45) (488,096) 788,071 - 788,071
Opening equity January 1, 2020 1,548 1,274,664 (45) (488,098) 788,071 - 783,071
Loss for the year - - - {433.494) (433.494) (3017 (434511)
Oither comprehensive income/{loss)
for the year - - [6.045) 1,196 [4.849) [3.288) (8.137)
Total comprehensive loss for the
year = - [6,045) (432,298) (438,343) | (6,305) (444,648)
Transactions with owners:
Mew share issue g7 B20,790 891,388 891,388
Costs attributable to new share
[ES=TNT=] {P7.686) (F7.686) (F7.686)
Exercise of warrants 52 52,199 - - 59,251 59.251
Share-based payments 10 - &.012 - - &,012 - 4012
Mon-controlling interests from
business combinations 15 - - - - -| 136,084 134,084
Purchase of non-contralling
interests - - - 1,798 1,798 | (83270} (82.172)
Total transactions with owners 449 858,515 - 1,798 860,763 | 52114 912877
Closing equity December 31, 2020 10,1525 1,998 2,133,179 (6,090) (918,596) 1,210,491 ( 45802 1,256,300
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I GROUP

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

(5K i et - 2019

Operating activities

Operating loss (379, 720) [28.01%)
Adjustments for non-cash items 23 15465 2,308
Interest received 1,212 P26
Interest paid {393) [325)
Income taxes paid {528)

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital - {363.264i 1 (25,110)

Cash flow from changes in working capital

Changes in operating receivables 8033 [53,546)
Changes in operating liabilities 45050 745
Cash flow from operating activities (309,181) (71,011)
Investing activities

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 15 (172 602)

Purchase of equipment 17 - [118)
Investments in non-current financial assets 18 (%) (1.888)
Purchase of intangible asscts 16 £ [16,066)
Cash flow from investing activities (172,607) (18,072)
Financing activities

Mew share issue 891,388 210,317
Costs attributable to new share issue (95, 237] [10.%15)
Transaction costs, paid & (1,748)
Exercise of warrants 59,251

Premiums from warrants issuance 2834
Purchase of non-contralling interests (82,172}

Repayment of loans 3.772) (1.652)
Cash flow from financing activities 768,558 198,835
Met increase/(decrease) in cash 286,770 109.752
Cash at beginning of the year 753,540 646,175
Exchange-rate difference in cash (44,004) [2,387)
Cash at the end of the year 23 996,304 753,540
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GROUP

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Description of Business

Calliditas Therapeutics AB {publ) ("Calliditas” ar the *Parent Company'], with
corporate registration number S56465%-9745, and its subsidiaries (collec-
twely, the "Group”) conduct development activities in pharmaceuticals.
These consolidated financial statements encompass the Group, domiciled
in Stockhodm, Sweden, and its subsidiaries for the year ended December
31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, Calliditas & clinical-stage biopharma
ceulical company facused on identifying, developing and commencializing
navel treatments in arphan indications, with an initial facus an renal ard
hepatic dissases with significant unmet medical needs. The registered
address of the corporate headouarters is Kungsbran 1, CB. Stockhodm.
Sweden,

Calliditas was founded as a public limited liability company wunder the
laws of Sweden on February 20, 2004 under the narme Pharmalink AB
and registered with the Swedish Campanies Registratian Qifice on Apeil
15, 2004 A5 of December 31, 2020, Calliditas is the Parent Comgany

of three subsidiaries located in Sweden, France and in the United States,
The Swedish subsiclany is Mefecan AB which is conducting na aperating
activities, The subsidiary in the United States is Calliditas Therapeutics Inc
wihich i canducting pre-cammercialization activities in the United States.
I Mowember 2020, Calliditas acquired a controfling interest in Genkyotex
S& located in France. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Pharmalink
Cincology &5 ceased through voluntary liquidation, as no operations wers
conducted.

The Board of Directoes (the "Board™) approved, and authorized for issuance,
these consalidated financial statements an April 27, 2021, which will be
presented for adoption at the Annual General Meeting on May 27, 2021

Mote 1 Significant Accounting Policies

Basis for Preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Internaticral Financial Reperting Standards (IFRS) published by
the International Accounting Standards Board (1ASE] a5 adopted by the
European Unian {ELI. bn additian, the consalidated financial statements
carmply with the recommendatian of the Swedish Financial Reporting Board
RFR 1. Supplementary Accounting Regulations for Groups.

The accounting policies stated bebow have. unless atherwise stated, been
applied consistently ower all periods presented in the consalidated fnancial
statements. The Group's accounting policies have been applied consistently
b the Group's companies. The consalidated financial statements provide
cormparative infoemation in respect of the previows period.

Functional Currency and Reporting Currency

The Parent Comgany's funchicns! currency is Swedish Kronor (SEK) which
i also the presentation currency of the Graup. This means that the hnan-
cial statements are presented in Swedish keonor (SEK) and all amounts,
unless otherwize stated, are rounded to the nearest thousand (SEK O000=).

Basis for Valuation and Current versus Non-Current Classification

The corsolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical
cast basis, except for certain fimancial assets (including dervative financial
instrument) and contingent consideration that have been measured at. fair
wakue through profit or loss

The Sroup presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial paosi-
tion based on currentmon-ourrent classification. An asset is current when it
is expected to he realized within bewebse months after the reporting period.
All other assets are classified as mon-curment. A liability is cument when it

is due to be settled within twehee months after the reporting period. The
Group classifes all other liahilities as non-current.

Basis for Consolidation

The consaliclated financial statements comprise the financial statements of
the Parent Compary and its subsidianies as of December 31, 2020, Control
is achieved when the Parent Company has power over the investes, the
Parent Company is exposed to or has rights to variabée returms from its
imvohvement in the investee, and the Parent Company has the ability to use
its power over the investes to affect the amount of the imsestor's returms,
wihich normally means that the Parent Company awns more than half of
the rumber of votes for all of the shares and participations.

The Group re-assesses whether or mot it controls am investee if facts and
cincurmstances indicate that there are changes of the contral. Consolidation
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains contral over the subsid-
fary and ceases when the Group loses controd of the subsidiany. Assets,
labilifies, income and expenses of a subsidiary acguired or disposed of
euring the vear are incluced in the consalidated fimamcial statements fram
the date the Growp gains control urtil the date the Group ceases to contral
the subssdiary.

All subsidiaries are consolidated using the acquisition method. The cost
of an acguisition is measured a5 the fair value of assets that have been
provided as payment along with any liabilities taken owver or which hawve
arisen at the acquisition date. With the acouisition method, the fair value
of acquired identifiable assets, assumed lizbilities amd contingent lizhilities
ina business combination, regasdless of the scope of any ron-contralling
nterest, are measured af fair value as of the acguisition date. Ay surplus
arising froen the difference betwesn cost and fair value of identifalbe
acquired assets, labilides and contingent labilibes is recognized as good-
weill. If the cost amaunt is less than the fair value of the acouired net assets,
it s remcognized in the consolidated statements of income.

Zubsidiaries that were acquired during the financial year are included in the
consolidated financial statements as soon as the controlling interest has
been transferred to the Group., Subsidiares that were disposed durng the
financial vear are included in the corsalidared financial statements wup until
the date when the controlling interest na konger exists,

For sach business combinabion, the Group elects whether to measure the
mar-cantralling interests in the acquires at fair value ar at the propor-
tionate share of the acguires's identifable net assets. Acguisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred and inclueded in administrative and =elling
expenses inthe consolidated statements of income.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without 2 loss af
controd, is accounted for as an equity transaction

All intra-grown assets and liabslities, equity, income, experses and cash
owes redating to transactans between members of the Group are elimi-
rated in full on consalidation.

Mew and Amended Standards and Interpretations

Updated standards and interpretations from IASE and IFRIC interpretations
that came into effect for the year ended Decembsr 31, 2020 have had

no material impact on the Group. The Group bas not earty adopted any
standards. interpeetations or amendments that have been issued but are
ot yet effective.

Future Standards and New Interpretations

Qither future ar altered standards or interpretatons that the 1858 has
published are not expected to have any significant impact an the finandal
statements for the Group.

Revenus

The Growup recognizes revenus as the identified performance abligations
are performed, The Growg's revenes for the year ended December 31,
2020 consisted of revenues far the delivery of trial-related drugs within the
framework of the cut-licensing of Nefecan in connectian with the agree-
rment with Everasst Medicines to Greaber Ching and Singapore, Revenue
far the provision of drugs for canducting dinical trials was recognized at a
point in time, which occurred when control over the drug was transferred
ta Everest Medicines. Calliditas has completed all performance obligations
within the agreement as of the delivery of study-related drugs to Everest
tMedicines for the year ended December 31, 2020 Variahle remuneration
{for example, attributable to future regulatory milestones) is not included
in the transaction price while these is significant ncertainty as to whether
these will pocur, Revenue is recognized when these milestones ooour,
Compensation attributable to sales-based milestomes or rovalties are not
recognized until the sale that results in the right to milestones or royaities
arises,

Financial Income

Financial income consists of interest income and foreign exchange gains.
Interest incame i= recognized in accordance with the effective interest
method. Effective interest is the interest that discounts estimated future
receipts and payments during a financial instrument's anticipated duration
ta the financial asset’s or Rability's recognized net value,
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GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

The cabculation contains all costs induded in the effective interest paid by the
parties to the contract, ransaction costs and all other premiurs and discounts.
Divicderwls received are recognized when the rght to receive a dividend has
been established, Foreian exchange gains and losses are netied

R h and Devels

Research and development expenaes consist primarily of costs mcumed

fer the Group's development actvities. including the develepment of the
Group's product candidates. The Group expenses research and develop-
ment costs &5 incurred. The Group recognizes external development costs
based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks
using information provided by Calliditas” service providers. Payments for
these activities are basad on the terms of the individual agreements, which
iy differ from the pattern of costs incurred, and are reflected in the
cansolidated financial statements as a prepaid expense or accrued expense,
Research and developrient tax credits are recognized in Sweden and in
France, In Sweden tax credits are recognized on social seourity costs and in
France tax credits are recognized an accredited supplicrs. These research
and deselopment tax credits are recognized as an offset to research and
development expenzes in the conzaolidated statements of income.

Administrative and Selling

Administrative and selfing expenses consist of salaries and other related
casts for personnel in the Group's executive, finance, corporate and
business development and administrative funcans. Administrative and
selling experses also incude professional fees for legal, patent. accounting.
auditing. tax and consulting services, related mavel expenses and facility-re-
lated expenses, which include albacated esperses far rent and maintenance
of facilites and other operating costs.

Employee Benefits

Short-term benefits

Current employes benefits such as salaries, sacial security casts. vacation
pay and bonuses are expensed during the periodd inowhich employees
perform the senvice.

Pensions

The Group has both defined-contribution and dehned-benefit pension
plars, and most employees are covered by and recognized in the
defined-contribution pension plans. Empdoyees in France and Switzerland
are covered by defined-benefit pensicn plans. All other employess viere
covered by defined-contribution pension plans. See Mote 27 Pension
Liahilities for more information.

Defined-contribution pension plans

A defired-contribution pension plam is a pension plan accoeding to which
the Group pays fixed premiums ta 2 separate legal entity, The Group does
nat have sy legal ar informal ebligation to pay further premioms i this
legal entity does not hawve sufficient assets to pay the full remuneration to
employess carespording to their service during the current or previous
pericds. The Group therefore has mo further risk. The Group's abligations
relating to fees for defined-contribution plans are expensed in profit or loss
as they are accrued due to the employee perfarming services for the Group
T @ peTiod.

Defined-benefit pension plans

In dlefined-beneht pans, the pension is determined a5 a percentages of

the pensionable final salary, based on the emplayess length of service

and average final salary. The Group is responsible for ensuring that the
established benefts are paid aut. The defined-beneht pension obligations
are recognized in the consolidated statements of Ainancial position as the
net total of the estimabed present value of the obligations and the fair value
of the plan assets, which are recognized as a prowision or a non-ourrent
financial receivahle. For defined-benefit plans, pension expense and
cammitments are caloulated using the applicable principles of 1AS 19, This
calculation is performed annually by independent actuaries. The Group's
caoligations are measured at the presert value of expected fubere payments.

Actuarial gains and losses may arise in connection with the determination
of the present value of the abligations and the fair value of plan assets.
These arise either because the fair value differs from the previous assump-
tion. or the assumptions change. Sctuarial gains and losses are recognized
in the consalidated staternents of comprehensive income in the period in
wihich they arise. Interest experse, kess the estimated returm on plan assets,
is chassified as a financial expense. Other coast items in the pension experse
arg charged 1o aperating profit,

Severance pay

A epends for remuneratian in canfection with terminabion of employ-
ment of personnel is recognized onby if the Group is committed, without
any realiztic possibiliby of withdrawal, by 2 formal detailed plan to eliminate
a position in advance of when that position would normally expire. When
remuneration is paid as an offer to encourage voluntary termination of
employment, the cost is recognized if it is probable that the offer will be

accepted and the number of employess that will accept the affer can be
relizhly astimated.

Share-based payments in the Group refers to opticn programs and
performance-based share award programs, which are regulated by equity
mstruments. in cases where the fair value of the instrument exceeds what
the employee paid, the difference is recognized as a personnel cost, The
fair walue of options is determined at the allotment date using the Black-
Scholes model for pricing of aptions. The valuation of the performance
=share awards i= based on a discounted maodel with Monte Carlo simulation
aof the share price's development for the share-related parts and with
estimated probahilities for the outcome of the market conditions, The cost
s recognized, together with a correspanding increase in edity, during the
period in which the service conditions are met, up to and including, the
date onwhich the employess cancerned are fully eligibde for compensation,

Sacial security costs attributable ta equity-related instruments to
employees as remuneration for purchased services shall be espensed over
the periods during which the services are performed. The cost should then
be measured using the same waluation model used when the opticns were
msued. The provision recognized must be revalued at each reporting period
an the basis of a calculation of the social security costs that may be paid
when the instruments are resalved.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contsing, & lease. That is, if the contract comeeys the right to cantral the use
af an identifed asset for a period of Sme inexchange for consideration.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leaszes, except for short-term leases and leases of lowe-value assets. The
Graup recognizes lease liabilities for future remaining lease payments ard
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognizes rght-of-use assets at the commencement date of
the lease (i, the date the underlyving asset is available for usel. Right-
af-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasuement of lease liabilites.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognized. initial direct costs incurred, and kease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are depreciabed on a straghi-Eoe hasis over the estimatec]
kease term which currenthy s bz to three wears for the Groue's leases.

Lease Tobilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease
liahilicies measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include feed payments less amy lease
incemntives receivable and variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the commencement cate, because
the interest rate implicit in the lease s not readily determinalyle, Folloawing
the comimencement date, the amaunt of kease liabilities is increased to
reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the Iease payrments made.
In acldition, the carmyang amount af lease liabdibes is remeasured if thene

s @ modification, a change in the kease term, or 3 change in the lease
payments (=g, changes to future payments resulbing from a charge inan
index or rate used to determine such lease payments). The Group's lease
liabilicies are included in other non-current liahilites and other current
liabilities in the consclidated statements of financial position {see Mowe 8
Leases and 20 Financial and Mon-Financial Assets ancd Liabdlities),

Shert-term leoses and leases of low-value gssets

The Group applies the short-term lease recogniticn exemphion o its
short-term lesses of eguipment (e, those leases that have a lease term of
beelve manths or less from the commentement date). It alsa applies the
bease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office eguip-
ment that are considered to ke low value. Lease payments an short-term
keases and leases of low value assets are recognized as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Financial Expenses

Financial experses mainly consist of realized and ynrealized losses an
fareign exchange derivative instruments andd unrealized fareign exchange
kagses, Foreign exchange gains and losses are netted,

Tanes

Income tax comprises cument tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recog:
mized in net profit for the year, except when the underkying transaction i=s
recognized in other comprehensive income or equity with the related tas
effect recagnized in ather comprehensive income and in eguity.
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Current tax is the tax that is to be paid or received in the curment year, with
the application of the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. Current tax also includes
adjustrents of current tax amributable 1o prior periccds,

Creferred tax Is recognized an all temporary differences that arise between
e tax walue af assets and Rabilites and their carrying amounts, Temparary
differences attributable to participations in Group companies is not
recognized, since it is unlikely that such a reversal will take place in the
foresesable future.

The valuation of deferred tax is based an how the underlying assets or
liahilities are expected to be realized ar settled. Deferred tax is measurec
with the application of the tax rates and tax rules decided or announced
on the closing date, amd that are expected to apply when the deferred tax
asset in question is realized or the deferred tax lakdlity is sertbed, Deferred
tax labilities and deferred tax assets are offset as tar as possiole within the
framewark af kacal lews and regulations on taxation.

Deferred tax assets on deductible termporary differences and loss
carryforeards are recognized onby to the extent that it is probable that it
will be possible to utilize the=s, or to the extent that there are temparary
differences which these can he utilized to offset. A provision for deferred
tax assets will be recognized when it is no longer deemed probable that
theey can be urilized,

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets in the Group cansist of licerses and smilar fghts and
poodwill.

The acqui=ition of Genkyotex SA resulted in the Group acquiring the right=
to the NOX platformn and the vaccine platform (S1L agreement), as well as
goochadll,

The MO platform, ncluding the kzad compeound setanaxib, enables the
identification of arally availanle smrall malecules whech selectvely inhibit
specific NOX enaymes that amplify muitiple disease processes such as
fibrasi= and inflammation. The vaccine platfarm [SIL agreemendt) is an
out-licerse agreement with Serum Institube of India (5L} for the use of a
waccine technology.

In the priar year the Group had acquired the product candidate Budena-
falk 3 mg oral capsule from the German pharmaceutical company Dr Falk
Pharma GrmbH for development of the pipeline partfolio refated to arphan
liver disease, such as AlH, in the United States,

Imtangibde assets with a Anite useful life are recegnized at initial recognition
at cost lews accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment
losses. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized owver the useful
economic life amd assessed for impaimment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. VWhen determining the amortized
amount of the assets, the residuzl wabue of the asset i taken into accownt,
wihien applicable,

Goaadwill

Goadwill arising in 2 business combination comprises the difference
betwien the oost of the business cormbination and the fair value af den-
tifiable assets acguired, lisbilities assumed, and any contingent liabilities
recognized at the acquisition date. Goodwill on business combinations is
included in intangible assets and measured at cost less amy acoumulated
impairment bosses. Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units,
wihich is the full Grouwp, and tested anmually for impairment requiremsent, or
whenewer therg is anmy indication of impairment. There is no amartization of
goadwill and impairment of gacdwill is not reversed,

Research and develspment expenses

Creselopment expenditures are recogrized 25 an infangible asset when
related development projects meet the criteria for capitalization. The
most important criteria for capitafizabion are that the fimal product of the
development process will generate future economic bernefits or the ahility
of cost-sawings capacity, including the technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset. Research and development expense are otherwise
recognized as operating expenses. Market approval has not vet been
obtained fior the Group's products and, accordingly. the Group desms thar
the canditians for capitalizing develapment expenditures are not met

Armortization

Amortization of the intangible assets beging wher the asset can be used,
that iz, wihen it is in the place and in the condition reguired to be able to
u=e it in the manner intended by the Group's management.

The Group's expected finite useful life is:
- Licgnses and similar rights - &-15 wears
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Until market approval from regulatory authorities has been granted,
amortization of "Licenses and Similar Rights” will not commence. Az market
approwal has not yet been obtained, no ather costs have been capitalized.
Follewing market approsal from regulatcry authoriies, “Licenses and Similar
Righits® will he amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected useful
life, Until & market aparoval of the prociuct has been ablaired, the asset is
assessed for impairment at least ance a year, ar when there is an indication
that the ssset may be impaired.

Equipment

Equipment is recognized in the consolidated statement of Ainancial position
at cost less acoumulated depreciation and impairment. Such cost includes
the cost price and expanses directhy attributalile to the asset. Repairs and
maintenance costs are expensad as incurred, while expenses for improve-
ments are recognized as investments and added to the cost of the asseis.

Anitem of equipment ard any significant part insbially recognized is
derecagnized upon disposal [Le., at the date the recipient obtains contral)
ar when no fubere ecoromic berefits are expected from its wse or disposal,
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal preceeds and the carrying amount

of the asset] is included in the statement of income when the assstis
derecagnized,

Depreciation
Equipreent s depreciated on a straighi-line basis over the expected useful
life,

The Group's expected useful life is:
= Equipment = 5 years

The residual vabues, useful lives, and methad= of depreciaton of eguipment
are reviewed at each financial year and adjusted praspectively, if appro-
priate. If there is an indicatian that an asset needs to be impaired, the assst
s owritten down o its recoveralsle amousnt iF this is lower than the carrying
amauent, The recoverable amount coresponids to the highest of net realiz-
able vabue and walue in use,

Impairment of Mon-Financial Asscts

Coodwill and intangible assets not vet available tor use, are ot amortized
but the Group assesses for impairment at each reporting date, or when
there is an irdication that an asset may be impaired. Equipment that is
depreciated is as=e=sed for impaimment whenewer events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the camrying amount is not recoverable.

Animpairment loss is made by the amount oy which the asset’s carrying
armount exceeds its recoverable amount. An asset's recoverabie amount

is the higher of an asset's or cash generating units’ FCGUY fair value

le=s costs of disposal and its value in use. The recaoverable amount is
determired for an individual asset. unless the asset does mat generate cash
mflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets. Whean the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recow
erable amount, the asset is considered imgaired and is written dowen to its
recoverabls amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
1o their present valee using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
rmarket assessments af the bme value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal. recent market
transactions are taken into account. if na such transactions can be
identified. an appreoriate valuation model is used. These calculations are
corrobarated by valuation multiples, guoted share prices for publicly raded
companies or other available fair value indicators.

The Growp bases its impairment measurement on intangible assers on a
probability-adjusted cash flowe model, The valee of licenses is measured by
estimating the expected future cash flows and present value adjustments
to take into account the develooment risk, The valuation takes into account
cash flow from potential commercizlization during the expected useful

life and does not include caloulation of any residual value thereafter. The
most critical assumpticns mainky consist of assumptions about the timing
of potential commercialization, market size, market share and probahility of
reaching the market.

When assessing the impairment requirement for goodwill, this is grouped
al the lenwest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows,
Calliditas has mace the assessment that the Group's operations & a whobs
comprise a cash-generating unit,

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in the statement

of income in expense categonies canzistent with the function of the
impaired as=sat.
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GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

& previocushy recognized impairment loss is reversed anly if there has been
achange in the assumptions wsed to determine the asset's recoverable
amount since the last impairment boss was recognized. The reversal is
limited sa that the carnying amount of the asset does not exceed irs
recoverable amount, nor excee the carrying amcunt that would have been
determined, net af depreciatian, had ne impalrment kiss been recognized
Four the asset i pniar years,

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

& fnancial instrurment is amy contract that gives rise to a Anancial asset of
one entity and a fimancial lisbility or equity instrument of another entity.
Financial instrsments are classified at inibal recognition, including on the
basis of the purpase for which the instrument was acquired and managed.
This classification determings the valuarion of the nstruments.

Irudtfad thart and measurement of financlal assets

The Group's financial assets corsist of long-term receivables, dervabes,
ether current receivables and cash. all aof which, sxeept dernabves. are
classified at amortized cost. Derivatives are classified at fair value through
proft or loss.

The instruments are classified into:
- Amortized cost, ar
- Fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortized cost are initially measured at fair value

waith the additicn of transaction costs. Fallewing the inital recognition
the assets are messored at amartized cast less a provision far losses

on expected oredit losses. Assets classified at amortized cost are held
according to the business model to collect contractual cash flows that are
only payments of capital armount and interest on the cutstanding capital
amount.

Initial recognition and measurement of financial Nabilities

The Group’s firancial Babilities consist of contingent consideration related
o business combinations, accounts pavable and other current, liabilities, a8l
of which, except contingent consideration, are classified as amorbized oost,
Cantingent consideration related to business combinations is classifed at
fair value through profit ar koss.

The instruments are classified into:
- Amortized cost, or
- Fair valug through profit or loss

Financial liahilities at amorbized costs are initially measured at fair value, net
of transaction costs. Subsequently periads are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest (EIR] method, Firancial lisbilities classified at Fair
walue are measured bath initially and in subsequent periods at fair value in
the Group's consolidated statements of financial pesition, where changes in
fair walue are recognized in the Group's consofidated skatements of income.
The components of the change in fair value relating to exchange rate
effects are recognized in net Ainancial fems and other changes in fair value
are recognized in operating profit or loss,

Recagnition and derecognition

& financial asset o financial lability is recognized in the consoliclated state-
rment of financial position when the Group becomes a party in accordance
waith the cantractual berms of the instrument. Dbt is recopnized when the
counterparty has performed and a contractual obligation exists to pay, even
if an imvaice has not yet been received.

& financial asset i= derecognized from the cons=olidated statement of
financial position when the rights in the agreement are realized, expire ar
the Group loses control of them, & financial Fabiity s derecognized from
the consalidated statement of financial position when the contractual
chligation i fulfilled ar athensise extinguishesd, The same apples to part of
a financial asset or fimancial labiliey,

Gains and losses from derecognition from the consolidated statement of
finarcial position are recorded i the consolidated statement of income.

& financial asset and financial liability are offset and recognized with a net
amaunt in the consolidated staterment of financial position anly when there
is a legal right to set off the amounts and that there is an intention to settle
e items with a net amount ar to simultaneowsly realize the asset and
setthe the debt,

Impairment aof Ainancial ossets

The Group's impairment medel is besed on expected credit bosses and
takes into account farward-looking information. The wvaluabian of expected
credit losses takes inko accownt ary collateral and other credit enhance-
ments in the farm of guarantees. See Mote 271 Financial Risks for informa-
rion on considerations relating to accounts receivable and deposits.

Cash
Cash are entirely comprised of cash at banks.

Equity

Common shares, other contributed capital and retained earnings are classi-
fredl as equity. Financial instrurments that meet the criteria for classification
as equaty are recognized as equity even it the iinancaal instrument @ legally
structured a5 a fability. Transaction costs that are directhy attributable o
the issue of new shares or options are recognized net after tax in equity as
a deduction from the issue proceeds.

Warrants

The Growp has only Esued warrants that wwere transferred at fair vaboe.
Premiums received for warrants granted to acuire shares in companiss
within the Group are recanged as additions ta equity, based on the warrant
premium, at the date when the warrant was transfermed 1o the counter-
faarty,

The Growup has issued an option program which constitubes share-based
payments. The cost far the remuneration that is recognized in a pericd

s dependent on the original valuation that was made on the date an
which the contracts with the participants in the incentive programs were
concluded, the number of manths of service required for vesting of their
anptions faccruals are made over this period). the number of cotions that
are expected to be vested under the terms of the plans and a continuows
reassessment of the value of the tax benefits far the participants urder
the plans ffor determining provissons for socdial security expenses). Those
estimates which affect the cost in a period and the correspanding incregse
in equity mainky refer to inputs for the valuation of the options. All the
aptions are classified as equity -settled, as vested options are settled in
equity. When the ophions are exercized, the company issues new shares.

Provisions

& pravisicn differs from other liahilities in that there is wncertainty absaut
the time of payment ar the amount of the amount to settle the provision,
A pravision is recognized in the statement of financal position when there
s an existing legal ar informal obligation arising from past events, and it is
likely that an cutflov of financial resources will be required to settle the
abligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. The amount
recognized is the best estimate of what is required to settle the existing
abligation on the balance sheet date. Where the effect of when payment
is made in time is significant, provisions are calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flow.

Contingent Liabilities

A cantingent liabdlity is disclosed when there is a possible comenitment orig-
inating fram events that bave accurred snd whose ocourrence is confirmed
by ore or several uncertain future events. An obligabion arising from past
events whose existence will he comfirmed by the occurrence or non-ocour-
rence of orne or more uncertain future events is not recognized as a lability
ar prowvision.

Foreign Currency

Transactions in foreign currency

Transacticns in fareign cursncy are transiated to the functional currency
at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
fabilibes in fareign currency are trarslated o the functional currency at the
exchange rate that applies on the dhsing date. Exchange rate differences
arising on translation are recognized in net profit for the year. Foreign
exchamee gains and losses on operating receivables and liabilities are
recognized in operating profit, while foreign exschange gains and losses on
financial receivables and Rabilities are recognized as iinancial items.

Translation fram forelgn operations

Assets and liahilities in foredgn aperations are translated from the func-
ticnal currency of the operations to the Group's presentation curmency at
the exchange rate applicable on the closing date, Income and expenses in a
fareign operation are translated to SEK at the average emchange rate which
corresponds o an approximation of the exchange rates prevailing on each
individual transaction date. Tramslation differences arising in the translation
af foreign operations’ funcional owerrencies are recognized in the consali-
dated statements of comprehensive inoome.,

Earnings per Share

The calculation of earnings per shase is based on the Group's net lass

far the: year and on the sweighted-mersge number of common shares
autstanding during the year In calculating earmings per share after diluticn,
earnings and the averagpe number af shares are adjusted For the dilute
effects of potential commaon shares. Earnings per share is not adjusted for
amvy diluticn that results im a profit per share after dilution that is higher
than profit per share before dilutan, or loss per share that is kower than
bass per share before dilution.
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Cash Flowr

The corsolidated statement of cash flows is prepared in accordance with
the indirect method. The recognized cash flow includes anby transac-
tians that irvobee inflows and outfows, divided into operaing activities,
investing activities and financing acthvities. Cash flows fram inflons

and cutflows are recognized at gross amounits, except for ransactons
camprising large inflows and outflaes that pertain to items that are traded
quickly and have short terms.

Segment Information

An operating =egment is a part of the Group that conducts business
activities fram which it can generate revenue and incur costs, and for
which independent financial information is available. Identification of
segments is based on internal reporfing to the chief operating decision
maker {"CODM) The CODM for the Grown B the Chief Executive Officer
["CECK). The Group does nat divide its aperations into different segments
and the CODM cperates and manages the Group's entire operations as
o sepment, which is consistent with the Group's internal arganizabion
and reparting system. The Group's revenue is attributabie to the Parent
Company in Sweden and the non-current assets are located in Sweden
France and Zwitzerlznd.

Mote 2 Significant Accounting Judgements,
Estimates and Assumptions

The preparatian of the Group's consolidsted fnancial statements in
asccordance with IFRS requires management to make judgemenss, estimates
and assumptions that affect the recorded amaounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclesures. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that reguire a
rnaterial adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabiities affected
in future periods.

Judgements, estimates and assumpbions are evaluated on an cngaing basis.
Changes in judgements, estimates and assumptions are recognized in the
period the change has occurred if the change only affects that period, and
future periods if the change affects both the current period and future
periods.

Purchase Price Allocation

The waluation af identifiable assets and liahilities in connecton with the
acopuisivion of subsidiaries invahees that items in the acquired company’s
balance shweet as well as iterns that have not been recognized in the
acguined company's balance sheet showld be valued at fair value. The valu-
ation af MOX platform s based on the Mulbiple Excess Earnings Method
[MEE M),

Intangible Assets

The Group’s intangible assets are essentially attributable to the Group
accpdiring the rights to the NOX platform ard the vaccine platfiorm (SHL
agreement), as well as goodwill in connection with the acquisition of
Genkyotes 54, In addition, to the previous in-licensing agreement of
Budencfalk 3mg oral capsube from the German pharmacewtical company
DO Falk Pharma GeoH, For goadwill ancd intangilie assets not yet avallable
fior use the Group assesses for impainment st sach reporting date based on
Hweir retonveratake amounts, including key assurmphions such as the biming
of potential commercialization. market size, market share, probatilivy of
reaching the market and the discount rabes. See belows ard Mobe 14 Intan-
gible Asz=ets and Impairment Testing.

Goodwill and intangibile assets, nat vet availabe for wse

The Group conducts impairment testing, at keast anmualby, for goodwill

and intangible assets, net wet available for use, In accordarce with the
policy described in Mate 1 Sianihicant Accounting Policies, The recover-
able amount of the cash-generating unit is determaned by caloulating the
wabue in wse, This calculation reguires certain judgments and assumphions
to b made, see Mote 14 Intangible Assets and Impairment Testing. As of
December 31, 2020, the Group's goodwill amounted to SEK 47 252 and
other intangible ass=ts amounted to SEK 414,115, The impairment testing
showrad no impairment.

Capitalization of intangible assets

The Group capitalizes expenditures for the desvelopment of pharmacewti-
cals to the extent that it is expecied 1o meet the critera in accordance with
145 38 — Intangible Assers. The dedision to capitalize is based an significant
judgments macds by management, including the technical feas@ility of
campleting the intangble asset sa that it will be svailable for use or sale
and assumptions wsed to demonstrake that the asset will generate probabie
future ecanomic benefits (e.g., projected cash flow projections. discount
rate). The Group's expenditures for the development of pharmaceuticals
wias not deemed to meet the capitalization criteria for the year ended
Drecernber 31, 2020 and was thus expensed. Capitalization of expenditures
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for the developrent of pharmaceuticals typically takes place late in Phase
3 ithe final stage of clinical trials where the product is given to large groups
of peaple to corhnm effectiveness) and subsequent to market approval, or
alternatively in conjunction with the initiaticn of pivaral studies, depending
an when the critera are deemed to have been met, The reason far this

is that before then it i uncertaln whether the expenditure will generate
fubure ecomamic berefits and that Ainancing the campletion of the asset

is rat yet guaranteed, Market approval heve not yet been obitained for

any products and, accordingly, the conditions for capitalizing developrment
expenditures are not met.

Loss Carryforwards

The Groups tax losses carmied forward have not been recognized as
deferred tax assets in the staterment of Anancial position as of December
31, 2020, except for such circumstances where there are future temporaey
cifferences that such lasses can b used to offset, Defered tax assets will
be recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable proft will be availsble against which the losses can be uhilized.

The Growup has identified an uncertain tax position in relation to the ability
to use tax loss carried forward in France due to wansactions performed

historicalby. The relabed tax losses caried foneard has not been recognized
as deferred tax assets in the consolidated statements of financial position.

Assumptions for The Valuation of Pensien Benefits
The valuation of pension commitrments and pension expenses is based on
the actuarial assumptions specified in Mote 27 Pension Lishilities.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of esti-
mation uncertainty at the reporting date have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustrment bo the carrying amaounts of ass=ts and Rabilides within
the next fnancial wear, The Group based its assumnpticons and estimates

an parameters available when the consaliclated financial statements were
prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions ahout future dewel-
apments, hawever, may change <ue to market changes or cirouemsiances
arsing that are beyond the contral of the Group. Such changss are
reflected in the assurnptions when they occur

Note 3 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group's revenues for the yvear ended December 31, 2020 consisted
of revermes for the defivery of study-related drugs within the framework
af the aut-licensing of Nefeton in connection with the agreement with
Everest Medicines to Greater China and Singapore. Revenue for the pravi-
=ion of drug for conducting clinical trals was recognized at a point in Bme.
wehich occurred when control cwver the drug was ransferred to Everest
Medicines and has been measured by the acquisifon price based on the
cost of the goods, plus a fair market margin,

The Growp hes identified twa performance cbligations within the agree-

et

1) Out-licensing of the product cardidate Mefecon in esisting conditian at
the sxgning of the agreement, and

20 Provision of drugs for corducting clinical trials.

The Group has completed all performance obfigations within the agree-
ment as of the delivery of study-related drnugs to BEverest Medicines for the
wyaar ended December 31, 2020,

Setaul below is the Groun's revenes from contracts with customers:

¥ear Ended December 31,
Type of goods or service
Dhut-licensing = 184 82%
Prenasion of drugs B74 -
Total 874 184,829
Geographical markets
China, Hang Kang, Macauw, Taivwan and Singapaore 874 184,82%
Total 874 184.,82%

%
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GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)
Mote 4 Other Operating Income

Year Ended December 31

2019
Euct e rate differences 2501 4385
Tetal 2,501 4,385

Mote 5 Other Operating Expenses

Wear Ended December 31,

o T

Exchange rate differences - 44654
Met oss on disposal of eqgui = a1
Total = 4,525
Mote 6 Auditors’ Fee
“Wear Ended December 21,
2019
Ernst & Young AB
Audit services 4449 645
Dither audit activities 3774 3,343
Qiher sendices = P8
Total 8,223 4086
KPMG
Audit services inz
Dther audit activities 2,552
Total 2,654 -
Other auditors
102 =
102 =
Total audit fee 10,979 4,086

Audit assipnments refate o the statutory audit of the financial statements
and the accounts, as well as the management of the Board of Directors
and the CEQ. This includes other responsibilities that it is incumbent woon
the company’s auditor ta perfarm including providing adwvice or amy ather
assistance that may result from chservations in such review or the conduct
of such other responsibilites.

2 services in accordance with a special
ts, Other services include advice an
pes and advice on processes and 12l control,

Oither auditing
Agreemsnt
accourting

Note 7 Costs according to Type of Cost

Year Ended December 31,

o

Gther external expenses 311 .32%¢ 174729
Personrel costs A8 P43 4157
Depraciation on eguipment’s and right-af-use
assets 2823 1822
Other operating expenses = 4,525
Total 383095 217,233
Note 8 Leases
Right-of-use assets
Diecember 31,

s
Cpening s 16819
Additional agreements FE 7527
Termnation of agreement = (1.519)
Exchange differences ) -
Additional agreemenits, through acquisition 1978
(-:lusing balance 2.595 7.527
Depreciation
Opening balance (1,548)
Depreciabon 2, 786) (1.778)
Termanation of agreement & 210
Exehua differences 3 =
Closing balance {4351) (1568
MNet book walue 5244 595%

Depreciation on right-of-use assets are included in the consolidated state
menits of incorme under Research and developrment expenses amounted
to SEK L&5 and SEK O for the year ended December 21, 2020 and 2019
respectively, and Administrative and selling expenses amouwnted o SER
2,621 and SEK 1,778 fior the vear ended December 31, 2050 and 2019,
respechively.

Lease liabilities
Diecembier 31,
D o
Mom-current lease labilites are 32,584
Current lease liabilities 25908 24848
Total 4,786 5,070

Lease liabilities are included in the consclidated statements of financial
position under other non-current liabilities and other current liabilities.
Changes in liahilities arising from fi cing activities, see Maote 23 Cash for
further information an leasing liabilities.
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Maturity analysis on future lease liabilities

December 31,
2019
=12 ranths 3816
1-2wears 2.306
=2 years - 533
5,626 6,655

Future |e:
include

in accordance with the above are undiscounted and

rayrne
iahle fees.

The keases primar of leased premises for the Group. The lease
agreements for leased mi=es hawve terms ending 2021, 2022 and 2023
respectively and can be extended unless one of the parties terminatas the
lease agreements, The Group cannat determine with reascnahble certainty
wihiether the extersions will take place based on the Group's develapment
and has th pected utilization after the terms encing, Future

i s | to the dewelop) 1k i the | index, but with a
twe imdex change. Index adjustments are included in the
ility wwhen they come into force ard are then adpasted against the

F-use asset. Lease of knw-walue assets consists mainty of storage and
office equipment.

“Wear Ended December 31,

2019
Interest expenses attributable to lease labilines 3oy
Expenses attributable ta short-tenm lease Tl 245
Expenses attributable to keasing agreements
withy lons walue 103 @6
Expenses attibutable to varable lease payments
that are not inchuded in lease liabilities 344 187
This year's lease payments in the Group 4930 2.343

Mote 9 Employees and Personnel Costs

Average Mumber of Employees

“Year Epded Dacember 31,

Percentage
af hale
Emplayees | Emp

Husmber of

14 44% 13 Jak
14 Ad% 13 8%
Subsidiaries
Lwitzerland 2 S0%
United States = 1005 1 100%
o 86% 1 100%
Total for the Group 23 57% 14 43%

Wages and Salaries, Pension Costs and Social Security Costs to the
Board, Executive Management and Other Employees.

Wages and Salaries

Wear Ended December 31,

Parent Company

Board and executive management®! 12,211 13,109
Other emplovees 155968 a1
Subsidiaries

Board and execubive managerment 3184 2973
Dther ernployess 11.615

Total 49,608 22173

Execurive management inchesles CEO and orfier execubive magmagemant,

Social Security Costs and Pension Costs

Wear Ended December 31,

202 20$19
Porent Company
Pension costs for thve Boged and
executive management 1.748 1644
Pensian oosts to other emplogvees 1,568 1,180
Social security costs 12330 3,008
Subsidiaries
Pension costs for the Boasd and
exeCulive management 129 -
Pension costs to other employees S0
Social security costs 225 29
Total i 16;60-4. . 6,131

Gender Distribution Among the Board and Executive Management
¥ear Ended December 31,
[ o IS
Percentage of wamen on the Board SO0 33%
Percentage of men on the Board A0% AT

Percentage of women among other
executive management 33% 33%

Percentage of men amang other
executive management &7 &%
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GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Disclosures Regarding Total Remuneration of the Board and Executive Management

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Remuneration

Chalrman of the Board

Elmar Schnee B34 = - = 10 1,144
Board members

Thomas Eklurd juntil June, 2020 72 43 115
Hilcl= Furbierg 273 g 2 108 37z
Lennart Harsson 281 108 387
Bengt Jularder {uniil fune, 2020 58 = = + = 1]
Diane Parks arg - - 2 108 485
Modhy Hendersan (From June, 2020) 345 = a7 382

Executive management

CEQ 3401 av8 1,357 1,0%4 6,530
Other executive management [5 peoplel 816 1,198 1,740 472 2018 15,244
of which relates to subsidd 2547 122 634 3312
Total 15459 1,876 3117 472 3,820 24,744

Vear Ended December 31, 2019

Buasic Salary, “Wariable Other Share-based
Board Fee Pension Costs. “F Total

Chypirman of the Board
Elmar Schmee 4032 101
Board members
Thomas Eklurd 280 37 3
Hilde Furberg 180 z 3 - 37 217
Lennart Harsson o2 = - & a7 13%
Bengt Juslarvder 102 100
Driane Parks 201 - = - ry 238
Oz Helleba juntil May, 201%) 58 - 5 - - 58
Executive management
CEQ 2.434 510 A5& - - 4,100
Cther executive management (8 peoplel 8927 1134 1,991 4701 14,753
of which relates (o subsidiones 2382 391 2973
Total 12,886 1,644 2,947 4701 249 22,427
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Dther Remumneration

Other remuneration comprises of fees for services rendered to the Parent
Cormpary. Management services purchasesd from Costdeom Consultants

KB amounted to SEK 472 and SEK 553 for the year ended December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively, and relates to the functions of a Head of
Cammunicaticns and Investor Relations that were autsousced o this entity,
There were o services provided from Jedaka Consult AB for the year
ended December 31, 2020, but for the year ended Cecember 31, 2019
the Group purchased SEK. 2848, The services provided related to the
function of a Chief Medical Officer that were autsourced bo this entity.

Remuneration of Executive Management

Remuneration of the CEQ and other executive management comprises
base salary, permsion benefits, variable remuneration and remuneration in
the form af consuliancy fees, Other executive management comprise the
five indivacduals who, tagether with the CECy camprise Execulive Manage-
ment. Other executive management ase; Chief Financial Ofcer, Chief
Pedical Officer. Wice President Regudatary Affairs, Head of Narth America,
Commercial and Vice President Operations.

Pensions

All pension commitments are defined-contribution plans for executive
management. The payments made by the Growp for defined contribu-
tion plans are recognized as expense in the statements of consolidated
operations for the pericd to which they relate, The age of retirement for
thve CEO Is &5 and the pension premium is 2009 of hase salary. Pension
cammitrrents for other Swedish executive management are between 15%
and 2% of base salary. The age of retirement is 45 for all sther executive
management. Defined-beneft pension plans occurs only if reguired by law
or other regulations. In such cases, the defined-benefit level shall be limited
to the mandatory lewel. There are no other pension oblizations.

‘ariable Remuneration

Wariable rermuneration refers to a variable bonus based an a fixed
percentage af hase salary, Cutcaome is based on a vesting period of ohe
wear and depends on fulfilment of 2 combination of precletermined
persoral targers and business targets. The maximum cutooms for the CEC
and for other executive management is 405 according to the guidelines for
remuneration to executive management.

Severance Pay

& notice period of six months applies i employment is terminated by the
CEC. & notice perind of teehse months applies if employment is terminated
b the Growp, The CECr s not entitled to separate severance pay but is
eligible ta receive 2 salary during the period of notice. & mutual notice
period of three to bawehee months, with salary paid, applies between the
Group and executive maragement. Mo severance pay is paid to Board
membiers.

Guidelines for Executive Remuneration

A the 2020 Annual General Meeting the most recently adopted guidelines
for executive remuneration was approved. Remuneration within the Group
shall be based on principles of performance, competitivensess and faimess.
Executive management refer to the CEC and other members of the exec-
utive management, 25 well as board members. The guidelines shall apply to
employment agreements conclucked after the listing an Masdadg Stockbalm,
as well a5 to changes in existing agreements after the listing,

The remuneration to the executive management may consist of ixed remu-
neration, wariable remuneration, share and share price-related incentive
programs, pension and other benefits. If local conditions justify wariations in
the remuneration principles, such variations may accur. The fied remuner
ation shall reflect the individual's responsibfity and experience level. The
fined remuneration shall he reviewed annually. The executive management
may be offered variable remuneration paid in cash, Such remuneratdaon

may nof exceed G0 percent of the annual fived remuneration., Variaole
remureration shall be connected te predetermined and measurahle critera,
designed with the aim of promating the Groups lang-term value oreation,
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the CEQ are prepared
by the Remuneration Commitbes and decided by the Board of Cirectors,
Remuneration and other terms of employment for other members of the
exscutive management are decided by the CED in accordance with princi-
s decided by the Board of Directars and the Remuneration Cammittee.

The Board of Directoes is entitled to deviate from the guidelines if the
Broard of Directars. in a certain case, deems that therg are geod reasons
fior the deviation. Decrsions as to the: current rermuneration lewvels and
other conditions for employment of the CEO and the other members of
the exmecutive management have been resalved by the Baard of Directers,
There are no previows payments that have not been due,

MNote 10 Share-Based Payments

Warrants

The Growp has twe warrants programs, wheretn personnel and certain
ather emplovess have purchased warrants at fair value with rights to
acguire shares in the Parent Compary, When warrant is exercised, the
baaldder pays 3 subscriphion price and then receives ore camman share in
the Parent Compary. For the programs initiated in 2018 and 2019 the
wearrants can be ewercized bebween lanuary 1, 2022 and March 31, 2022
and between October 1, 2022 ard Decembeer 31, 2022, respectiveby. if
the warrant holder leaves the Group prioe to exercise, the Growp has the
option to repurchase a certain number of warrants, depending on the time
of keaving, at the lesser of fair value or the purchase price,

The warrants have been valued according to the Black & Scholes model,
which means the value of the warrant depends an Factars including the
walue of the underlying share, which in this case is the comman share, For
the programs initiated in 2018 and 2019, the abservation period was short
far the urderlyving share and the volatifity was then based on the observa-
tion pericd with a discount as it normally decreases as the share's history
becomes longer. A discount was offered in all programs since the warrants
are not isted. The risk-free interest rate is at the same kevel as Swedish
government bonds with a comesponding term. Dividends are assumed to
armoent te zera during the period until the dare of expiration,

Warrdrits Pragram 2018/2022

In 2018, 2 tatal af 856 586 warrants were issued te employvess and

key cansultants in the Group. The warrants in the warrants program
201872022 can be meercized between lanuary 1, 2022 ard March 31,
2022, where each warrant gives the participant the right to subscribe for a
mews share in the compamny at a subscription price of SEK 7430 per share,

‘Warrants Pragram 2019/2022

In 20119, 2 tatal of 422 500 warrants were issued to emplovess and

kesy consultants in the Groap, The warkants in the wairants program
20192022 can be exercised between October 1, 2022 and December 31,
2022, where each warrant gives the participant the right to subscribe for a
e share in the company at a subscription price of SEK 7450 per share,

Allatted Warrants
As of December 31, 2019
Exeroised during the period 11,296,500 42
As of December 31, 2020 1,279,086 74

The allocated weighbed-awerape exercise price for warrants that are
outstanding amounts to SEK 74 and 5EK. 58 as of December 21, 2020
and 20179, respectively. During 2020, 5,184 warrants were exercisesd
wunder the Warrant Program 201 7/2020, where one warrant entitles to
the subscription of 250 shares. The registration of the issue af shares
amouented to 1,294 500 comman shares.
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ST GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Warrants Outstanding as af Inputs used for the Black & Scholes valuation

‘Cutstanding Warrants
Iper Year

WWarrant program

201772020 1,296,500 42,26 0,28 21,18 (0.42%) 27%  2020-06-30
Warrant program

20182022 856,586 B56.586 74,30 329 46,50 (0.28%) 3% 2022-03-31
Warrant program

2019/2022 422,500 422,500 74,50 H,69° 54.39" {0.55%) 36% 2022-12-31
Total 2575586 1,279,086

" Average value

Changes and holdings of warrants for the Board, CEQ, other executive management and ather employess and consultards on the opening ond clesing balance
are presented below;

Wearrants Outstanding as of

F1%.500 155,000 914,500 (365 500

CED Rera Lucarvder

Board memibzer Thomas Eklund (uneil Jume, 20201 111.250 111,250 (111.2500 =
Baard memibzer Hilde Furberg 23500 22,500 (29,5007 -
Dther executive maragement TET0EG 107,500 234,588 (IRT08E] 437,500
Qther employees, consultants and external parties 230,750 (2450001 EEE 750 (38, 144) 294 585
Total 2,518,086 57,500 2,575,586 (1.296,500) 1,279,086
Dption Program

ESCHP 2020

N

In 2020, Calliditas implemented an aption program for employees and

ke cnesultants n Calliditas. The aptions were allotted free of charge

o participants of the program. The options have a three-year vesting
period cakoulated from the allotment cate, provided that, with custamary
exceptions, the partcipants remain as employees of, or continue to provide
services to, Calliditas. Once the opbions are vested, they can be exercised
within a ane-ypear pericd.

Each wested option entfitles the holder to acuire one share in Calliditas
at a predetermined peice. The price per shane is o be equivalent to 115%
af the weighted average price that the comparmy’s shares were traded for
an Masdag Stockbalm during the ten trading days preceding the allatment
date. The options hawe, at the Hme of issue, been valued sccording to the
Black & Scholes waluation madel.

Changes and holdings of eptions for CED, other executive management and ather employess and consultants on the opening and closing balance are presented

Below:

Holder

Options Outstanding as of

225000

Rende Aguiar-Lucander, CEQ 225,000
Qther executive management 415,000 415,000
Qther employees and corsultants 449 000 A4 000
Total - i 1,089,000 1,089,000

Calcwlation of fair value of aption program (ESOP 2020}
The fair value an the alletment date was calculated wsing an adapted
wersion of the Black & Scholes waluation moclel, which takes into

Juby 1, 3023

comsideration the exercise price, the term of the options, share price on
the allotment dare and expected voladlity in the share price, and risk-free
interest for the term of the options.

74,000

ESOP 202001 July 1, 2020 2214 121,43 39.6%
September 17, September 17,
ESOF 20202 2020 2023 2250 114.78 41.6% 115,000
1,089,000
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The total cost of the outstanding option program is presented below. These
ocosts do rat affect the Groups consolidated statement of cash flows. The
Group has 1,500,000 warrants which are set asicle to secure the delivery
of shares in connection with the utilization of the cption prearam. Foo
additional infarmation see Mate 25 Eguity.

“ear Ended December 31
Thare-based payments 5304
Provisions attributable to social security costs
(Share-hased payments] 3164
Total 8448 -

Share-Based Payments

Board LTIP 2019

This is. & performance-based long-term incentive program for certain
mernbers of the Boaard of Directors in Calliditas, & total of 51,399 share
aweards is cutstanding for the incentive program 2019, The share awards
are: gradually vested over three years ondil the AGR 2022 or Jene 1, 2022,
whichever is the earliest. based on the development of Calliditas share
price during the periad from May 8, 2019 through on June 1, 2022, The
share aviards are vested by 173 at the end of each pericd, provided that
the participant is still a member of the Board of Calliditas that day.

In acldition to these conditions for westing, the share awards are subject to
performance-based vesting based on the development of Calliditas share
price, If Calliditas share price has increased by more than &0 percent, 100
percent of the share awarcds shall be earned, and if the share price has
imcreased by 20 percent, 33 percent of the share awaeds shall be vested, In
the event af an increase in the share price by beteeen 20 and 60 percent,
westing will be linear, If the share price has increased by less than 20
percent, no westing will fake place. Each share award entitles the holder to
receive a share in Calliditas free of charge, provided that the halder is still a
member of the Board of Calliditas at the relevant westing date.

Changes and holdings of share awards for the Board an the apening and closing balance are presented below:

Holder

Elmar Schree, Chairman of the Board
Thomas Eklurd, Board member (until June, 2020)
Hilde Furberg, Board member -
Lennart Harsson, Board member -
Diane Parks, Board member
Total =

Calcelarion of fair value of share-based payrments (Board LTIP 2019}

Fabr walue at grant day has been measured wsing a Mante Carle simulatian
of future share price developments, The simulated share price trend has
by used to both calculate the outcome of the program and the value of
each share at the ime of scguisibon [present value adjusted o the grant
date).

Baard LTIF 201% June 1, 2022 22.4% 51.3%9
The total cost of the outstanding share-hased payments is presented
bebow, These costs do not affect the Groups consolidated statement of
cash flows. The Group has 70,000 warrants which are set aside to secure
the delivery of shares in connection with the utilizadon of the Board LTIP
2019, For additional informnation see MNate 25 Equity.

Wear Ended December 31,

Share-based payments 440 249
Provisians attributable to socal security costs

{Share-based payments) 1426 175
Total 1,866 424

Share Awards Outstanding as of

23,234 23234 - 23,235
a,44% B.447 15,6331 28146
8449 8449 = 5449
8,449 B.44% - 8447
8,449 B.44% 8,4-1-9_

57,032 57,032 15,633) i 51,399
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(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Board LTIP 2020

This is a performance-based long-termn incentve program fior certain
members of the Board of Directors in Calliditas. & total of 21,371 share
awards is outstanding for the incentive pragram 2020, The share awarcls
are graclually vested over three yeass until the &G Z023 or July 1, 2023
wihichever is the eariest, based on the devetapment of Calliditas share
price during the period from the date the share awards sre allocated fgrant
date) up to and including the day before the vesting date. The share awards
are vested by 173 at the end of each pericd, provided that the participant
is still a member af the Board of Calliditas that day.

ST GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In addition to these conditicns foar vesting, the share awards are subject to
performance-based westing based on the development of Calliditas share
price, If Calliditas share price has increased by mors than &0 percent, 100
percent of the share awards shall be earned, and if the share price has
increased by 20 percent, 33 percent of the share awards shall be vested, In
the event af anincrease in the share price by between 20 and &0 percent
westing will be linear. If the shase price has increased by less than 20
percent, no westing will take pace. Each share award entitles the halder o
receive 4 share in Calliditas free of charge, provided that the haolder i= =5l 3
member of the Board of Calliditas at the relevant westing dabe.

Changes and holdings of share awards for the Board on the opening and closing balance are presented below:
Share Awards Dutstanding as of

Halder

Elmar Schriee, Chairman of the Board = = 2 14,063 14.063
Hilde Furberg. Board member - = - 4337 4,327
Lennart Harmsson, Board member - 4327 4,327
Ciiame Parks, Board member = - - 4527 4327
Mol Henderssan, Board member 5 N = 4,327 4,327
Total = = b 31,371 31,371
S et it O b

of future share price developments. The simulated share price trend has

been used to bath calculate the outcome of the program ard the value of Wear Ended December 31,

each share at the tme of acquisition [present value adjusted o the grant
date).

Baoard LTIF 2020 Juby 1, 2023

3397

31371

The total cost of the outstanding share-based payments i= presented
bedonw. These costs da not affect the Groups consalidated] statement af
cash flows, The Group has 40,000 warrants which are set aside 1o secure
the delivery of shares in connection with the utilization of the Boasd LTIP
2020, For acditbonal information see Mote 25 Equity,

Wear Endod Decambar 21,

2867 -

Share-based payments

Prowisions attributable to social security costs

(Share-hased payments) 207 -
Tatal 474 -

Mote 11 Financial Income

Year Ended December 31,

Interest income 547 926
Total 547 926

Interest on lease liahilities (38B8) (3071
Other interest expenses 5] {18)
Excharge rate differences 153.267) (2383
Changes in FX opbans measured st fair value (3.318) (2 700
Tatal 156,978) (5,408)
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MNote 13 Income Tax Expense

“Wear Ended December 31,

Current income taxes 11,035}

Deferred tax a75

Income tax expense recognized in the

consolidated statements of income (340} 77}

“¥ear Ended December 31,

[

Reconciligtion of effective tax rate

Accounting loss before income tax 434,151) (32,501}
Tax in accardance with applicable tax rate in

Sweden 21.4% (21.9%) 3,336 6953
Tax effect of:

Effect of other tax rates for foreign

subsidiaries HE0 2
Tae attributable to nan-deductible tax losses

carried farward and unrecognized deferred

tax assets (91,725) [&,514)
Nan-deductible expenses [2,.652) {782}
Man-taxable income Lh L
Income tax expense recognized in the

consolidated statements of income (3600 77
At the effective income tax rate o 0%

The Group has oosts attribotable bo e share issue amounted to SER
S7.4686 and SEK 10,915 for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2017,
respectively, which are recognized directly against equity. These costs are
deductible for tax purposes.

The Group has SEK 2,704 803 and SEK 578117 of tax losses carried
Foeward foe which cefemredd tax assets have not been recognized in the
statement of financial positian as of December 31, 2023, and 2019
respeciniehy, except for such crdumstances whers there are future

temnporary differences that such losses can be used to offset. The tax losses

carried forward are allocated between Sveeden of SEE 1,085 430, Franoe
of SEK 275093 and Switrerland of SEK 24,280, where the tax losses
carried forward in Sweden and France may be camried forward indefinioehy,
but in Switzerland there is a time limit of seven years. Deferred tax assets
will be recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is peobable
that raxable profit will be available against which the ksses can be ufilized,
or to the extent that there are temporary differences which these can be
utilized ta affset,

Note 14 Earnings per Share

Wear Ended December 34,

[ SR

Loss per share before and after dilution

Met los= for the year attributahle

b equity Falders of the Farent Company [433.4%4) {32.578)
“Weighted-average number of commaon
shares outstanding A4 BI3 A48 345940 587

Loss per share before and after dilution (9.66) {0.88)

For caloulation of earnings per share after dilution, the weighted-average
mumber of cutstanding ordinary shares is adjusted for the dilution effect

of all potential crdinary shares. The Parent Company has a category of
potential commen stock with dilution effect: stock options. These potential
common shares are attributable to the options and performance shares
gramted during the years 2018 - 2020. For additicnal information see MNote
10 Share-Based Payments, If the prafit for the year is negative, the opticms
are not cor ered dilutive. The apfions also do nat impact the numerates
earnings per share calculation, incleding the additicn of the value of
B fubure services ta report during the vesting period. exceeding the
g market price for the period. There is mo dilution effect for issued
wearrants and ephions with entitfement to subscribe to 2 3468 086 shares,
since the Group is in a loss positicn for the wear ended December 371, 2020
and December 31, 2019 respectivehy. Further, there is no dilution effect
for issued share awards with entitlernent to receive 82 770 shares. due to
performance-based westing.

For disclosures regarcling the number of autstanding shares, refer to Make
25 Equity,
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GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

MNote 15 Business Combinations

Oin Movember 3, 2020 Calliditas acquired a cantralling interest in
Genkyobex 58, 3 biopharmaceuticsl cormpany spedalizing in RO therapies
vaith offices in France and SwitZerland. ks uneque platform enables the
identification of orally available small molecules which selectvely inhihit
specific NCX enmymes that amplify multiple disease processes such as
fibrasis and inflammation. The purpase of the acquisition is that it adds a
late-stage orphan pipeline asset and platform ininflammation and filrosis
o the Groups product portfolio in omphan diseases,

Calliditas acquired 7,236,515 ardinary shases of Genkyotex from Genkyo-
teo's largest shareholders and management beamn (the “Block Sellers),
representing 2.7 percent of the share capital 2 i
204867 (EUR 19,747 in cash at EUR 2.73 per share. The acquisition date
weas Movember 3, 2020, when Calliditas acquired a controlling interest

over Genkyotex. The acguisition resulted in recognition of goodwill for SEK
48,8329 [EUR 4,708} Goodwill is maindy justified by access bo mew attrac
tiwe clinical areas. Mo recorded goodwill is expected o be tax deductible.

&frer the acquisition of the contralling inferest, a mandarory semplified cash
terder offer was launched of EUR 2,80 ard non-transferable contingent
rights, per share te the remaining sharehckders in Genkyotex, In the

fimal cutoarmes after the acceptance period e been
tendered into the offer. for which an acguisition price of SEK 82,172

Company Oiperation on Date
Genlopates S Baapharma- P rmber
ceutical comparyy 2020

spedalizing in
MO therapies

EniE e _

Cash 204.8587
Contingent consideration 0414
Total 255481

Fair walue of the 7.236.515 ordinary shares purchased as part of the
purchase price for Genkyotex 5.8 (SEK 204 84 7) was based on the agreed
share price of EUR 2,73 per share, Mon-controlling interests are based

oo fair walue ubilizing the listed share price of the share in the scguired
campany at the acgu an date, which was FUR 307, Far the wear ended
December 31, 2030, acguisibon costs amount to SEX B 118, of which SEK
F 020 0= attributabde o the acguisidon of the controlling interess. All costs
are directly attributable to the acguisition of Genfoponex 5S4,

The assets and linbilities recognized in conjunction
with the acquisition are as foliows:

Intangible assets: MO Plattarm 382,521
Intangible assets: Cther licenses 28893
Man-current assets 2438
Other curment assets 10022
Cash 32245
Pension lizhilities [2.410)
Deferred tax Rabilities (B2.683)
Other non-current liabilities N&ET)
Other curre abilities (20,677
Acquired identified assets 342728
Mon-controlling interests {134,084y
Conchwill 48 839
.ﬁn::]:rsd net assets 255,481

The gross amounts of acquired receivables does not differ significanthy from
Fair valise.

(EUR 8.078). As a result Calliditas controls a total of 10,121 4764 shares in
Genkyotex, which comesponds to 846.2 percent of the share capital and the
tatal number of votes in Genkyotex as of Drecember 2020, Purchase
af non-cont erests after the business comhination have been
recognized under financing actvities in the consalidated statements af
cash flows.

In acldition ta this there are petental future milestane peyments relating to
contingent consideration amounting bo a maximom of EUR 55 000, subject
to future regulatory approrals of setanaxib. The fair value of contingent
comsideration is measured at Lewvel 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Contingent
ideration is recognized as a fimancial lizhility in the consolidated stake
ts of financial position, which is revalued at fair value each report
peniod. Any revaliatio ins and bosses are recognized in the cansalidated
staternents of income, See Mote 26 Provisions,

Acguisition casts during the financial year smounted to SEK 8118,
wehich are recognized uncler adr strative and sellg experses in the
comsolidated statements of income and under operating activities in the
consolidated staterments of cash flows. Acquisition costs are expensed in
the consclidated statements of income when they coour.

There was ne usiness combination for the year ended December 31,
2019,

Sales during the
ding Period

= (20.658) - (143447

is of Cash Flow

Purchase price paid in cash (included in the Cash

flover used in investing achivities) (204 B&7)
Cash eguivalents in the acquired compamy Encluded
in the Cash flow used in imeesting activities) 32,245
Arquisiticn costs attributable to the acguisition
aries (included in the Cash flow used in
(70200

Note 16 Intangible Assets and Impairment Testing

December 31,

[ o Y
Licemsas and similar rights
Cost at opening balance 16,0665
Busiress combinations 411,414
Acquisition far the year - Ty
Excharge differences on translation 113,385 =
Cost at chosing balance 414,115 16,066
Gaenawlll
Cost at opening balance - -
Busirness combinations 43,839 -
Exchanmge differences an translatian [1.587)
Cost at chosing balance 47,252 -
Met book value 461,367 16,068

Intangible assets ¢ ist of licenses and similar rights of SEK 414,115 and
goodwill of SEK 47,252
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Business combinations:

The acquisition of Genkyotex SA& resulted in the Group acguiring the rights
to the NOX platform and vaccine platform (SIL agreement), as well as
goowill,

The net book walue of the MOX platfiorm amounts e SER 3700592 as

of December 31, 2020 The NOX platform canstitutes a technology,
including the lead compoursd setanaxib, enables the identification of arally
available small molecules which selectively ichibit specibc MOX eneymes
that amplify mulbiple disease processes such as fibrosis and inflammiation.
The estimated fair value of the NOX platform was determined using the
discounted cash flow (DCF) method, adjusted for the likelihood of coour
rence,

The net book value of the vaccine platform (SHL agreement], sehich is an
cait-licemnss agreement with Sersm Institute of India (SHL for the use of a
waccinge technolagy, amaunts to SEK 27957 a< of December 31, 2020, The
estimated fair wabue af the vaccine platform (SHL agreement] ard extensions
wias debermined using the discounted cash flow {CCF) method, adjusted
for the likelihood of occurrence.

Gooduwill amounts o SEK 47252 as of December 31, 2020 and far further
information please see Mote 15 Business Cambinations.,

Impairment Testing of Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The assessment af the value of the Group's goodwill is based on the fair
wabue bess cost of disposals for the smallest cash-generating unit. which for
Calliditas is deemed to be the full Group. The impairment measurement is
based on a probability-adjusted cash Aow model, measured at Lewed 3 of
the fair walue hierarchy, where the most crifical assumptions mainky consist
of assurnpticns about the Siming of potential commercialization, rmarket
size, market share and probability of reaching the macker. The period for
the forecast cash flow extends to 2035, where no terminal grawth rate has
been taken into account, As of Decembxer 31, 2020, the Group's goodwill
amaunted b SEK 47 252 There is no impairment far the year ended
Crecember 31, 2020,

The fallowing table shows the discount rate used:

Year Ended Decembser 31,

Parameter, %

Discount rate 10.50

Intangible assets, not yet available for use

These significantly consist of the NOX platform, the vaccine platform
[SliL-agreement] ard Budenofalk 2 mg oral capsule, which are tested, at
least, annually for impairment requirement. The technology and the rights
woere reviewed for impaimment individually, The assessment of the value

of the technology and the rights is based an the fair value less cost of
disposals of each individuwal asser. The fair value less cost of disposals is
based cn cash flows that are expected to be generated] over the remaining
life: of the asset

The follewing table shows the discount rate used:

“Wear Ended December 31,
Parameter, %
Discount rabe MO platfarm 188 &
Discount rate Waccine pladfiorm 170
Discount rate Budenofalk 3 mg oral capsule 1724 116

When the technology and the rahts are tested for impairment require-
ment. a rumber of assumptions are made. where the mast critical assumg-
tans mainly consist of the ng of patential commercialization, market
size. market share. probability of reaching the market and the discount race.
The =arlier in the chain of development the project is, the higher the risk.
Az it passes through the defned phases of development, the likelifood of
reaching the market increases. The review of the technology and the rights
shonred no impairment requirement.

Note 17 Equipment

Ciost at opening balance 1is B13
Acquisition for the year = 113
Dispasal far the year = 313
Exthange differences 4]

Addibanal, through business combinabans 100 -
Cost at closing balance 214 118
Depreciation at opening balance {14) [70)
Deprecation for the pear 127 144)
Dispasal for the wear - 736
Depreciation at closing balance 151) (14)
MNet book value 163 104

Depreciation on equipment are included in the consalidabed statement
af mcome under Administrative and selling expenses amounted to
LSEK 37 and SEK 44 for the yvear ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

Note 18 Non-Current Financial Assets

Decemiber 31,

Cost at opening balance 1,239 341
Bank puaranbees granted - 1,885
Reimburzement security deposit = (2%}
Acquisition through business combinations 284

Met book valwe 2,225 1,939

Man-current financial assets comprise of bank puaranteesdeposits
amounted to SEK 2,224 and SEE 1,935 as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively,
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T GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Mote 19 Deferred Tax Assets and Deferred Tax Liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020

Dreferred Tax Deferred Ta
A & Liakb
Intangible asscts %2 5Z3) {2523
Persannel-related i 594 594
Tam loss carried forwarnd 12527 = 12527
Oty iterms 4 4
Total 13,127 (92,523) (79,394)
Oiffsetting §12.527 12527 -
Tax assets/labilities, net ) &00 3 |79, 996) (79,396)

ized as deferred tax assets in the statement of fnancial pesition as of December 31, 2020 due
ed to oftset.

arried forward of SEK 12 527 have bean rece
emporary differences that such losses can be

Change in deferred tax, 2020

ar Opening Balance E t Cast at Closing Balance

Intangitle assets {92.523)
Personnel-related items 596 594
Taw loss carried fonsand = = 12,527 12,527
Qther items L 4
Total = 600 (79,995) (79,396)

Mo deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilides ocourred for the fnancial year 2019,

Mote 20 Financial and Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial and non-financlal assets and llabilities as of December 31, 2020

Financial Assets Me d on 3 Total
at Amortized 5 5 Carrying Amount
Assers
Maon-current financial assets 2225 2,225
Qther current assets 112 22,689 22,801
Cash - 995,304 - 004,304
- 998,641 22,689 1,021,330
Financial Liabilities
Finsancial Liabil
iy [ Peon - Finan Total
Profit or Lass at Amortized Cost Liakb Carrying Amurt
Liabilities
Prowisions 48 95 - 5392
Qther non-current liabilities ara
Accounts pavable 53,827
Jther current liabilities 2,902 5,980

Acorued expenses and deferred revenue 24,820 16496

48,9269 B3,503 28,868

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annual Report 2020




Financial and non-financial assets and liabilities as of December 31. 2019

Assels
Mon-current financial assets -

Account receivables =

Other current assets e
Cash =

399
Linbilities

Stbver none-current lisbilites -
Accaunts payable -
Qther current liabllities =

Accrued expenses and deferred revenue -

Financial assets valued at fair value through profit or loss consist of
ourrency aptions. As of December 31, 2020, there were no cEmency
options outstanding since they had expired and as of December 31, 2019,
ourency aptions amaunted to SEK 399 Currency options are valued at fair
walue based an calculation using the Black-5chales apticn pricing madel at
Lewel 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Financial liabiliies valued through profit
or loss constitutes of contingent consideratian in connection with the
business combination of Genkytex SA of SEK 48 94% as of December 31,
0. The taie value of contingent consideration is measured at Lesvel 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

The carmying amount for other items above i= an approximation of the fair
wabue, which is why these itemns are not separated into lewvels according to
the fair value hierarchy.

Mote 21 Financial Risks

Through its aperations, the Growp s exposed to a variety of financial rsks:
credit sk, markes risk [currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
refinancing risk. and liguidity sk, The Group's overall risk management
focuses on the unpredictability of the financial markets and it enceavers to
rminimize patentially unfavorsble efects on the Group's fimancial results,

The Group's Anancial transactiors and risks are managed centrally through
thee Group's CFO and CEC. The overall chjective for financizl risks is ba
pravide cost-efhicient financing and liguidity management and to enzure
that all payment commitments are managed in a fimely manner.

The Board prepares written policies for both the owerall risk management
and for specific areas, such a5 credit risks, currency risks, interest rate risks,
refinancing risks, ligui risks and the use of derivative instruments and
investment af surplus liguidity.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obfigations under
a financial instrument, keading to a fimancial loss for the Group. The Group's
exposure to credit risk is imited to deposits with banks with high credit
ratings, which means the Group is of the opinéon that there is o material
credit sk, and accordingly no provision for credit sk is recognized.

Credit risk accaunts recelvabile
The paynent terms amount te 20 business days depending an the coun-
berparky.

Diays past due, but not impaired, receivables on the closing day is given
betows. There is no reserve for had debis and no recognized credit losses.

1,239 . 1,93%
A4 588 A4 584
E 2320 2718
753,540 : 753,540
802,065 2320 804,784
3584 E 3584
24,384 - 24384
2486 508 3394
14,837 10,678 25515
45391 11586 56,877

December 31,

Diays past due account receivables = =

Mot due account receivables -

Total -

The crehit quality of receiables that are not past due or wstten down is
deemed to be gocd, See Mate 3 Beverwe from Contracts with Customers
tar further infarmatian.

Market Risks

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a inancial
mstrument will Auctuate because of changes in market prices. The type of
market risk that impacts the Group is curmency risk. The Group does niot
currently hawe any loars or holdings that expose the group to interest rate
Fisk or ather peice risk

Foregin Currency Risk

Fareign currency risk is the risk that the fair value ar future cash flows of an
expasure will fluctuste because of changes in fareign exchange rates. The
primary exposure derives from the Group’s purchases in foreign currencies.
This exposure s known as transaction exposure. Currency sk is also found
in the translation of the assets and liabilities of foreign operaticns to the
Parent Company's functional currency, known as translation exposure.

Transaction Exposure
Transacticn exposure from contracted payment (lows in foreign currency
i limited in the Growp, Befer to the table below for exposune in each

CUFTENDY.

LS 100% 35%
EUR = 2aH
GEF - 4%
SEK - 23%
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GROUP - NOTES TO COMNSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Ush 100% 22%

EUR - 54
CBP - 3%
SEK T 21%

&3 presented in the table abowe, the Group's primary transaction expasure
is in Buro and LIS, dedlar. A& 10% stronger Eurg against the Swedish Krana
weauld have a negative impact on profit after tax and equity of appeas-
mately SEK 10,247 (SEK 10.246), A 10% stronger LS. dollar against the
Sweedish Krona would have a negative impact on profit after tax and equity
of approximately SEK %979 (pos. SEK 14,35%),

Translation Exposure

The Group also has translation exposure that arises on the translation

of earmings armd net assets of foreign subsidiaries to the Swedish Kronor.
Translation against L5, dallar armounted ta SEK 1,256 as af December 31,
2020, A 10% stronger Swedish Krona against the LS. dollar weauld have

@ positive Impact an equity of approdmately SER 124, Translation against
Eurgs amaunted 1o SEK 26,673 as of December 31, 2020, A 10% stronger
Sweeclish Krona agaenst Eios would have a pasitive impact an equity of
approximately SEX 2667,

The Group also bas a translation exposure arising from the translation of
foreign trade debt to the Swedish Kronor. This exposure amounted to SEK
15,811 [SEK 5.8&6) at the closing date in U5 dollars and SEK 28,808 [SEK
14,817 in Euros. & 10% stronger LLS. dollar against the Swedish Krana
wolld have a negative impact on praft after tax and equity of appeos -
mately SEK 1,581 {SEK 587), & 106 stronger Euro against the Swedish
Krana wauld have a negative impact on ot after tax and equity of
approximately SEK 2881 (SEK 148Z]

Refinancing Risk

Rehnancing risk refers to the risk that cash are not available and the risk
that financing cannct be secured at a reascnable cost or at all. The Group
is ourrently financed by equity and thus is not exposed o risks refated to
external loan financing. Accordingly, the primary risks pertain to the risk of
nat securing additicnal contributions and irmsestrnents fram the awners.

risk is the risk that the Growp encounters difficulties in mesting its
ebligations assacated with inancial liabilites, The Board mansges liquidity
risks by continuoushy monitoring cash flew sa that it can reduece liguidity
risk and ensure its solvency. Given that the Parent Compary curmenthy does
not hawve its own earning ability, the Board carries out long-term work with
owvners and imndependent investars to ensure that liguidity is available to
the Parent Compary when a need arises.

The Group's contractual and undiscounted interest payments and repay
ments of finandial liabilities are presented in the table below, Amounts in
foreign Currency were translated to SEK at the closing day rate, Firancial
irstruments with variable interest rates were measured at the rate on the
closing date. Liahilities were included in the earliest period when repay-
ment is required. For fubere lease payments see Mobe B Leases,

Maturity anahysis

Accounts payabbe 53,827 = =
Other curment Habilites 7934 1954 =
Accrued expenses 34,833 4,552 =

December 31, 2019

Accounts payable 24384 - -
Crther current Rabilities 2,151 1,243
Accrued expenses 21,782 2659 -
Note 22 Prepaid Expenses

December 31,

Frepaed rental charges - T
Prepasd insurance premiums 10,743 :
Frepakd experses for research

and development &40 2854
Premasd transaction costs = 14,662
Other prepaid expenses 6,363 -
Total 17,746 18,287
MNote 23 Cash

December 31,

Ayailable balances
Total

995,304
996,304

F53,340
753,540

Cash refer to cash at banks and are primarily in Swedish Kronar,

Adjustments for non-cash items in the consolidated statements of cash
Tlows:

Year Ended December 31

Depreciation 2823 1822
Chamge in Provisions &,534 175
Share-based payments 6,012 249
Crther items 4] 62
Total 15465 2,308
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Reconciliation of [fabilities from financing activities

Lease liabilities {39721 &7 4 784
(3.972) 87 4,786
Additional Teerrriinati Exch = ber 31,
Janwary 1, 201% Cash-Flow af & D 201%
Lease liabalithes 1.81% 11.453] - [1.a24) &0
1,819 (1.652) 7.527 {1.624) = &,070
Note 24 Group Companies
5% Equity Interest
Companny Principal Activities Country of Incerporation 201%
Parent Comparny
Calliditas Therapeutics AB Eesearch and develogment of phar Syeeclen
Sutrsidiaries
Ahmin ition of incentive programs issued by the
Meferon AR Fareit Company Sweclen 100% 100
Calliditas Therapeutics Ine Pre-commercialization activibes in the Linited Stares  United States 1005% 1005
Genkyotex S Research and development of pharmacsuticals France 86,.2% -
Genkyotex Suisse SA Research and developrment of pharmaceuticals Switzerland - -

The farmer subsidiary Prarmalink Oocokagy AS ceased through veluntary ligusdation, as no operatians were conducted far the vear ended Decemnbser 31,
2020, For further information on the business combination of Gendopotes 34, cee Mate 15 Business Combinations,

Mote 25 Equity

Share capital and other contributed capital

Share Capital
Additional All shares have been fully paid and no shares are reserved for sale. All
MNumber Share Paid-in shares are commaon shares, confer the same tement to capital
of hares Capital Capital carry ane vote, The quotient value is SEK (104 per share. Ma sha

Feld in treasury by the Parent Company o its subsidiaries.

As of January 1. 2019 35,202,347 1,408 1072319

Premiums from warrants Aﬂd'm Pﬂ_m_‘i" Capl'lal . \ i

Fssuance 2834 Additional paid-in capital s comprised of capital contributed by the Parent
Company's awrers, in the ewent of share premiuems arising an share

Share-based payment = - 249 suhscription, warrants premiums and accounted capital from swarrants. and

X 7 X i ather financing reated as equity.
New share issue 3505291 140 195 262
. 7 Translation Reserve

As of December 31, 2019 38,707,638 1,548 1.274.664 The reserves pertain in thedr entirety to translation reserves, The translation

PSP B all exchangs rate differences arisng on the translation of
. the hnancis ments from foresgn operations.

hew share issue® 9937 448 A7 793,304

Exercise of warrants 1,296,500 52 SH199 Decemwber 31,

Share-based payment - _ M0

As of December 31, 2020 A9 %41 584 1998 Opening halance (a5 {34
Chamge for the year ended 16.045) 11
Closing balance {5,090) (45)

from Ihn:‘ IP\..'I in 'ulszU 't.
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GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

MNote 26 Provisions

Provisions as of December 31, 2020

Jpening balance - 178
Provisions for the year 4,797 50614 1443 54,855
Exchange differences 11.445) 124 (1.669)
Total 4972 48,969 1419 55,361
Provisions as of December 31, 2019

QJpening balance

Prowvisians for the year 175 175
Total 175 - - 175

Social Security Costs on Share-Based Payment

Refers to social security costs related to share-based payment. There is
uncertainty as to when social security costs for share-based payments wil
b i i the fubwre, and wihat armownt they will ullmately be adjustedd 1o
a5 it s dependent on market wvalues at the time when pertaormance shares
are used.

Contingent Consideration

Inm connection with the business combination of Genkyotex 54, the Group
has undertaken to make potential future milestone payments relating wo
cantingent consideratian, provided that future regulatony approwals or
keting authorizations regarding setanaxib are ohrained. The transacton
ulates the fallowing contingent cansideration:

Pdilestone 10 EUR 300 millicn of Genkyodex is rited the right te
cammercially manufacture, market and sell setanaxity in the United
States by the FOA

= Milestone 20 EUR 150 million i Genkyotex is granted the right to
commercially manufacture, market and sefl setanaxiby in the Eurcpean
Unicn by the Eurcpean Commission.

= Milestone 3 EUR 1000 million if Genkyotex is, by the FD& or European
Commission, granted the right to commercially manufacture. market and
sell setanaxdb in the Unived States or European Union for the treatment
of |PF or Tyze 1 Diabetes.

The fair value af contingent consideration is measured at Lewvel 3 of the
fair walue hisrarchy, Confingent consideration is recognized & a financia
liakifity in the consolidated staterments of inancial positicn, which is
revalued at fas value sach reporting perod, Ay revaluation gains amd
lemses are recagnized in the consodidated statements of income. The
cantingent consideration has been computed in accordance with the
present value methad and the probability has been taken into sccount if
and when the various milestones will ocour, The caloulations are based on
a discount rate of 10.0 percent. The most significant input affecting the
waluation of the conbiingent consideration ks the company’s estimate of the
probability of the milestones being reached.

MNote 27 Pension Liabilities

Defined-Benefit Pension Plan
The defined-hensfit pension obfigations are based on ac

al prireciples.
ies in France
nd. The present walue of the abligaton includes special
accordance with 1A% 1%, far the Swiss pensicn plans, Pension
recagnized under research and deselopment expenses and
strative and selling experses in the consclidated statements of
MCAmE,

-

Met obligation per country

December 31,
Switzerand (B.124)
Franoe 172
Taotal (8,296)
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Changes in the defined-benefit pension obligations

December 31, 2020

Defined Banefit Dafinad Benefit
Pian Obligation Plan Obligation Fair Value of Plan Employee Benefit
{Switzerland) (France)  Assets (Switzerland) Obligations
January 1, 2020

Business combinations [1%,543) 1211) 10473 (9.103)
Service costs (547 (4 . (573}
Interest expense 110 6 ()
Curtailment (200 1% 11030
Employee contribution - - 45 45
L | included in the s af consolidated operations (587) &) 61 (542)
Amounts paid/received (4100 = 410 -
Reburn on assets (excluding interest expenses) 15) (5]
Acbuarial gainsSlosses) related to changes in demographic assumptions 1858 45 1,903
Actuarial gainslosses) related to changes in fAinancial assumptions (273) (273}
Other actuarial gain = (a11) [4113
Subtotal included in ather items of comprehensive income 1 1}'4 45 (51 1 214
Ermplewer contributicns 47 47
Currency translation effect 205 - (117 fa1-1
December 31, 2020 {19,193) {172) 11,06% (8,2986)

Distribution by plan assets (Switzerland]
Dpcember 31
Cash 244
Bond= &,3465
Mortgage loans 1518
Shares 345
Real estate 1,638
Other imvestmients 941
Total 11,068

Cf the plan as=ets above, SEK 365 has a guated price in an ackwe
market.

For pension abligations in France, there are no plan assets.

Discount rate: A decrease i the interest rate on corporate bords will
increase the liakilities of the plan, although this will partially be offset by
an increase in the value of the bond haldings. The Swiss pension plan is
covered by The Swiss Federal Act on Oooupational Retirement, Survivor's
ancl Disabilivy Pension Flans (BVG)

Risks connected to defined-benefit pension plans
Thrcagh its defined-benefit pension plans far post-cmploy ment. benefits,
thve Group is exposed B0 a nurmber of risks, The mast significant isks are;

The French persion sHan is covered by the labor v and the call
& agreement af the pharmaceutical industryg. The S
sed o fimal salary,

Chive
amd French

Life expectancy assumption: Most of the pension commitments entail that
e employees covered by the plan will recerve life neft=s and,
accordingly. the longer life expectar ka3 .JE'-LTIIJI.ID"IS will result in higher
pension liabilities. This is partoslarhye sign n the Swviss plan, inowhich
inflaticn increases result in higher sensitivity to changes in life expectancy
ARSI .

!nﬂ'aﬂon rlsk: Some of the plan's pension commitments ane linked ta

Wiaticn k=ads to B L i oSt cases,
en et for the keved of inflation to protect the plan against
exceptional increases ininflabon). Most of the plan assets are er
unaffected by fedrate bonds), or weakly corelated with (shares) inflation,
which means that an increase ininflation will also increase the dehcit.
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GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Actuarial assumptions on the balance sheet date

December 31.

Swiss pension plan
Diiscount rate 0.15%
Moetality tahle LPP 2020 generation
Salary revaluation rate 1.00%
Retirement pension inflaticn rate D.50%
Deposit rate on savings accounts 1.00%
Turnowver rate 10.00%
Femaining life expectancy after retirement 23.3 years
Retrement age &5 years
Sensitivity analysis

December 31,

Pension commitments under current assump

ticms for Swiss pension plans 173465
Discount race |, -0.5% 21.631
Discount rame | +0,5% 17,139
Rebrement pension inflation rate, -0.5% 18241
Redrement pension inflation rate, +0.5% 200257
Salary revaluation rate, -0,5% 18.802
Salary revaluation rate, +0,5% 1%.605

The amount= above show what the value of the persion obligation

veould have been assuming the change in the individual assumption, The
sensitivity analyses are based on a change in one assumption, with all other
assumptions remaining constant. In practice. this & highly unlikely to ooour
and some of the changes in the assumptions may be comelated, When
calculating the sensitivity of the defined-benefit obligations to significant
actuarial assumgations, the same method [present value of the defined-ben-
efit ohligation applying the projected unit credit metho<l at the end of the
reparting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability
recognized in the cansolidated statements of financial positian

A3 the defined beneft persion plans in France are deemed to be insignih-
cant far the Group, no further information has been provided.

For the 2021 Ainancial vear, contributions to plans for post-employment
benefits are expectad to be SEK BOS. The weighted averags maturity of
the obligation is an estimated 233 pears,

There gre na defined-beneft pension plans for the 2009 financial year,

Note 28 Accrued Expenses and Deferred Revenue

Accrued salaries and Board fees 8,134 4,72
Wacation pay labilites 4,921 1,904
Social security costs 3440 25975
Accrued expenses for research and dewebop-

ment 14,135 1,174
Dieffered revenus = B4
Accrped expences for administrative amd

sellirg 10,7564 4,144
Orther scerued expenses - Q714
Tatal 41,386 25,515

Mote 29 Related-Party Transactions

Far information regarding remuneraton of executhse management, refer
to Mote ¥ Employees and Personned Costs and Mote 10 Share-Based
Payments.

There are no additicnal agreements or tramsactions with related parties,
ather than those described in Motes ¥ Ermployess and Personnel Coats and
10 Share-Based Payments,

Note 30 Pledged Assets, Contingent Liabilities
and Other Obligations

The Group is required to pay Kyowa Eirin Services Led,, £/k/a Archimedes
Devetopment Ltd [CArchimedes™ a fixed royvalty of 3% of net sales of
Mefecon, if aporoved, covered by the license in according to the Group's
agrearment with Archimedes pursuant bo which Calliditas were granted () an
exchusive ioense 1o joint intellectual property developed with Archimedes
aned (i} a non-exclussve license to certain of Archimedes’ ke -how as
necessary or useful to develop and commeroalize Mefecon or ather
product candidates.

The Group has exclusive rights to use, develop and market the formulation
under the license agreement with Aschimedes, and Archimedes only has
rights to rayalties when the product is sol the future. The Group will
then have an ohligation to pay a low single digit percentage of rowalties
based an net sales until the exclusive license far the patent covering the
farmulation of Mefecon expires in 2029

The Group has pledged assets amaunted to SEK 2 334 and SEK 1938 as
af December 31, 2020 and 2019 respectiveby, which cansist of restrict
bank accounts and lease depaosits. The assets are pledged for the benefit
af certain leaseholders ardd other suppliers. The Group has ne other
obligabons.
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MNote 31 Events After the Reporting Period

Ir January 2021, Ca tes shared the clinical deselopment plan for seta
naxily ared addiban-al data from Part & of Meflgaed stody at the RED Day.

Ir March 2021, Calliditsa submitted an application to the US Food and
Dirug Acminist on (FDWA} For approval of Mefecon for the treatment of
lgf nephropathng

Im April 2021, Mefecan was granted accelerated assessment procechine

by the Furapean MMedicine Agency's {EbA) for the treatment of 1g4
nephrooathey

MNote 32 Key Figure Definitions and Reconcilia-
tions of Alternative Performance Measures

Equity ratia at the The r at the =nd The exjuity ratio
end of the year in % of respectve period is measures the proportsan
calculated by dividing of the tatal az=ets that

total eguity attributable  are financed by share
to equity holders of the  haolders.
Farent Company by total

assets,
Research and Research and develop- The key perfarmance
development ment expenses, divided  indicator helps the
experses/ Total ey total aperating rzader of the interm
aperating expenses  expenses, which s the financial staterments to
Gk surm af research and anahyse the porbion af
development sxpenses, e Groups expenses
admi e and that are atiributable to
sellimg expenses, other the Group's research and
operating income ard development activities.
EXPENSES.

Year Ended December 31,

2019
Expenses refating to research and development/
aperating expenses, ¥
Research and development expenses {241,371} (149824}
Administarative and =elling expenses {141,724} (52,882}
Other operabing income/expenses 2,501 11400
Total operating expenses (380.594) ] IZIZ.W}-

Expenses relating to research and
development/operating expenses, % 63% FO5%

Equity ratio at the end of the year %

Equity attributabée po equity hobkders of the

Parent Compary at the @nd of the year 1.2104%1 7EROT1
Tokal assets at the end of the year 1,506,450 45200
Equity ratio at the end of the year % 80% 93%
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I PARENT COMPANY

Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31,

[SEK in thousands, except per share amounts) 2019
Met sales z 874 184,829
Research and development expenses 7 (227 027) {149 826)
Administrative and selling expenses 587 (128,8%24) [63,410)
Other operating income 2 2482 4,385
Other operating expenses 4 - 4,540
Operating loss (352,567) (28,562)
Prafit/{loss) from financial income/{expenses)

Profit/loss fram participations in Group companies g 4 [3.43%9)
Other interest received and similar items ] 559 P26
Interest expense and similar items 10 (55,359) 15,111)
Loss before income tax (407,363) (36,186)
Income tax expense 11
Loss for the year (407,363) (36,186)
Statements of Comprehensive Income

Vear Ended December 31,

[SEH in thousands) Mate 2000 2019
Loss for the year (407,363) (36,186)
Other comprehensive income/{lass) for the year - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (407,363) (36,186)
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PARENT COMPANY

Balance Sheet

Decamber 31,
EEp— - s
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible Assets
Licenses and similar rights 12 16,086 16,066
16,066 146,066
Tangible Assets
Eqjuipment 13 a0 104
80 104
Non-Current Financial Assets
Farticipations in Group companies 14 295259 101
Receivables from Group companies 15 1485
Other non-current financial assets 16 12379 1,939
298,683 2.040
Total non-current assets 314,829 18,210
Current assets
Accounts receivables 7 44,586
Other current assets 10,798 2,718
Prepaid expenses | 14430 18,287
25488 &7.5%1
Cash 18 478,208 T52448
Total current assets 1,003,696 820,039
TOTAL ASSETS 1,318,525 838,249
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I PARENT COMPANY

Balance Sheet

December 31,

E— -

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity 19

Restricted shareholders’ equity

Share capital 1,598

Statutory reserve 3092
5,090

MNon-restricted shareholders’ equity

Share premium reserve 21156721
Retained sarnings (479.379)
Met loss for the vear (407, 363)

1,229,979
Total shareholders’ equity 1,235,069

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 20 4572
Liabilities to Group companies 23 105
Total non-current liabilities 5077
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 42 4469
Liabilities to Group companies 23 4003
Other current liabilities 1,120
Accrued expenses and deferred revenue 21 30787
Total current liabilities 78,379
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,318,525
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3092
4,640
1.2468,334
(448 989)
[36,186)
783,159

787,799

175

225

24,531
50,225

838,249




PARENT COMPANY

Statements of Changes in Shareholders'

Equity

[SEK in thousands)

Resiricted Shareholders’ Equity

Share Capital

Opening equity January 1, 2019 1,408 3,092 1,069,072 (320,299) (131,923) 621,350
Transfer of previous yvear's lass (131,923} 131,923
Loss for the vear (36,186) {(346,1848)
Other comprehensive income/{loss) for the yvear = -
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (36,1B8) (36,186)
Profit on merger of subsidiaries 150 - 150
Transactions with owners:
Mewr share issue 140 - 210177 - - 210317
Costs attributable to new share issue [10,915) (10.915)
Premiums from warrants issuance 2834 2834
Share-based payments 249 249
Total transactions with owners 140 - 199,262 3,083 - 202485
Closing equity December 31, 2019 1,548 3,092 1,268,334 (448,989) (36,1B8) TBTF. 799
Opening equity January 1, 2020 1,548 3,092 1,268,334 (448,989) (36,1868) 787.799
Transfer of previous yvear's loss = = [34,186) 36,186 E
Loss for the year (407,363) (407.363)
Other comprebensive income/{lass) for the year - - - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - ~ - [407,363) (407,363)
Transactions with owners:
Mews share issue 35 =8 (N GG o) 891,388
Costs attributable to nev share issue [P7.686) [F7.686)
Exercise of warrants 52 - 55,083 [215) - 54,920
Share-based payments - - - &£,012 - 5012
Total transactions with owners 449 - 848387 5,797 -  B54,633
Closing equity December 31, 2020 1,998 3,092 2,116,721 (479,379) (407,363) 1,235,069
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I PARENT COMPANY

Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

[SEK in thousands) Mate 015
Operating activities
Operating loss (352.5&7) [28,562)
Adjustments for non-cash items 18 10,832 546
Interest received 1212 P26
Interest paid [3) | (18)
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital (339,826) (27,108)
Cash flow from changes in working capital
Changes in operating receivables 13 884 [53,546)
Changes in operating liabilities 40024 7,105
Cash flow from operating activities (285,918) (73,54%9)
Investing activities
Funds acquired from merger with Group companies 72
Acgusition of participations in Group companies 14 (294 05%)
Purchase of equipment 12 - [118)
Investments in non-current financial assets 16 {1,683) (1,888)
Disposal of non-current financial assets 4
Purchase of intangible assets 12 o+ [16,066)
Cash flow from investing activities (295,738} (18,000)
Financing activities
Mew share issue 891 388 210317
Costs attributable to new share issue (95,938) [10,915)
Transaction costs, paid - (1.,748)
Exercise of warrants 54,920
Prermiums from warrants issuance 2 2834
Cash flow from financing activities 850,370 200,488
Met increase/(decrease) in cash 268714 108,939
Cash at beginning of the year 752448 545,903
Exchange-rate difference in cash {42,954) [2,394)
Cash at the end of the year 18 978,208 752,448
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PARENT COMPANY

Notes to Financial Statements

(SEK in thousands, cxcept per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

MNote 1 Accounting Policies

Basis for Preparation

The Parent Company preparsd its annual report in accordance with the
Arnual Accounts Act and the recommendations from the Swedish Financal
Reporting Board, RFE 2 "&ccounting for legal entities”.

The differences bebween the Group's and the Parent Comgany’s
accounting policies are presented below. The accounting policies for the
Farent Company stated below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied
oonsistently ower all perinds presented in the financial statements. The
firancial statements provide comparative information in respect of the
previaus period

Subsidiaries

Farticipations in subsidiaries have been recognized on a historscal cost bass
in the Parent Comparry, which implies that tfansacbon costs are induded in
thee carrying amount of parbicipations in subsidiaries,

Finamcial Assets and Liabilities

e to the relationship bebween accounting and tasation, the regulations
for financial instruments in accordance with IFRS & are not applied in the
Parent Company as a legal entity. The Parent Comparry applies a historical
cast basis in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act, For this reasan,
firancial assets are measured in the Parent Comparny at cost less anyg
impairmert and fmancial current assets are valued to the lower af cost or
market.

Leases

The Parent Comparry applies the exermption contained in RFR 2 for legal
entites and record all lease agreements as an expense through the state
rnent of incoime an a straight-line basis over the lease tenm.

Group and Shareholder Contributions

Both received and provided Group contributions are recognized as appro-
priations n acoordance with the sitermative rule. Sharebalders’ condri
butions are recognized in the sharehalders’ equity of the recipient and
capitalized in “Participations in Group companies” by the contributor, where
impairment s ot required.

MNote 2 Revenues

Wear Ended December 31,

Type of goods or service

Qut-licensing = 184.82%
Prowision of drugs 874

Total ara 184.82%
Geographical markets

Zhima. Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and

Singapore a74 184.82%
Total 874 184.82%

Mote 3 Other Operating Income

Wear Ended December 31,

Eschange rate differences

Total

Mote 4 Other Operating Expense

Year Ended December 31,
Exchange rate differences - 4,484
Met loss on disposst of eqguipment - 76
Tatal - 4,540
Mote 5 Auditors' Fee

Year Ended Decemnber 31,

Ernst & Young AB

Audit services 4,442 &5
Other audit activities 3774 3,343
Crther services = k-]
Total 8,223 4,086

Audit assignments relate to the statutory audit of the Anancial statements
ard the accaunts, a5 well as the management of the Board of Directors
and the CEC. This inchudes other responsibilites that it s incombent
upon the compary's auditor to perform incloding providing advice or any
other assistance that may result from observations in such review or the
conduct of such other responsibilities.

Cther auditing activities are those senvices in accordance with a special
agreement an financial statements, Other services include advice on
AC_EUlll'l'.in:;: imsues and adwice on processes andd internal controd

MNote 6 Leases

Leasing expenses for the year in respect to operating leases amounted o
SEK 33268 and SEK 2,508 for the year ended December 31,
2019, respectively. Future payment commitments for operating leases
are specifred as folkows:

Future minimum lease payments
Within 1 wear 2,835 3,284
Between 1 and 5 years 1,087 3,808

tore than 5 vears

Total 3922 7.092

Mote 7 Employees and Personnel Costs

For sal s and benefits to employees and execubive management and
infarmation about the number of emolovees, refer b Mote ? Emplayess
and Personne! Costs for the Group. For information about warrants

and share-based payments, see Mote 10 Share-Based Payments for the
Sroup.

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annual Report 2020

i




(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

MNote 8 Profit/Loss from Participations
in Group Companies

Wear Ended Decamber 31,

Profit an liguidation of subsikdiaries 4 -
Irmpairment of participations in Group

COMpanies = (3,737
Reversal of impairment of receivabiles within

the Grown companies - 200
Total 4 {2,43%)

The formeer subsidiary Pharmalink Oncology AS ceased through
woluntary liguidation, as no operations were conducted for the pear
ended December 31, 2030

Far the year en December 31, 201%, a write-down of participation in
Graup Campanies in the subsidiary Mefecon AB of SEK 3,739 oocured,
elue to the expiration of patents relating to methods and means for the
treatrment of glommendlomephiitis

Note 9 Other Interest Received and Similar
Items

Wear Ended December 31,

a0

Inberest income 55% T2

Total 559 F26

Mote 10 Interest Expense and Similar Items

Year Ended December 31,

e
Inberest expense {14)
Exchange rate differerces 152,037 (2.3%3)
Changes in FX options measured at fair value (3.318) (2703
Total (55,359) (5,111)

1 PARENT COMPANY - NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 11 Income Tax Expense

Current tax taxes - =

Income tax expense recognized in the
staterments of incorme - =

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Accounting loss before tax (407 363) [36,18E]
Tax in accordance with applicable tax rate for

the Farent Compary 21 4% (31,4%) B7.174 7744
Tow effect of:

Tax attributabie to non-deductitsle tax bosses

carried forward and unrecognized deferred

tax assets (87.084] 1,270
Mon-deductible experses 73] i1.518)
Mor-taxable income 1 &4
Income tax expense recognized in the

statements of income - -
At the effective income tax rate 0% 0%

The Parent Company has costs abtributable to new share issue amaunted
to SEK 97,688 and SEK 10,915 for the vear ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively, which are recognized directly against ecuity.
These costs are deductible for tax purposes.

The Parent Compary has SER 1,061,734 and SEK 574 422 of tax |osses
carried forward for which deferred tax asiets hawe not been recogrized
in the statements of finandial positon as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively. Deferred tax asset= will be recognized for unused tax
lesses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilized.

MNote 12 Intangible Assets

December 31,
—
Licensas and similar rights
Cost at opening balance 16,0684
Acquisition for the year - 16,064
Cost at closing balance 15,066 16,066
Net book value 16,066 16,066

For additionsd infarmaban on intaagible assets in the Parent Company,
see Mobe 16 Intangible Assets and Impairment Testing in the Group,
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Note 13 Equipment

Cost at opening balance 118 313
Acguisition for the year - 118
Disposal for the year - 213
Cost at closing balance 118 118
Depreciation at opening balance {14 [F0a)
Deprecation for the year (2d) ()
Disposal fior the vear = L]
Depreciation at clesing balance 138) (14)
Met book value BO 104

Mote 14 Participations in Group Companies

2019
st ab apening halancs 5,371 5224
Acquisitan for the year 295,158 1
Shareholders' contributions - as0
Liquidation 1.531) =
Reclassification by merger = [F04)
‘Cost at closing balance 298,998 5371
Impairment at apening balance {52700 (2.435)
Reversal af write-donsms 1531
Impairment for the vear = (3,739
Reclassification by rerger = G0
Impairment at closing balance 13,739) 5,270)
Met book value 295,259 101

Acquisition for the year
Lo Maote 15 Business Carmhinations in the Group for further informaticn
an this year's acguisition, which refers to the business combination of
Gerkyotex 54

Decamber 31,
Reglstared offscs 2019
Mefecon AB, 5568604-204%9, Stockholm
Share af equity 1005 1005
Share af voting powwer 1005 10055
Mumber of participation rights 1,000 1,000
Met book valwe 100 100

Calliditas Therapeutics inc., 83-4024951, USA

Share af equity 1005 1005
Share of voting power 1005 100
Mumber of participatiaon rights 1, 1,000
Met book value T 1

Genkyotes S4, 439 489 022, France

Share af equity 5% B
Share of voting power 5% -
Murmber of participation rights 13,121,674

Met book value i 295.151;- =

For the year ervled December 31, 2020, Pharmalink Crcclogy AS ceased
thraugh walurtary lig 1. Calliditas has alsa aguired a controlling
inberest in Genlpatex 58 For further infarmation an the business
combination, see Mote 15 Busiress Combinaticns in the Group.

Mote 15 Receivables from Group Companies

December 31,
2019
Dpening balance -
Additional receivables 1,594
Exchange differences (2091
Met book value 1,485 &
Mote 16 Other Mon-Current Financial Assets
December 31,
2019
Opening balance 1,239 341
Bank guaranbees granted = 1,888
Feimbursement security deposit = (2900
Met book valwe 1,939 1,939
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(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Mote 17 Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid rental charges

Prepaid indsurancs premiums

Prepald expenses fior research

and develapment 224 2854
Prepaid transaction costs = 14,642
Other prepaid expenses 3,288

Tatal 14,490 18,287

MNote 18 Cash

Awailable balances

978,208

Total 578,208

Adjustments for non-cash ibems
Wear Ended December 31,

2020 L

Depreciation 24 44
Chage in Prowisions 4797 175
Share-based payments &011 249
Other - 78
Total 10,832 5d&

Reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities
Ha liabilities from financing activities for the year ended Decernber 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively,

Mote 19 Shareholders’ Equity

A of December 31, 2020

Share capital consists of 49,941 584 and 38 707 438 shares with a
guiatient value of SEK Q04 as of December 31, 2020 and 201%, respec-
Erwehy, All shares hobd has ghe came entitlement to the company's profits,
For addibanal information see the Group's Mate 25 Equity.

The share premium reserve refers to capital from news share issues that
weere issued at a price that exceeds the guotient value less cost attributable
b0 M share issues.

Proposed appropriation of earnings
The: following eamings are at the disposal of the Annual General Meeting:

Dacember 31,

i 2019
Share premium resense 2116721 1,248,334
Retainsd eamings {479,379 {8 FB?)
ket loss for the pear {407, 363) (34,184)
1.229.97% 783,159

T be distributed as follows:
To be carried forward 1,229,979 783,159

1 PARENT COMPANY - NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 20 Provisions

Decembear 31,
- BT
Cpening balance 175 x
Prinsl for the vear 4,797 175
Total 4972 175
Far additional information an Provisions in the Parent Company. see Note
26 Pro 1 the Groap,

Mote 21 Accrued Expenses and Deferred Revenue

December 31,
2019

Accrued salaries and Board fees 59325 4,143
Wacaticn pay labiliby 2503 1,502
Social =ecurity costs 3441 2975
Accrucd sxpenses for rescarch and
development 13,072 1,177
Dieffered revenue = a4
Aceroed expenses tor sdministrative ard
selling expenscs 5,744 4,144
Cther accrued expenses - 9,714
Total 30,787 24,531

Note 22 Assets Pledged and Contingent Liabilities

Infarmation cancerming assets pledged and any contingent labilitbes in the
Parent Comparmy can be found in the Group's Mote 30 Assets Pledged,
Contingent Liabilities and Other Obligations. In the Parent Company
restricted bank accounts amownts to SEK 1,938 and SEK 1,938 as aof
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectiveby.

Mote 23 Related-Party Transactions

Subsidiaries

“ear Ended
December 31,

2020 = 19,448 = 1485 4,108
Wear Ended

December 31,

2019 = 4086 2 o 475

Far information regarding remunerabion of ceecutive management, refer to
the Group's Mote 9 Employees and Personnel Costs.
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The undersigned declare that the annual report has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accaunting principles in Sweden and these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union (EU). The annual

report and consolidated financial statements respectively provide fair and accurate impression of the financial
position and earnings of the Group and the Parent Company.
The Report of the Board of Directors' for the Parent Company and Group gives a true and fair view of

the performance of the Parent Company’s and the Group’s operations, position and results and describes

the significant risks and uncertainties facing the Parent Company and the companies included in the Group.

Stockhalm, April 27, 2021

Elmar Schnee Renée Aguiar-Lucander
Board Chairman CEQ
Diane Parks Hilde Furberg
Board rmember Board member
Mally Henderson Lennart Hansson
Board member Board member

Cur audit report was submitted in April 27, 2021

Ernst & Young AB

Anna Svanberg
Authaorized Public Accountant
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Auditor’s report

To the general meeting of the shareholders of Calliditas Therapeutics AB, corporate identity number 556659-9766

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts

Opinions

We have audited the annual accounts and consali-
dated accounts of Calliditas Therapeautics AB (publ) for
the wear 2020, The annual accounts and consolidated
accounts of the company are included on pages 32-77
in this document.,

In aur opinian, the annual accounts have been
prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act
and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
pasition of the parent company as of 31 December
2020 and its fimancial performance and cash flow for
the vear then ended in accordance with the Annual
Accounts Act, The consalidated accounts have been
prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act
and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the group as of 31 December 2020 and
their financial performance and cash flow for the vear
then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and
the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory administration
report is consistent with the other parts of the annual
accounts and consalidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of
shareholders adopts the income statement and balance
sheet for the parent company, and the income state-
ment and statement of financial position for the group,

Qur opinians in this report on the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts are consistent with the content
of the additicnal repart that has been submitted to the
parent company's audit cormmittee in accordance with

the Audit Regulation (537/2014) Article 11.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with Inter-
national Standards on Auditing (154) and generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Qur respon-
sibilities under those standards are further described

in the Auditor's Respansibilifies section. We are
independent of the parent company and the group in
accordance with professional ethics for accountants in
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical respon-
sibilifies in accordance with these requirements., This
includes that, based an the best of our knowledge and
belief, no prohibited services referred to in the Audit
Regulation (537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided
to the audited cormpany or, where applicable, its parant
campany or its controlled companies within the EL.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinions,

Key Audit Matters

Kew audit matters of the audit are those matters that,
in cur professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of, and in forming
our opinion thereon, the annual accounts and con-
salidated accounts as a whole, but we do not provide

a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the
matter is provided in that context.

W have fulflled the responsibiliies described in the
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of cur report, including in relation
to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial staterments. The results of our audit proce-
dures, including the procedures performed to address
the matter below, provide the basis for our audit
opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

Business combinations

Description

As described in Mote 15 of the consclidated financial
statements, during the financial yvear the Group has
acquired a contralling interest in Genkyotex SA.

The acquisition cost of the assets and liabilites
included in the business combination is determined
through a purchase price allocation in connection

with the business combination, as described in Mote

1 of the consclidated financial statements. Acquired
identihable assets and assumed liabilities are initially
recognized at fair value at the time of acquisition, and
the difference between the purchase price and the fair
wvalues of identifiable assets and assumed liabilities is
recognized as goodwill.

As described in Note 2 and note 15, the accounting for
business combinations reguires management to make
assessments and assumptions in order to estimate

the fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabili-
fies. Incorrect assumptions and caloulations related to
business combinations could have a material impact
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on the waluation of acquired assets and liabilities. For
this reason, we have determined that this is a key audit
maiter.

How our audit addressed this key audit matter

In aur audit for the financial vear, we have reviewsd

the acquisition agreement and evaluated management's
process for the preparation of the purchase price
allocation.

We have also evaluated management's assessments
and waluation of identified assets and assumed liabil-
ities, and performed reconciliations of purchase price
allocations to the underlying accounting records. We
have also, with the support of our valuation specialists,
evaluated applied valuation methods and manage-
ment's assumptions in relation to these.

Finally, we have also reviewed the disclosures provided
in the annual report.

Other Information than the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts

This docurnent also contains other information than
the annual accounts and consalidated accounts and

is found on pages 1-31 and B2-%5. The report on
management remuneration for the fiinancial vear 2020
which will be issued after the date of this auditor’s
report is also considered other information. The Board
of Dircctors and the Managing Director are responsible
for this other infarmation.

Qur opinion an the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts does not cover this other information and
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
regarding this other information,

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts, our responsibility is to read the
infarmation identified above and consider whether the
information is materially inconsistent with the annual
accounts and consolidated accounts, In this procedure
we also take into account our knowledge othenwise
abtained in the audit and assess whether the informa-
tion otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If wez, based on the work performed concerning the
aother infarmation which we received up until the date
af this auditor's report, conclude that there is a material
misstatermnent of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in

this regard.

If we, in connection with reading the management
remuneration report, canclude that there is a material
misstaternent we are reguired to report this to the
board of directars and request correction.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Mana-
ging Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are
responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts
and consolidated accounts and that they give a fair
presentation in accordance with the Annual Accounts
Act and, concerning the consolidated accounts, in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EUL The
Board of Directors and the Managing Directar are also
responsible for such internal control as they deter-
mine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual
accounts and consclidated accounts that are free from
materal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and consalidatec
accounts, The Board of Directors and the Managing
Cirector are responsible for the assessment of the
company's and the group's ability to continue as a
going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters
related ta going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting. The going concern basis of
accounting is however not applied if the Board of
Directors and the Managing Director intends to
liquidate the company, to cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so,

The Audit Cormmittee shall, without prejudice to the

Board of Director's responsibilities and tasks in general,

ameng ather things oversee the company's financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibility

Cur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts as a2 whole are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's repart that includes our opinions. Reascnable

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guar-

antee that an audit conducted in accordance with 154s
and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden
will always detect a material misstaternent when it
exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the
ageregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these annual accounts and consolidated
accounts.,
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AUDITOR'S REPORT

As part af an audit in accordance with 1585 we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepti-
cism throughaout the audit. Ve also;

» ldentify and assess the risks of raterial misstate-
ment of the anrual accounts and consalidated
accounts, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our apinions.
The risk of not detecting a material misstaterment
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional amissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal contral.

= Obtain an understanding of the company's internal
control relevant to our audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinicn on the effectiveness of the company's
internal control.

« Ewaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting est-
mates and related disclosures made by the Board of
Directors and the Managing Director.

+« Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of
Directors' and the Managing Directar's use of the
going caoncern basis of accounting in preparing the
annual accounts and consolidated accounts. We
also draw a conclusion, based on the audit evidence
obtained, as to whether any material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the company's and the
group's ability to continue as a going concern, If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to dravw attention in our auditor's repart to
the related disclosures in the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify ocur cpinion about the annual

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions

In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts, we hawve also audited the
administration of the Board of Directors and the
Managing Director of Calliditas Therapeutics AR (publ)
for the yvear 2020 and the proposed appropriations aof
the company's profit or loss.

accounts and consolidated accounts. Our conclu-
sions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause a company and a
group to cease to continue as a going concern.

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
cantent of the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts, including the disclosures, and whether the
annual accounts and consolidated accounts repre-
sent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

« Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
ar business activities within the group to express
an opinion on the consolidated accounts. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and perfor-
mance of the group audit. We remain solely respon-
sible for our opinions,

We rmust inform the Board of Directors of, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit. WWe must also inform of significant audit fincings
during our audit, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identified.

We must also provide the Board of Directors with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to commu-
nicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our inde-
pendence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of
Directaors, we deterrnine those matters that were of
rmast significance in the audit of the annual accounts
and consolidated accounts, including the most
impartant assessed risks for material misstaternent, and
are therefore the key audit matters, We describe these
matters in the auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes disclosure about the matter,

We recommend to the gencral meeting of sharcholders
that the proft be appropriated in accordance with the
proposal in the statutory administration report and

that the members of the Board of Dircctors and the
Managing Director be discharged from liability for the
financial year.
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Basis for opinions

We conducted the audit in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden, Our respan-
sibiliies under those standards are further described
in the Auditor's Respaonsibilities section. We are
independent of the parent compary and the group in
accordance with professional ethics for accountants in
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical respon-
sibilities in accordance with these requirements.

W believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and apprapriate to provide a basis for our
apinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Mana-
ging Director

The Board of Directors is responsible for the propasal
far appropriations of the campany’s profit or loss, At
the proposal of a dividend, this includes an assessment
aof whether the dividend is justifiable considering the
requirements which the compary's and the group's
type of operations, size and risks place on the size of
the parent company's and the group’s equity, consali-
dation requirements, liquidity and position in general.
The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s
arganization and the administration of the company's
affairs. This includes amaong other things continuous
assessment of the company’s and the group’s financial
situation and ensuring that the company's organization
is designed so that the accounting. management of
assets and the company's financial affairs otherwisze
are cantrolled in a reassuring manner, The Managing
LCirector shall manage the ongoing administration
according to the Board of Directors' guidelines and
instructions and among other matters take measures
that are necessary to fulfill the company’s accounting
in accordance with law and handle the ranagement of
assets ina reassuring manner,

Auditor's responsibility

Qur obhjective concerning the audit of the administra-
tion, and thereby our opinicn about discharge from
liahility, is to obtain audit evidence to assess with a
reasanable degree of assurance whether any member
af the Board of Directors or the Managing Director in
any material respect:

= has undertaken any action ar been guilty of any
omission which can give rise to lizbility to the
company, or

« in any other way has acted in contravention of the
Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the
Articles of Association.

Cur objective concerning the audit of the proposed
appropriations of the company’s pront or loss, and
therchy our opinion about this. is to assess with
reascnable degree of assurance whether the proposal
is in accordance with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accor-
dance with generally accepted auditing standards in
Sweden will always detect actions or omissions that
can give rise to liability to the company. or that the
proposed appropriations of the company's profit or loss
are not in accordance with the Companies Act,

As part of an audit in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professicnal skep
tcism throughout the audit. The examination of the
administration and the proposed appropriations of the
company's profit or loss is based primarily on the audit
of the accounts. Additional audit procedures performed
are hased on our professional judgment with starting
point in risk and materiality. This means that we focus
the examination on such actions, areas and relation-
ships that are material for the operations and where
deviations and violations would hawe particular impor-
tance for the company's situabion, We examine and test
decisions undertaken, support for decisions, actions
taken and other circumstances that are relevant to our
opinion concerning discharge from liability. As a basis
for our apinion on the Board of Directars’ proposed
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss we exam-
ined the Board of Directors' reasoned statement and a
selection of supporting evidence in arder to be able to
assess whether the proposal is in accordance with the
Companies Act,

Ernst & Young AB, Hamngatan 24, 111 47, Stockholm,
was appointed auditor of Calliditas Therapeutics AB by
the general meeting of the sharehalders on June 25,
2020 and has been the company’s auditor since April
15, 2004,

Stockholm, April 27, 2021
Ernst & Young AB

Anna Svanberg
Authorized Public Accountant
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Introduction

Calliditas Therapeutics AB (publ), "Calliditas” is a
Swedish public limited liakility company with its regis-
tered office in Stockholm. The company's share was
listed o June 29, 2018 on Masdag Stockholm and on
June 5, 2020 an Masdaq Global Select Market in the
U.5. and is traded under the ticker CALTX and CALT,
respectively. This report pertains to the financial year
aof 2020 and has been examined by the company’s
auditors.,

Background

Corporate governance refers to the systems through
which shareholders, directly or indirectly, control the
company. Good corporate governance is an essential
part of effarts to generate value for Calliditas' share-
holders. Corporate gowvernance in Calliditas is based on
Swedish law. Masdag Stockhelm's Rule Book for [ssuers
and internal rules and regulations, The comparny also
applies the Swedish Code of Corporate Gowvernance
{the *Code”). The Code applies to all Swedish compa-
nies whase shares are listed on a regulated market in
Sweden. The company need not comply with all of the
rules of the Code as the Code itself offers an opportu-
nity to deviate from the rules, on the condition that any
such deviation, and the chosen alternative solution, is
described and the reasons explained in the Corporate
Governance Report {according to the comply ar explain
principle). Howewver, the company has not deviated
from any of the rules established in the Code during
the year. The company is classified as a Foreign Private
lssuer (FPI) in accordance with the regulations estab-
lished by the US Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) and therefore follows market practice in the
dormestic market, i.e. Swedish corporate governance.

Examples of Important Rules and Regulations
Important internal rules and regulations

« Articles of Association

= Rules of procedure of the Beard of Directors and
Committees

= Directives for the CEQ
+ Policy documents
Impertant external rules and regulations

« Swedish Companies Act

» Swedish and international accounting legislation
« Masdag Stockholm's Rule Book for lssuers

+» Masdag US Rule Book for lssuers

+ Swedish Code of Corporate Governance

- Corporate Governance Report

Shareholders

Calliditas' shares were admitted to trading on MNasdag
Stockholm, Mid Cap, in June 2018 and on MNasdag
Global Select Market in the ULS., in June 5, 2020. At
the end of 2020, the total number of shares and voting
rights amounted to 49,941,584, distributed between
£.513 shareholders. The ten largest shareholders held
58.4% of shares outstanding and other shareholders
41.46%. As of December 31, 2020, two sharcholders
owned shares that each represented 10% or more of
the tatal number of shares and vating rights in the
company: BVF Partners LP 12.7% and Stiftelsen Indus-
trifonden, 11.6%.

Dividend Policy
The company has sa far not paid out any dividend.

Any future dividend and the size thereof, will be deter-
mined based on long-term growth, earnings trends
and capital requirements of Calliditas. It is the view

of the Board of Directors, that the company should
prioritize progression of the development program, and
until the future commercial launch of Mefecon, finan-
cial resources should mainly be used to finance the
company's development programs. n view of Calliditas'
financial position and negative earnings, the Board of
Directors does not intend to propose any dividend
before the company generates long-term sustainable
profits and positive cash flow. Dividends shall, as far as
a dividend is proposed, be balanced with regard to the
business risk,

Annual General Meeting

Right to participate in the Annual General Meeting
Shareholders whao wish to parficipate in the Annual
General Meeting (AGM) must be included in the share-
holders' register maintained by Eurcclear Sweden on
the day falling six banking days prior to the meeting,
and notify the company of their participation no later
than on the date stipulated in the notice convening the
meeting. Shareholders may attend the sharehaolders’
meetings in persan ar by proxy and may be accom-
panied by a maximum of two assistants. Typically, it

is possible for a sharehaolder to register for the AGM

in several different ways as indicated in the notice of
the rmeeting. A shareholder may vote for all company
shares owned or represented by the shareholder,
Motice of the AGM shall be published in the Swedish
Official Gazette and on the company's website, within
such fime as set forth in the Swedish Companies

Act (2005:551). It shall be announced in Svenska
Dagbladet that a notice has been issued.
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Annual General Meeting 2021

Calliditas’ 2021 AGM will be held on Thursday, May 27,
2021. In order to mitigate the spread of Covid-17%, the
Board of Directors has decided that the annual general
meeting will be conducted by advance voting only,
without physical presence of sharehalders, proxies and
third parties.

The minutes from the AGM will be made available at
weww.Calliditas. se.

Participation at the Annual General Meeting

The shareholders may anly exercise their vobing rights
at the annual general meeting by voting in advance,
so-called postal voting in accordance with Section 22
of the Act (2020:198) on temporary exceptions to facil-
itate the execution of general meetings in companies
and other asscciations. A special form shall be used for
advance voting. The form will be available on Calliditas
Therapeutics' website, www.calliditas.se, The advance
wvofing form is considered as the notification of partici-
pation.

The completed voting form must be received by
Euroclear Sweden AB no later than Wednesday
26 May 2021.

Shareholders who wish to have a matter brought
befare the AGKM must submit a written request to the
Board of Directors, Such request must normally be
received by the Board of Directors no later than seven
weeks prior to the Meeting.

Momination Committee

Companies applying the Code shall have a Nomination
Committee, Accarding to the Code, the AGM shall
appoint the members of the Momination Committee or
resolve on procedures for appointing the members. The
MNomination Committee shall, pursuant to the Code,
consist of at least three members of which a majority
shall be independent in relation to Calliditas and the
Group Management. In addition, at least one member
af the Momination Committee shall be independent in
relation to the largest shareholder in terms of voting
rights or group of shareholders who cooperate in terms
af the campany’s managerment.

At the Extracrdinary General Meeting held on
September 14, 2017, it was resolved that the Nomi-
nation Committes shall be compaosed of the Chairman
af the Board of Directors together with one represen-
tative of each of the three largest shareholders, based
on ownership in Calliditas as of the end of the third
quarter of the fiscal yvear. The Momination Committee
in 2021 consists of:

+ Patrik Sobocki, appointed by Stftelsen Industri-
fenden (Chairman)

* Sike Loy, appointed by BVF Partners LP
+ [Kar| Tobieson, appointed by Linc AB
» Elmar Schnee, Chairman of the Board.

Should any of the three largest sharehaolders renounce
its right to appoint one representative to the Momi
nation Committees, such right shall transfer to the
sharcholder who then in turn, after these three, is the
largest shareholder in Calliditas. The Board of Directors
shall convene the Momination Committee. The member
representing the largest sharehelder shall be appointed
Chairman of the Nomination Cormmittee. unless

the Mamination Committee unanimously appoints
saomeone else. Should a shareholder having appointed a
representative to the Momination Cormmittee no longer
be among the three largest shareholders at a point

in time falling three months before the AGM at the
latest, the representative appointed by such share-
holder shall resign and the shareholder wha is then
among the three largest sharehalders shall have the
right to appoint ane representative to the Namination
Committee Unless there are specific reasons otherwise,
the already established composition of the Momina-
tion Committee shall, howewver, remain unchanged in
case such change in the ownership is only marginal

or occurs during the three-month period prior to the
AGM Where a shareholder has become one of the
three largest shareholders due to a material change

in the ovvnership at a point in tme falling later than
three months before the AGM, such a shareholder shall
however in any event have the right to take part of the
work of the Momination Committee and participate at
its meetings Should a member resign from the Momi-
nation Committee before his or her work is completed,
the shareholder who has appointed such mermber shall
appaint a new member, unless that sharehelder is no
lenger one of the three largest shareholders, in which
case the largest shareholder in turn shall appoint the
substitute member. A shareholder who has appointed a
representative to the Momination Cormmmittee shall have
the right to discharge such representative and appoint
a new representative.

Changes to the composition of the Momination
Cammittee shall be announced immediately. The term
of the office for the Momination Committee ends when
the next Nomination Committes has becn appointed.,
The Namination Committee shall carry out its duties as
set out in the Code.

The Momination Committee will be constituted and will
meet in advance of the 2021 AGM and its proposals
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will be presented in the convening notice of the AGM
and on Calliditas' website. Sharehelders may submit
propasals to the Momination Committes in accor-
dance with what has been published on the company's
website, www.calliditas.se, prior to the AGH.

Auditor

In accordance with the Articles of Association,

Calliditas must appoint a registered firm of accountants as
external auditor. The 2020 AGM elected the registered
firm of accountants Ernst & Young AB as auditor, up to the
2021 AGM. The Auditor-in-Charge is Anna Svanberg. The
auditor examines the Parent Compary's and the Group's
accounts and administration on behalf of the AGM, The
external audit of the Parent Company's and the Group's
accounts and the Board's and CEO's administration is
conducted using generally accepted audiing standards
in Sweden. The company entrusted the auditor to
review one interim report in 2020, which satishes the
requirements of the Code, For information about remua-
neration of the auditor, refer to Note & Auditors' Fee.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is the second highest deci-
sion-making body of the company after the AGM.
According to the Swedish Companies Act. the Board
aof Directors is responsible for the organization of
Calliditas and the management of the company's
affairs, which means that the Board of Directors is
respansible for, among other things, setting targets
and strategies, securing routines and systems for
evaluation of set targets, continuously assessing the
financial condition and profits as well as evaluating the
aperating management. The Board of Directors is also
responsible for ensuring that annual reports and interim
reports are prepared in a timely manner. Moreowver, the
Board of Directors appaints the CEG,

Members of the Board of Directars are normalky
appointed by the AGM for the period untl the end of

the next AGM. According to Calliditas' Articles of Asso
ciation, the members of the Board of Directors elected
By the AGM shall be not less than three and not more
than ten members with no deputy members of the
Board of Directors.

Accarding to the Code, the Chairman of the Board

of Directors is to be elected by the AGM and have a
special responsibility for l2ading the work of the Board
of Directors and for ensuring that the work of the
Board of Directors is efficiently organized.

The Board of Directors applies written rules of proce-
dure, which are revised annually and adopted by the
inaugural board meeting every vear. Among other
things, the rules of procedure govern the practice of
the Board of Directors, functions and the division of
work between Board members and the CEOQ. AL the
inaugural board meeting, the Board of Directors also
adopts instructions for the CEQ, including instructions
for financial reporting.

The Board of Directors meets according to an annual
predetermined schedule. In addition to these meetings.
additional Board meetings can be convened to handle
issues which cannot be postponed until the next ordi-
nary board meeting. In addition to the Board meetings,
the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the CEQ
continuously discuss the management of the campany.

Currently, the company’s Board of Directors consists of
five ordinary members elected by the SGM.

Board Independence

The company satishes the requirements of the Code as
most of the Board members elected by the AGM are
independent of the compary and management, and that

at least two of these are independent in relation to major
shareholders, The table below presents the independence of
members at the date onwhich this report was published.

Board members' independence, attendance and remuneration in 2018

Elnar Schines Board Chairman 2019 Wes
Bengt Julander Board Member 2004 ves
{urtil fune 20309

Lennart Hansson Brard Member 2007 Yes
Hilde Furberg Board Member 2014 Wi
Thamas Eklund Board Member 2017 s
{uritdl June 2020

Dhiane Parks Board Member 2017 Yes
Pally Hendersan Board Member 2020 Wi

lfrarmn June 20200

Wes 15/15 : afd 1,144
ra o9 - - 58
Yes 15415 2/2 2/2 387
Vs 15/15 asa . 279
Yes o9 252 - 115
Yes 15/15 454 485
Vs &6 252 - anz
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Work of the Board in 2020

During 2020, the Board of Directors held a total of 15
meetings, of which six were ordinary and nine extracr-
dinary meetings. Calliditas’ CEQ participates in Board
meetings, as does the company's CFO and General
Counsel, who was secretary at the meetings, Other
employees from Calliditas have reported on particular
issues at the meetings. The extraordinary meetings
were a result of the company's work with acquisition
and capital raise.

Board Remuneration

Fees to members elected by the AGM are decided by
the AGM, The AGM of June 25, 2020, decided that the
fees payable to the Board for the period up to the end
of the next AGM shall be as follows.

The directors’ fees shall be paid with SEK 850,000

to the chairman of the board of directors and SEK
250,000 to each one of the other members who

are not employed in the Group, SEK 150,000 to the
chairman of the audit committee and SEK 75,000 to
the ather members of the audit committee whao are
not employed in the Group as well as SEK 50,000 to
the chairman of the remuneration committes and SEK
25,000 to the other members of the remuneration
committee who are not employed in the Group. In
addition to the above proposed remuneration for ordi-
nary board work, it is proposed that board members
residing in the United States shall receive an additional
amount of SEK 140,000 and that board members
residing in BEurope, but outside the Mordics, shall
receive an additional amount of SEK 50,000,

For more information regarding remuneration of Board
members, refer to Note ? Employees and Perscnnel
Costs, and the table on page 51,

Board Committees

Audit Committee

Calliditas has an Audit Committee consisting of thres
members: Molly Henderson {Chairman), Lennart
Hansson and Hilde Furberg. The Audit Committee shall,
without it affecting the responsibiliies and tasks of

the Board of Directors, monitor the company's finan-
cial reparting, monitor the efficiency of the company's
internal cantrals_ internal auditing and risk manage-
ment, keep informed of the auditing of the annual
report and the consolidated accounts, review and
monitor the impartiality and independence of the audi-
tors and pay close attention to whether the auditors
are providing other services besides audit services for
the company, and assist in the preparation of proposals
for the AGM's decision an election of auditors.

The Committee held four meetings in 2020. The
company's auditors took part in three of the meetings,
where discussions included the auditors’ planning of
the audit, their observations and examination of the
company and the company's financial statements.

Remuneration Committee

Calliditas has a Remuneration Committee consisting
of three members: Elmar Schnee (Chairman), Lennart
Hansson and Diane Parks. The Remuneration
Committes shall prepare matters concemming remuner-
ation principles, remuneration and other employment
terms for the CEO and the executive management.

The Committee held four meetings in 2020, At these
meetngs, the Committee discussed the current
compensation system in the company, including a
proposal for remuneration of the CEQ and executive
management and the direction and terms of the incen-
Hve program that was approved for implementation by
the Annual General Meeting on June 25, 2020.

Remuneration of the CEO and Executive
Management 2020

Calliditas shall offer remuneration in accordance with
market practice to enable the recruitment and reten-
tion of qualified executive management. Remuner-
ations within Calliditas shall be based on principles

of performance, competitiveness and fairness. The
executive management refer to the CEO and other
members of the execubive management, as well as
board members. The remuneration to the executive
management may consist of fixed remuneration,
wvariable remuneration, share and share-price related
incentive programs, pension and other benefits. If local
conditions justify variabions in the remuneration princi-
ples, such variations may accur. The fixed remuneration
shall reflect the individual's responsibility and experi
ence level. The fixed remuneration shall be reviewed
annually. The executive management may be offered
cash bonuses. Variable remuneration paid in cash may
not excesd &0% of the annual fixed remuneration.
“ariable remunerations shall be connected to predeter-
mined and measurable criteria, designed with the aim
of promoting the company's long-term wvalue creation.

Share and share-price related incentive programs shall,
if resohved on, be decided by the AGM, Pension shall,
where possible, be premium-based. For the CED and
other members of executive management, the premium
may, in situations where premium-based pension is
applicable, amount to a maximum of 20% of the fixed
salary. Motwithstanding the above, the Board of Direc-
tors is entitled to offer other solufions which, in terms
of cost, are equivalent to the abowve.
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Evaluation of the Board and CEQ

Every year, the Board Chairman initiates an evaluation
af tha Board's wark. The evaluation aims ta Zain an
apinion of the views of Board members on how the
waork of the Board is progressing and what measures
can be implemented to enhance the efficiency of the
Board. The aim is also to gain an opinion of the type of
issues the Board believes should be offered more space
and areas where further expertise may be needed on
the Board. The Board of Directors continuously assesses
the work of the CEDQ by monitoring the performance of
the operations compared with established targets and
makes a formal assessment each year.

CEO and Management Team

The role of the CED is subardinate to the Board of
Directors, and his or her primary task is to attend to
the company's daily managerment and operaticns in the
company. The Rules of Procedure for Decision-making
for the Board and instructions for the CEQ present
wihich issues that the company's Board of Directars
are to consider and decide and which are the respon-
sibility of the CEQ. The CEQ is also responsible for
preparing reports and required documentation for
decision-making prior to board meetings and is the
reporting person on the material at board meetings.

Calliditas’ management consists of six individuals and
includes, in addition ta the CEQ, the Chief Financial
Officer, Chief Medical Officer, Vice President Opera-
tHons, Wice President Regulatory Affairs, and Head of
Maorth America, Commercial. For information about
current executive management at Calliditas, when
these assumed their positions, and date of birth, educa-
tion, experience, shareholding in the company and
current and previous assignments, refer to page 90 and
the compary’s website, wwew calliditas se,

Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board of Director's responsibility for the internal
control is governed by the Swedish Companies Act,
the Swedish Annual Reports Act - which reguires

that information about the main features of Callid-
itas’ system for internal control and risk management
related to fimnancial reporting each year must be
included in the corporate governance report — and the
Code. The Board of Directors shall, among other tasks,
ensure that Calliditas has sufficient internal control
and formalized routines to ensure that established
principles for financial reporting and internal control
are adhered to and that there are effective systems to
monitor and control the company's operations and the
risks associated with the company and its operations.
The overall purpose of the internal control is to ensure
that the company's operating strategies and targets

are monitored and that the owners’ investrnents are

protected, to a reasonable degree. Furthermore, the
internal control shall ensure that the external finan-

cial reporting, with reasanable certainty, is reliable

and prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting practice, that applicable laws and regulations
are followed, and that the requirements imposed on
listed companies are complied with. The internal control
primarily consists of the following five components.

Control environment

The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility
for the internal contral in relation to financial reporting.
In order to create and maintain a functioning contral
enviranment, the Board of Directors has adopted a
number of policies and guidelines governing financial
reporting. These docurments primarily comprise the
rules of procedure for the Board of Directors, instruc-
tions for the CEO, rules of procedure for the Audit
Cormmittee and instructions for financial reporting. The
Board of Directors has also adopted a delegation of
signatory authority and a treasury palicy. The company
alsa has a financial manual which contains principles,
guidelines and process descriptions for accounting and
financial reporting. Furthermore, the Board of Directors
has established an Audit Committes whose main task is
to monitor the company's financial position, to manitar
the effectiveness of the company's internal control,
internal audit and risk management, to be informed
about the audit of the annual repart and consolidated
financial staterments, and to review and monitor the
auditor's imparfiality and independence, The responsi-
bility for the ongoing work of the internal cantral over
financial reporting has been delegated to the compa-
my's CEQL The CEQ regularly repaorts to the Board of
Directors in accordance with the established instruc-
Hans for the CEC and the instructions for financial
reporting. The Board of Directors also receives reports
from the company's auditor.

The responsibility for the internal, business-specific
control in the daily operations lies with the CEQ.

Risk assessment

Rizsk assessment includes identifying risks that may
arise if the basic requirements for the financial
reporting of the company are not met. Calliditas’
management team has, in a specific risk register, iden
tHfied and evaluated the risks that arise in the compa-
ny's operations, and has assessed how these risks can
be managed. Calliditas’ management shall annually
perform a risk assessment of strategic, operational and
financial risks and present the assessment to the Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors. The CEQ is
responsible for the presentation. The management’s
risk assessment shall be reviewed on an annual basis
by the CFO.
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Control activities

Control activities limit the identified risks and ensure
accurate and reliable financial reparting, The Board of
Directors is responsible for the internal cantrol and
monitoring of the company's management. This is done
through both internal and external control activities,
and through examination and monitoring of the compa
ny's guidelines related to risk management. The effec-
tiveness of the control activities are assessed annually
and the results from these assessments are reported

to the Board of Directors and the Audit Committees. In
agreements with essential subcontractors, the company
has secured the right to audit each respective subcon-
tractors’ fulfillment of relevant services, including
quality aspects.

Monitoring

Compliance with, and effectiveness of, the internal
contrals are constanthy monitored. The CEQ ensures
that the Board of Directors continuously receives
reports on the development of the company’s
activities, including the developrment of the company’s
results and financial position, as well as information
on important events, such as research results and
important contracts. The CED also reports on these
matters at each ordinary Board meeting. The compa-
my's compliance with relevant policy's and guidelines
are assessed annually, The results from these assess-
ments are compiled by the CFO in the comparny and
then reported to the Board of Directors and the Audit
Committes annualky.

Information and communication

The company has information and communication chan-
nels to promaote the accuracy of the financial reparting
and to facilitate reporting and feedback from operations
to the Board of Directors and senior management, for
example by making corporate governance documents
such as internal policies, guidelines and instructions
regarding the financial reporting available and known

to the employvees cancerned. The Board of Directors
has also adopted an information policy governing the
company's disclosure of information,

In addition to the abovementioned internal control,
there is alsa internal, business-specific control of data
as regards research and development, as well as quality
control including systematic surveillance and evalua-
tHion of the company's development and manufacturing
operations.

Internal Audit

The Board of Directors has assessed the need for

an internal audit function and decided that such a
function is not justified in Calliditas, taking into account
the scope of operations and that the Board’s monitering
of internal control is considered sufficient to ensure that
internal contral is effective, The Board of Directors
reassess the requirement when changes take place

that may give rise to a reassessment and at least once
per year.

Auditor's report on the corporate governance statement

To the general meeting of the shareholders of Calliditas Therapeutics AB (Publ), corporate identity number 556659-9766

Engagement and responsibility

It is the Board of Directors who is responsible for the
corporate governance statement for the year 2020
an pages 82-87 and that it has been prepared in
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act,

The scope of the audit

Our examination has been conducted in accordance
with FAR's standard RevR 16 The auditor's examination
af the corporate governance staternent. This means that
our examination of the carporate governance statement
is different and substantially less in scope than an aodit
conducted in accordance with Intermational Standards

on Auditing and generally accepted auditing stan
dards in Sweden. We believe that the examination has
provided us with sufficient basis for our apinions.

Opinions

A corporate governance statement has been prepared.
Disclosures in accordance with chapter & section & the
second paragraph paints 2-6 the Annual Accounts Act
and chapter 7 section 21 the second paragraph the
same law are consistent with the annual accounts and
the consolidated accounts and are in accordance with
the Annual Accounts Act.

Stockholm, April 27, 2021
Ernst & Young AB

Anna Svanberg
Authorized Public Accountant

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annual Report 2020




Board of Directors

Elmar Schnee

Chairman

Born 1959,
Board member since 2019,

Education: Master's degree in
marketing and managerment from SIE.

Board Committees: Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

Experience: Elmar Schnee was
previously CEQ of Merck Serono and
was instrumental in the acquisition
of Serono by Merck KGaA, He has
also served as General Partner and
member of the Executive Board of
Merck KGaa and has previoushy held
several senior global managament
positions with UCE and Sanofi.

Other current assignments:
Chairman of the board of directors
of Santhera Pharmaceutical, ProCom
Rx SA, Moleac Pte Lts, Noorik
Biopharmaceuticals AG and Advanz
Pharma as well a member of the
board of directors of Jazz Pharma
ticals. kuste Biopharma and Damian
Prarma AG.

Holdings in the Company: Elmar
Schnee holds 23,234 share awards
in board LTIP 201% and 14,043 share
awards in LTIP 2020. Independent

in relation to the Company and its
management and in relation to major
shareholders.

Hilde Furberg

Non-executive Director

Born 1958,
Board member since 2014.

Education: Master of Science in Engi
neering from Oslo University, MNorway.,

Board Committees: Member of the
Audit Committee.

Experience: Hilde Furberg is an inde-
pendent consultant and prafessional
Board member. She has extensive
experience in leadership from her 35
vears in sales, marketing, strategy and
management in Pharma/Biatech, Her
experience is in various fizlds of rare
diseases, which she gained working
in small companies and large global
corporations. Hilde has worked for
companies such as Genzyme and
Baxter, she was most recenthy SWP
and General Manger/European Head
of Rare Diseases at Sancfi Genzyme.
In additien to working for Genzyme/
Sanofl Genzyme, Hilde has since 2005
worked as non-executive director
and Board member of Probi, Pronova,
Clavis, Bergenbio and Algeta.

Other current assignments: She

i currently an industrial adwvisor to
Investinor and Board member of Tappin,
PCI Biotech, OncoZenge, Herantis
Pharma and Bio-Me.

Holdings in the Company: Hilde
Furberg holds 44,750 shares in the
company, 8,449 share awards in board
LTIP 201% and 4,327 share awards

in board LTIP 2020, Independent

in relation to the Company and its
management and in relation to major
sharehaolders,
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Lennart Hansson

Non-executive Director

Borm 1554,
Board member since 2009,

Education: PhD in Genetics from the
University of Umea,

Board Committees: Member of the
Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committe.

Experience: Lennart Hansson has
broad experience from leading posi
tions within pharmaceutical develop-
ment and business development in
both bictech and pharma companies
such as KabiGen AB, Symbicom

AB. AstraZeneca, Biovitrum AB and
as CEQ of Arexis AB. Lennart was
responsible for Industrifonden’s life
science ocperations between 2008
2014, He has worked on more than
30 company boards and is also the
co-founder of two pharmaceutical
development companies.

Other current assignments:
Chairman of the Board of Directors
af Sixera Pharma AB, Ignitus AB and
Cinclus Pharma Holding AB. Member
of the Board of Directors of InDex
Pharmaceuticals Holding AB ([publ)
and Medivir AB (publ).

Holdings in the Company: Lennart
Hansson holds 12,000 shares in the
company and 8449 share awards

in board LTIP 201% and 4,327 share
awards in board LTIP 2020, Indepen-
dent in relation to the Company and
its management and in relation to
major shareholders.,




Diane Parks

Non-executive Director

Born 1952,
Board member since 2019,

Education: Master's degree from
kKansas State University and an MBA,
from Georgia State University,

Board Committees: Member of the
Remuneration Committee.

Experience: Diane Parks is a senior
executive with deep sales and
marketing experience from the U5,
where she has held positions such

as Head of US Commercial for Kite
Pharma, WP of Sales for Amgen and
Head of Global Marketing at Pharma-
cyclics.

Other current assignments: Board
member in Kura Oncology, Soligenix
and TriSalus Life Sciences.

Holdings in the Company: Diane
Parks holds 8,449 share awards in
board LTIP 2019 and 4.327 share
awards in board LTIP 2020, Indepen
dent in relation to the Company and
its management and in relation to
miajor shareholders.

Molly Henderson

Non-executive Director

Born 1970,
Board member since 2020,

Education: M.B.A, and B.5. degree
from the State University of Mew York
at Buffala,

Board Committees: Chairman and
member of the Audit Committes.

Experience: Molly Henderson has
served as the CFO of several listed
lite science campanies for over 17
wvears, Currently, she is the CFO

of UroGen Pharma, Inc. She was
previously the CFO and Executive
Wice President of Advaxis, Inc, the
CFO of lovance Biotherapeutics, Inc.
[formerly Lion Biotechnologies, Inc.)
and before that the Chief Business
and Financial Officer and Senior Wice
President of VirtualScopics, Inc. Maolly
has also adwvised start-up companies
in Switzerland, and was a Manager
in the audit division of Pricewater-
houseCoopers LLF

Other current assignments: CFO of
Urozen Pharma, Inc.

Holdings in the Company: Maolly
Henderson holds 100 shares in the
company and 4,327 share awards

in board LTIP 2020, Independent

in relation ta the Company and its
management and in relation to major
shareholders.
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Management team

Renee Aguiar-Lucander
Chief Executive Officer

Borm 1942,
CEO since 2017.

Education: EA in Finance from Stock
holm School of Economics. MBA from
IMNSEAD

Experience: Before joining Callid-
itas, Renées Aguiar-Lucander was a
RFartner and COO of Omega Fund
Management, an international venture
capital company focused on invest
ments within the life science sector,
Befare that, she served as a Partner
in the venture capital group 3i Group
plc in London, where she managed
the publicly quoted assets and was
co-head of the global healthcare

and technology portfolio. Prior to
this. Renée Aguiar-Lucander was the
Eurcpean Group Head and Managing
Director at a global investment bank
and has more than 12 vears’ expe-
rience in corporate finance. Prior to
her career in investment banking,
she was the Head of European Sales
and Marketing in a company focused
on the sale of software for financial
Services,

Other current assignments: Chairman
of the board of directors of Exenta Inc.
Member of the board of directors of

Medcap AB {publ) and RAL Capital Ltd.

Holdings in the Company: Rence
Aguiar-Lucander holds 412,000 shares
in the Company, 545000 warrants!
and 294,000 options®,

Hodairg in Warrant progrom 200642022 andor Warmant progrom 201972022,

Fredrik Johansson
Chief Financial Officer

Born 1977.
CFQO since 2017.

Education: Studies in Business Law

at Jenkdping International Busi-

ness School. Studies in Business

and American law, Economics and
Finance at Georgia State University,
University of South Carolina and Lund
University.

Experience: Fredrik Johanssan has
extensive experience in executive
positions, primarily within telecom
and software. Previoushy, he was CFO
and COC at Birdstep Technologys
Techstep AS4_ listed on the Oslo
Stock Exchange, where he, among
other things, was in charze of the
acquisition and reversed listing of Teki
Solutions. Previous CFO positions
also include Phone Family, Teligent
Telecom and Wayfinder Systems.

Holdings in the Company: Fredrik
Johansson holds 21,250 shares in

the Company. 140,000 warrants?
and 130,000 options?.

Halding in ESOP 2320,
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Frank Bringstrup
Vice President Regulatory Affairs

Borm 1959,
WP Regulatory Affairs since 20179,

Education: Medical education from
the University of Capenhagen. He
has a diploma in Managing Medical
Product Innovation (MPPI from the
Copenhagen School of Economics,
a diploma in business administration
from Warwick University, and a post
graduate specialist course in public
health science from the Mational
Board of Health, Denmark.

Experience: Frank Bringstrup has
over 17 years of experience in the
nharmaceutical industry within
regulatory affairs and health authaority
interactions. Prior to joining Callid
itas, he worked in waricus positions

at Mowvo Mardisk A75. He started

his professional career first as a

clinic doctor and then Frederiksborg
County Medical Advisor.

Holding in the Company: Frank
Brimgstrup holds 12 500 warrants?
and 45,000 aptions?,




Andrew Udell

Head of Morth America Commercial

Born 1270,
Head of Morth America Commert
since 2019.

al

Education: BE5c from Lehigh Univer-
sity. MBA from the University of
Connecticut,

Experience: Andrew Udell has mors
than 20 years of commercial experi-
ence in the pharmaceutical industiry.
Before joining Calliditas. Andrew
woarked as Vice President of Marth
America Commercial at NeuroDerm,.
Andrew began his career in the phar-
maceutical industry at Purdue Pharma
and held several sales and marketing
positions, including responsible for
the company’s brands and led a
multifunctional team for a multi-bil
lign pain medication franchise

Holding in the Company: Andrew
Udell heolds 220,000 warrants® and
100,000 options?.

Katayoun Welin-Berger

Vice President Operations

Born 1948,
WP Operations since 2020,

Education: PhD in Pharmacy from
Uppsala University, Sweden.

Experience: Katayoun Welin-Berger
has more than 28 years of commer-
cial experier in the pharmaceutic
and biologics industry. Before joi
Calliditas, Katayoun warked as Vice
President of Cperations at BioGaia.
Katayoun began her career in the
pharmaceutical industry at Astra-
Zeneca and held several positions
within both R&D and Operations.

Holding in the Company: Katayoun
Welin-Ber,
and 45,000 options?
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er halds 5,000 warrants!

Richard Philipson
Chief Medical Officer

Born 19644,
Chief Medical Officer since 2020,

Education: B5c in Biomedical
Sciences at London University and
MEB MS, Middlesex Hospital Medical
Schoal. Member of the Royval College
of Physicians and Fell of the
Faculty of Pharmaceutical Medicine.

Experience: Dr. Richard Philipsan is
a physician with 24 vears of experi-
ence in the pharmaceutical industry
from both large pharmaceutical
companies and smaller bictechs.

He has extensive experience in rare
diseases, having brought several
praducts from early development to
the market, Prior to joining Calliditas,
Richard warked as CMO with the
LK-based bioctech company Trizell
where he led the Adstiladrin® phase
3 climical program and Biologics
Licenze Application in non-musc
invasive bladder er, submit
the FDA In September fore
Irizell, he worked for Takeda as an
Executive Medical Director and
14 years at GlaxoSmithKline, whers
he held a number of senior positions,
including Disease Area Head and
Acting Chief Medical Officer for th
Rare Diseases Unit. Before joining th
industry. Richard worked as a physi
ian in several clinical positions with
ous pabtient populations, including
patients with Ig& nephropathny.

£l

Holding in the Company: Rich:
Philipson holds 125000 option




Scientific Steering Committee

Some of the most prominent IgA nephropathy specialists in the world serve as external
advisors and members of the Company's advisory board.

Brad H. Rovin

FProfessor, Director of the Division of Mephrology aond Vice
Chairman of Medicine for Research at the Ohio State
University Wexner Medical Center, Columbus, Chio, US

Daniel C. Cattran

Professor of Medicine, University of Toronto; Seniar Scien-
tist, Toronto General Research Institute, Toronto, Ontario,
Canada

Hérnan Trimarchi

Professor of Medicine, Universidad Catdlica Argentina;
Head. Mephrology Service, Hospital Britdnico; Head,
Kidney transplant unit, Hospifal Britdnico, Buenos Aires,
Argentina

Hong Zhang

Professor of Medicine and Doctoral supervisar, Nephrology
Division, Peking University First Hospital, Peking University
Institute of Nephrology. Beifing, China
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Jonathan Barratt

Professor, Department of Infection, Immunity and fnflam-
mation, University of Leicester: Honorary Consultant
Mephrologist in the John Walls Renal Uinit, Leicester
General Hospital, Leicester, UK

Jiirgen Floege

Prafessor, head of the Department of Renal and Hyper-
tensive Diseases, Rheumatological and Immunological
Diseases (Medicine ) at the Aachen University Hospital;
Director of the Department of Nephrology and Clinical
Immunology at the University of Aachen, Aachen, Germany

Richard Lafayette

Professor of Medicine (Mephrology), the Stanford University
Medical Center; Director, the Stanford Glomerular Disease
Center, Stanford, California, US

Viadimir Tesar

Frofessor, Head of the Departrment of MNephrology, 15t
Faculty of Medicine, Charles University, Frague, Czech
Repubiic
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Glossary

Adjunct Therapy: Also known as
adjuvant care/therapy, adjunct
therapy is therapy that is given in
addition to the primary or inital
therapy to maximize its effective-
ness

ACE inhibitors (ACEIls): Angiotensin
Converting Enzyme inhibitors
(ACEis) are a type of blood pressure
medication that work by limiting
the effects of the hormone angio-
tensin I, which has a constricting
cffect on blood vessels and stim-
ulates salt and water retention in
the body and thus increases blood
pressure. Angiotensin |l is activated
by a molecule called Angiotensin
Converting Enzyme (ACE.} which is
blocked by ACE inhibitors

Adaptive Design: An adaptive
design trial is one in which the
design allows for modifcations to
the trial and/or statistical proce-
dures of the trial after its initation
without undermining its validity and
integrity

AlH: Autoimmune hepatitis, a rare
autoimmune inflammatory disease
of the liver

ALP: Alkaline phosphatase (ALF)
is an enzyme which is used as a
marker in PBC., A rise in ALP levels
indicates impaired bile flow in the
liver

Angiotensin Receptor Blockers
{ARBs): ARBs work by blocking the
AT1 receptors that the hormone
angiotensin |l acts on. thereby
limiting its action and lowering
blocd pressure

Alport Syndrome: Alport syndrome
is a genetic condition character-
ized by kidney disease, hearing
loss, and eyve abnormalities. People
with Alport syndrome experience
progressive loss of kidney function

Autoimmune disease: Disease
that is manifested because of the
immune system's harmful attack
with autoantibodies on the body's

own tissue. All people have some
degree of autoimmunity, but when
it gets too high it becomes harmful

Budesonide: a2 potent glucocor-
ficoid with rapid elimination that
fits very well with local treatment
where you want to minimize
systemic side effects

CAF: A cancer-associated fibroblast
[CAF) is a key cell type within the
tumor microsnvironment, CAFs
promote tumer growth via a variety
of mechanisms, including initiating
the remodelling of the extracellular
ratrix or secreting cytokines

CKD; Chronic kidney discase

Corticosteroids: a class of steroid
hormones and synthetic analogues,
Corticosteroids are used systemi-
cally for the treatment of inflarnma-
tary and immunological diseases,
including lgA nephropathy, autoim-
mune hepatitis and primary biliary
cholangitis

Creatinine: a chemical substance
made by muscles. Measured in the
bload circulation and produced in a
relatively even amount. Eliminated
through the kidneys. Too high a
concentration in the blood is a
measure of impaired kidney func-
fion. It is used to calculate eGFR.
High creatinine corresponds to low
eGFR

Dimeric: Also known as 'palymeric’,
a dimeric molecule is composed

of two identical simpler molecules
[monomers)

DKD: Diabetic kidney disease
[DKD,) also called diabetic nephro-
pathy, is kidney disease that is due
to Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes

Double blind: A double-blind
study is ane in which neither the
participants nor the experimenters
know whe is receiving a particular
treatment

eGFR: estimated glomerular filtra-
fion rate. A measure of the kidney's
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ability to filter and purify the blood.
Vhen a kidney disease worsens,
eGFR decreases

EMA: European Medicines Agency
ESRD: end-stage renal disease

Enteric: relating to or occurring

in the small intestine, The enteric
coating on Nefecon refers to the
fact that it is designed to dissolve in
the ilewm, which is in the distal part
af the small intestine

FDA: US Food and Drug Adminis-
tration

FSGS: Focal segmental glomer-
ulosclerosis (F5G5) is a disease
inwhich scar tissue develops on
the parts of the kidneys that filter
waste from the blood (glomeruli.)
FS435 can be caused by a variety of
conditions

Galactose: a type of sugar that

i= similar to glucose. Antibodies
such as |g& have sugar chains
attached to them. These sugar
chains contain, among other things,
galactose

Glomerulus: An anatormical struc-
ture of the kidney. Blood vessel
bundles where the blood is filterad
to urine

Glomerulonephritis: an inflamma-
tion of the glomeruli, the kidney's
filtration function

HbAlc: HbAlc is a term commonly
used in relation to diabetes and is

a measure of average blood sugar
levels. The term refers to glycated
haemaoglobin, which develops when
haemaoglobin joins with glucose in
the blood, becoming 'glycated’

Hematuria: blood in the urine, a
sign of leakage in the kidneys

IgA: Imrmunoglobulin A (an anti-
body.) Also referred to as Izgal
IgA Mephropathy (lgAN): 2 rare
autoimmune kidney inflammatory
disease, within the glomerulons-
phritis class




lleum: the distal end of the small
intestine, also called the bowel arm,
is 2—-4 meters long and connects to
the colon

Immunoglobulin: antibodies
(proteins) used by the body's
immune system to detect and
identify foreign substances that can
cause damage

Incidence: number of new patients
per year in a disease

Immunosuppressive agents: a class
of drugs that suppress, or reduce,
the strength of the body's immune
system

Immuneotherapy: Immunotherapy

is the treatment of disease by acti-
wvating or suppressing the immune

system

Investigator-Led Study: Inves-
tigator led studies are climical
studies initiated and managed by

a nan-pharmaceutical company
researchers, like individual inves-
tigators, institutions, collaborative
study groups ar cooperative groups

IPF: Idippathic pulmonary fibrosis
(IPF) is a condition in which

the lungs become scarred and
breathing becomes increasingly
difficult, the causes of which are
unclear

KDIGO: Kidney Disease: Improving
Global Outcomes, a non-profit
organization that develops global
guidelines for treatment in kidney
discase

Medicare: A publicly funded health
insurance system in the WS for
persans over the age of &5 or
living with certain disabilities. It is
different from Medicaid, which is a
federal health insurance program in
the LS that supports people with
limited income and their families

Monomeric: a monomeric molecule
is ane that is a single unit and can
be bonded to other identical male-
cules to form a polymer

MNADPH Oxidase: MADPH oxidase
[nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
phosphate oxidase ) also known

as NOX enzymes, are membrane-
bound enzyme complexes, which
catalyse the production of reactive
o¥yEEN species

Mephrologist: a physician special-
ized in kidney disease

Off-label prescription: prescription
of an approved drug outside the
approved indication

On-label: prescription of an
approved drug within the approved
indication

Open-label: An apen-label trial is
one in which information about
which treatment is being admin-
istered is not withheld from trial
participants and researchers

Orphan disease: a rare disease that
falls within the criteria of orphan
drug law

Oxidative Stress: Oxidative stress
is when there is an imbalance
between the production and the
accumulation of reactive oxygen
species (ROS) in cells and Hssues
and the bady’ ability to detoxify
these reactive products

PBC: Primary biliary chaolangitis, a
rare autaimmune fatty liver disease

Peyer's patches: lymph tissue of
the ileum, the distal part of the
small intestine, part of the body's
immune system

Prevalence: number of people in a
population having a disease

Proteinuria: a condition charac-
terized by the presence of greater
than norrmal amounts of protein in
the urine; a measure of leakage in
the kidney's filtration function

Proof of Principle Trial: Proof of
Frinciple studies are an early stage
of clinical drug development when
a compound has shown potental in
animal maodels and early safety
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testing, and often is the step
between a Phase 1 and a dose
ranging Phase 2 study

RAS: Renin-angiotensin system,
which regulates blood pressure
and fluid in the body: a RAS
blocker lowers blood pressure; RAS
blockade is when a patient is on
drugs that block RAS, which can be
ACEls and/or ARBs

Randomised: A randomised trial
is ane in which participants are
randomly assigned to 2 or more
Broups

Reactive Oxygen Species: Reachbive
oxygen species are highly reactive
chemical molecules formed through
the electron acceptability of O,

Redox Homeostasis: Redox
homeastasis is attained by the
regulation of the formation and
removal of reactive oxygen species
{ROS) frem the body system

Renal biopsy: a tissue sample from
the kidney taken to ensure diag-
nosis

RRT: renal replacement therapy;

a treatment for terminal kidney
failure where the function of the
diseased kidney is replaced by dial-
ysis or kidney transplantation

Transient Elastography: Transient
elastography (FibroScan) is an ultra-
sound exam that uses pulse-echo
ultrasound acquisitions to measure
liver stiffness in kilopascals (kPa))
which allows for a noninvasive
assessment of liver stiffness

UPCR: Urine protein creatinine
ratio, a measure of leakage in the
kidney's filtraticon funchion

USRDS: US Renal Data System, a
public database for kidney disease
in the LS
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Stockholm, Sweden April 27, 2021

Calliditas Therapeutics’ 2020 Annual Report Published

Calliditas Therapeutics AB (Nasdaq: CALT, Nasdaq Stockholm: CALTX) today announces that the Annual Report for 2020 now is available at the company’s
website: www.calliditas.com.

This information is information that Calliditas Therapeutics AB is obliged to make public pursuant to the Securities Markets Act. The information was submitted
for publication at 14:30 CET on April 27, 2021.

For further information, please contact:

Marie Galay, IR Manager, Calliditas
Tel.: +44 79 55 12 98 45, email: marie.galay@calliditas.com

About Calliditas

Calliditas Therapeutics is a biopharma company based in Stockholm, Sweden focused on identifying, developing and commercializing novel treatments in orphan
indications, with an initial focus on renal and hepatic diseases with significant unmet medical needs. Calliditas’ lead product candidate, Nefecon, is a proprietary,
novel oral formulation of budesonide, an established, highly potent local immunosuppressant, for the treatment of the autoimmune renal disease IgA nephropathy,
or IgAN, for which there is a high unmet medical need and there are no approved treatments. Calliditas is running a global Phase 3 study within IgAN and, if
approved, aims to commercialize Nefecon in the United States. Calliditas is listed on Nasdaq Stockholm (ticker: CALTX) and the Nasdaq Global Select Market
(ticker: CALT). Visit www.calliditas.com for further information.




